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PARTI
Item 1. Busines:

Overview

Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc., together with its subsidiaries (“Consensus Cloud Solutions™ or “Consensus”, “our”, “us” or “we”), is a provider of secure information delivery services with a scalable Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”) platform. Consensus serves
more than one million customers of all sizes, from enterprises to individuals, across over 50 countries and multiple industry verticals including healthcare, financial services, law and ducation. Beginning as an online fax company over two decades ago, Consensus has
evolved into a leading global provider of enterprise secure communication solutions. Our communication and digital signature Solutions enable our customers to securely and cooperatively access, exchange and use information across organizational, regional and national
undaries. Our mission is to democratize secure information interchange across |echnn]ogle= nd indusris, and solve the healtheare nteroperability challenge. All of Consensus” revenue is recurring in nature and is generated either via fixed subscription plans or usage-
based contracts.

Over the past decade, Consensus has progressively shifted focus towards larger commercial customers (“Corporate™. As enterprise data communication shifted toward digitization and cloud-based solutions, Consensus entered industry verticals such as legal,
compliance, insurance, and healthcare. Our Corporate business has grown from $148 million of revenue in 2020 to approximately $170 million of revenue in 2021, representing a 9.7% compound annual growth rate. We currently serve approximately 45,000 Corporate
fomers, generally small/medium businesses or large enterprises, to whom sales are made through direct interaction with a sales person and involve specific pricing, multiple line subscriptions, API connections and/or commercial grade security.

‘We currently serve over one million small office/home office (“SoHo”) online fax customers, generally consumers and SoHo users, who acquire a pre-defined subscription through an e-commerce website without direct interaction with a sales person. Our SoHo
brands include jSign®, eFax®, MyFax®, Sfax®, Metrofax®, and SRfax'

In 2020, we launched the Consensus Unite healtheare i ility platform, a orkflow a exchange solutions suite. Healtheare represents Consensus” largest industry vertical and has information, secure communication,
management and interoperability needs. The sector is undergoing a large-scale dlgmzahon effort, with the objecme to streamline workﬂows, increase efficiency for operators, and increase transparency for patients. We believe our leadership in digital fax and our deep
experience in the healthcare industry positions Consensus well to help healtheare providers accomplish their broader digitization and interoperability objectives.

Our Industry
Secure Information Communication
Our products and services are a component of the secure information transmission market, which is part of the broader public cloud services market, for which demand for cloud services is expected to accelerate in the future. Fax remains one of the most ubiquitous

ways to transmit documents securely. The use of fax is particularly high in industries subject to data protection laws such as the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA™), as fax offers safety of transmission and nearly universal legal acceptance. Cloud
adoption has grown quickly in secure transmission, taking share from on-premises solutions over the past decade. Key drivers to cloud adoption include:




« Digitization: Key industry ver

als such as healthcare, legal and financial services have been heavily investing in digitization of information and the online fax industry significantly benefited from the trend.

« Data security and data privacy awareness: Digital cloud fax technology is demonstrably more secure than traditional email and traditional fax machines, which are vulnerable to physical security threats and retrieval problems.

« Regulatory tailwinds: Because of ts security, fax meets regulatory requirements for data security and remains ubiquitous in highly regulated industries, such as healthcare, and sectors where large volumes of sensitive information is exchanged.

« Cost efficiency: Cloud-based solutions often have minimal installation costs and are highly efficient to scale as the needs of the organization fluctuate.

* Green initiatives: Clou

based solutions appeal to customers engaging in “green” initiatives to reduce their impact on the environment because they rely less on paper for printing documents.
Healtheare Interoperability
In the healtheare industry, interoperability is defined as “the ability of different information systems, devices and applications (systems) to access, exchange, integrate and cooperatively use data in a coordinated manner, within and across organizational, regional and

national boundaries, to provide timely and seamless portability of information and optimize the health of individuals and populations globally”. In the increasingly data-driven healtheare industry, interoperability s essential to ensuring quality care delivery and safeguarding
patient information.

To address market demand for effective interoperability solutions, Consensus is concentrating its development efforts in tools capable of integrating with existing healtheare IT infrastructure to facilitate communication between providers and allow use of multiple
transmission protocols within a single cloud-based platform.

Our Products and Solutions
Corporate Solutions
eFax Corporate®: eFax Corporate® provides digital cloud-fax technology serving approximately 45,000 customers
Unite: Unite is a single platform that allows the user to choose between several protocols to send and receive healtheare information in an environment that can integrate into an existing electronic health record (“EHR”) system or stand-alone if no EHR is present

jSign: jSign provides electronic signature and digital signature solutions to businesses, offering document markup and end-user signing services via mobile-aware web application and enterprise APL

Signal: Signal integrates with a hospital’s EHR system and uses rules-based triggering logic to automatically send Admit, Discharge or Transfer (“ADT) noti

tions using both cloud fax and Direct Secure Messaging technology.

Clarity: Using Natural Language Processing and Artificial Intelligence (NLP/AI) Clarity’s valuable insightful informa
person, at the right place, at the right time - to accelerate patient treatment across the continuum of care.

n can transform unstructured documents into structured actionable data. Clarity’s intelligent data extraction allows data to be sent to the right

SoHo Fax Solutions

eFax®: cFax® is a global online faxing service with over one million customers worldwide and serving customers in 50 countries. In addition to eFax®, we offer a varicty of brands for subscription.




Customers
We have a diverse set of customers globally across 50 countries, using cloud fax, electronic signature and interoperability products.
Our Strengths

Building on our position as a global provider of internet fax solutions from individuals to enterprises and across industries, Consensus is well positioned to capitalize on shifts in how we share private documents and information. We believe that our key strengths and
competitive advantages include:

Differentiated Product Offering Based on Scalable SaaS Platform. Our scalable and highly technology i supports the ion of a large number of documents each year. Due to our
visibility into the trends that affect the way our customers transmit, store and manage information.

ale and capabilities, we have differentiated

Position in the Growing Enterprise Cloud Fax Market. We believe our status in the enterprise cloud fax space provides Consensus with an opportunity for organic growth, and the potential to explore acquisitions that are value accretive and enhance our scale and
geographic diversity.

Positioned to Support Healthcare Interoperability. Because fax remains a ubiquitous electronic document exchange protocol for highly sensitive and legally binding documents, Consensus is in the healthare communication ecosystem and our goal is to build on
that foundation to become a participant in the larger healthcare interoperability solutions space.

Recurring Revenue Stream. Our revenues consist of monthly recurring subscription and usage-based fees, with monthly recurring subscription revenue representing approximately 72% of our tofal subscription revenue for 2021. Our cancellation rates have
remained relatively steady over time, and we expect this trend to continue into te future given that many of the services we provide are critical to our customers’ business operations,

Global and Diversified Customer Base. Our more than one million customers are located in over 50 countries across six continents. We believe that our product-line and geographic diversity, combined with our lack of customer concentration, will help us mitigate
the effects of isolated downturns in various end markets.

Operational Efficiency and Capital Discipline. The recurring nature of our revenue, combined with high operational efficiency., results in predictable and attractive margins and free cash flow generation. As we evaluate growth investments and expansion into new
verticals, we will measure against metrics and parameters that promote efficient and prudent use of capital to generate sustained sharcholder value.

Proven and Experienced Management Team. Our experienced management team has a highly successful track record with regard to both business performance among its industry peer group, growing new business lines, and identifying and integrating strategic
acquisitions.




Our Strategy
Our strategy focuses on generating attractive organic growth, achieving solid margins and free cash flow generation, pursuing value-aceretive acquisitions and delivering high value to our shareholders. Our strategy includes:
« Continuing to grow in Corporate secure information exchange;
« Solving healtheare interoperability challenges;

* Maintaining SoHo fax revenue;

« Positioning the business for sustained growth through continued focus on profitability and cash flow generation; and
+ Complementing organic growth investments with targeted acquisitions
Patents and Proprietary Rights

We regard the protection of our intellectual property rights as important to our success. We aggressively protect these rights by relying on a combination of patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade dress and trade secrets. We also enter into confidentiality and
intellcetual property assignment agreements with employees and contractors, and nondisclosure agreements with parties with whom we conduct business in order to limit access to and disclosure of our proprietary information.

Through a combination of internal technology development and acquisitions, we have built a portfolio of numerous U.S. and foreign patents. Several of our U.S. patents have been reaffirmed through reexamination proceedings before the United States Patent and
Trademark Office (“USPTO™). We intend to continue to invest in patents, to aggressively protect our patent assets from unauthorized use and to generate patent licensing revenues from authorized users.

We seck patents for inventions that may contribute o our business or technology sector. In addition, we have multiple pending U.S. and foreign patent applications, cov
currently offer. Unless and until patents are issued on the pending applications, no patent rights can be enforced.

ing components of our technology and in some cases technologies beyond those that we

‘We have obtained patent licenses for certain technologies where such licenses are necessary or advantageous,

‘We own and use a number of trademarks in connection with our services. Many of these trademarks are registered worldwide, and numerous trademark applications are pending around the world. We hold numerous internet domain names and we have filed to
protect our rights to our brands in certain alernative top-level domains such as “.org”, “.net”, “.biz”, “.info” and *.us”, among others.

Like other technology-based businesses, we face the risk that we will be unable to protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights, and the risk that we will be found to have infringed the proprictary rights of others. For more information regarding these
risks, please refer to the section entitled Risk Factors contained in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Government Regulation

‘We are subject to a number of forcign and domestic laws and regulations that affect companies conducting business over the internet and, in some cases, using services of third-party telecommunications and internet service providers. These include, among others,
laws and regulations addressing privacy, data storage, retention and security, freedom of expression, content, taxation, numbers, advertising and intellectual property. With respect to most of our business, we are not a regulated telecommunications provider in the U.S. For
information about the risks we face with respect to governmental regulation, please see Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K entitled Risk Factors.




Seasonality

General economic conditions have an impact on our business and financial results. From time to time, the markets in which we sell our products, services and solutions experience weak economi
experience marginally lower than average usage and customer sign-ups in the fourth quarter. Our revenues are also impacted by the number of effective business days in a given period.

conditions that may negatively affect sales. We traditionally

Research and Development

‘The markets for our services are evolving rapidly, requiring ongoing expenditures for research and development and timely introduction of new services and service enhancements. Our future success will depend, in part, on our ability to enhance our current
services, to respond effectively to technological changes, aftract and retain engineering talent, sell additional services to our existing customer base and introduce new services and technologies that address the increasingly sophisticated needs of our customers.

We devote significant resources to develop new services and service enhancements. For more information regarding the technological risks that we face, please refer to the section entitled Risk Factors contained in ltem 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. None
of our employees are represented by collective bargaining.

Human Capital Resources
As of December 31, 2021, we had 4359 employees, with about one-third of the employees located outside of the United States. Our ability to continue to attract, retain and motivate our highly qualified workforce is very important to our continued success.
Our Culture

‘We have a strong enterprise-wide culture that focuses on our core values — strive for excellence, demonstrate empathy, embrace innovation, foster open communication, focus on solutions, and be driven by data as we make decisions — and in turn, deliver solid
business results.
s essential data when, where and how you need it

Our mis ital information. Our vision is to ds

ion is to be the trusted global source for the transformation, enhancement and secure exchange of di

Diversity, Equity & Inclusion

Our cloud fax users and employees are diverse — gender, race, ethnicity, age, orientation, geography, education, background, interests, and more. We believe that for our business to succeed over the long term, maintaining and enhancing this diversity is crucial.

Hiring.
‘We reinforce our culture and our values by seeking out diverse candidates, and looking for candidates that fit well with our organizational priorities, values, mission, and vision

Employee Compensation & Bencfits

is an important for all of our empl d we strive to pay competitive compensation packages that reflect the success of the business and the individual contributions of each colleague. We are committed to fair pay practices; roles are
periodically benchmarked to help inform where adjustments may be needed.

rovide our employees with benefits we believe arc effective at attracting and retaining the talent eritical for our success and, more importantly, promoting their day to day well-being. Those benefits include comprehensive health insurance coverage and
covering 84% of health insurance premiums for covered U.S. employees and their families, an employee stock purchase program, flexible time off, up to 16 weeks of paid parental leave for birth parents, and 16 hours annually of fully paid Volunteer Time Off.




Health and Wellness

Creating a culture where all colleagues feel supported and valued is paramount to our corporate mission. We expect to evolve our programs to meet our colleagues” health and wellness needs, which we believe is essential to attract and retain employees of the highest
caliber, and we offer a competitive benefits package focused on fostering work/life integration

Competition

We face competition from, among others, online fax-providers, traditional fax machine or multifunction printer companies, electronic signature companies, healthcare interface companies, health information service providers and robotic process automation
companies.

Our solutions related to online faxing compete primarily against traditional fax machine manufacturers, ers of fax servers and related software and

outsourced fax services. Some of these companies may have greater financial and other resoures than we do.

h are generally large and well-cstablished companies, as well as publicly traded and privately-held pro

As we pursue our expansion into expanded secure information delivery services and healtheare interoperability services, we compete against other providers of secure information delivery services, including providers of electronic signature solutions.

‘We believe that the primary competitive factors determining our success in the market for our services include financial strength and stability; pricing; reputation for reliability and security of service; breadth and depth of product functionality; intellectual property
ownership; effectiveness of customer support; sign-up, service and software case-of-use; service scalability; customer messaging and branding; geographic coverage; scope of services; currency and payment method acceptance; and local language sales, messaging and
support.

For more information regarding the competition that we face, see “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business—The markets in which we operate are highly competitive and our competitors may have greater resources to commit to growth, superior technologies,
cheaper pricing or more effective marketing strategics.

Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc. Spin-Off

On October 7, 2021, J2 Global, Inc. (now known as "Ziff Davis” or “Former Parent”) completed its previously announced plans to separate into two leading publicly traded companies: one addressing healthcare interoperability and comprising the Cloud Fax

P
business, which does business as Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc., and one that will continue the Former Parents strategy of building a leading internet platform focused on key verticals, including technology & gaming, shopping, health, cybersecurity and martech, which

will do business as Ziff Davis. We refer to the transactions that resulted in the separation of Consensus and Ziff Davis into two separate publicly traded companies as the “separation and distribution.
Emerging Growth Company Status

We arc an emerging growth company, as defined in Scction 3(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), as amended by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS Act”) enacted on April 5, 2012. For as long as we are an emerging
growth company, we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation
requirements in the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act.” reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports, proxy statements
and registration statements and exemptions from the requirement of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation. and stockholder approval on golden parachute compensation not previously approved.

Under the JOBS Act, we will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of:

« the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of the first sale of our common stock pursuant to an effective registration statement filed under the Securities Act;




« the last day of the fiscal year during which we have total annual gross revenues of $1.07 billion or more (as adjusted for inflation);
« the date on which we have, during the previous three-year period, issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt; and
« the date on which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act.

Available Information

‘We file Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “SEC™). Such reports and other information and amendments thereto filed or furnished by the Company with the SEC are available free of charge on the Company’s website at wiwconsensus.com as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such reports with, or
furnish them to, the SEC’s website. The information on our website is not part of this report. The SEC maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding our filings we file electronically with the SEC at
wwiwsec.gov. Our Board has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our directors and employees. The Code is posted on the corporate governance page o Consnas website, nd san be cccssed a b investor consensus om Any changes
to or waiver of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for senior financial officers, executive officers or directors will be posted on that website.




Item 1A. Risk Factors

Before deciding 10 invest in Consensus or fo mainiain or increase your investment, you should carefully consider the risks described below in addition 1o the other cautionary statements and risks described elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and our
other filings with the SEC., including our subsequent reports on Forms 10-Q and 8-K. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may
affect our business. If any of these known or unknown risks or uncertainties actually occurs, our business, prospects, financial condition, operating results and cash flows could be materially adversely affected. In that event, the market price of our common stock will likely
decline and you may lose part or all of your investment.

Risk Factors Summary
The following is a summary of the principal risks that could adversely affect our business, operations and financial results

Risks Related To Our Business

Our fax services constitute substantially all of our revenue and operating income.

Developments in the healtheare industry could adversely affect our business.

‘The market for our products and services is rapidly evolving. If the market does not develop further, develops more slowly, or in a way that we do not expect, our business will be adversely affected.

There are particular challenges in addres

ing the market for healthcare interoperability solutions.

Our industry is undergoing rapid technological changes and we may not be able to keep up.

‘We have made and expect to continue to make acquisitions that could disrupt our operations and harm our operating results.

The COVID-19 pandemic and related governmental response could negatively affect our business, operations and financial performance.

Our business could suffer if providers of broadband Internet access services block, impair or degrade our services.

Our business is dependent on a small number of telecommunications carriers in each region and our inability to maintain agreements at attractive rates with such carriers may negatively impact our business.

The successful operation of our business depends on the supply of critical business elements from other companies, including data center services.

Our sales cycle with enterprise and commercial customers can be long and unpredictable, and our sales cfforts require considerable time and expense.

‘We face risks associated with system failures, eybersecurity breaches and other technolog

ues.

‘The markets in which we operate are highly competitive, and we may not be successful in growing our brands or revene.

‘We may be found to infringe the intellectual property rights of others, and we may be unable to adequately protect of our own intellectual property rights.

We may be subject to risks from international operations, including risks associated with currency fluctuations and foreign exchange controls and adverse changes in global financial markets.

‘We may be engaged in legal proceedings that could cause us to incur unforeseen expenses and could divert significant operational resources and our management’s time and attention.

Our business is highly dependent on our billing systems functioning properly, and we face risks associated with card declines and merchant standards imposed by card companies.

Changes in our tax rates, changes in tax treatment of companies engaged in e-commerce, the adoption of new U.S. or international tax legislation, or exposure to additional tax liabilities may adversely impact our financial results

‘We face risks associated with political instability and volatility in the economy.



Risks Related To Regulation, Including Taxation

Changes in regulations relating to health

formation communication protocols could affect our business.

Our services may become subject to burdensome regulation, which could increase our costs or resirict our service offerings.

Changes in our tax rates, changes in tax treatment of companies engaged in e-commerce, the adoption of new U.S. or international tax legislation, or exposure to additional tax liabiliti

s may adversely impact our financial results.

Taxing authorities may successfully assert that we should have collected, or in the future should collect sales and use, telecommunications or similar taxes, and we could be subject to liability with respect to past or future tax, which could adversely affect our
operating results.

‘We are subjeet to a variety of new and existing laws and regulations which could subject us to claims, judgments, monetary liabilities, and other remedies, and to limitations on our business practices.

Risks Related To Our Common Stock

‘We cannot be certain that an active trading market for our common stock will continue and stock price has in the past and may in the future fluctuate significantly.

Shares of our common stock generally will be eligible for resale, which may cause our stock price to decline.

We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock.

‘We have identified a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting related to the accounting for the separation and distribution which could adversely affect our business, reputation, results of operations and stock price.
Risks Related to the Separation

I the distribution, together with certain related transactions, does not qualify as a transaction that s gencrally tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes, Ziff Davis, Consensus and Ziff Davis stockholders could be subjeet to significant tax liabilites, and. in
certain circumstances, Consensus could be required to indem Davis for material taxes and other related amounts pursuant to indemnification obligations under the tax matters agreement

We may not be able to engage in desirable strategic or capital-raising transactions following the separation.

‘We have a limited history of operating as an independent company and we have incurred and expect to continue to incur increased administrative and other costs following the separation by virtue of our status as an independent public company. Our historical
financial information is not necessarily representafive of the results that we would have achieved as a separate, publicly traded company and may not be a reliable indicator of our future results.

Risks Related To Our Business
Our fax services constitute substantially all of our revenue and operating income.

For both of the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, Cloud Fax revenue constituted substantially all of our revenues and our operating income. The success of our business is thercfore dependent upon the continued use of cloud fax as a
messaging medium and our ability to expand usage of our other current and future products and srvices in the secure data exchange area. While our strategy is to pursue development of a range of products to address sccure data exchange necds, if the demand for cloud fax
as a messaging medium decreases and we are unable to replace lost revenues from deereased usage or cancellation of our cloud fax services with other products and services, or a proportional increase in our customer base, our business, financial condition, operating results
and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

We believe that one of the attactive features of our cloud fax products i that loud fax signatures are a generally accepted method of exceuting contracts and a method of ransmitting confidential information in a secure manner especially in the healtheare field in
the United States. There are ongoing efforts by governmental and nongovernmental entities to create a universally accepted method for electronically signing documents. Widespread adoption of so-called “digital signatures” could reduce demand for our fax services. While
we have introduced a digital signature product, other companies have offered such products for longer and have greater customer adoption. If adoption of digital signature products results in a reduction for our fax services without a corresponding adoption of our digital
signature or other products, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.




Developments in the healthcare industry could adversely affect our business.

A significant portion of our strategy is focused on addressing the secure data exchange and interoperability needs of the healthcare indusiry, and could be affected by circumstances affecting the healthcare industry, including government regulation or other industry
circumstances that affect spending in the healtheare industry. Industry changes affecting healthcare such as government regulation or private initiatives that affeet the manner in which healthcare industry participants exchange data, consolidation of healtheare industry
participants, reductions in governmental funding for healthcare or adverse changes in business or economic conditions affecting healtheare industry participants could affect the market for our offerings. Se the risk factor titled “Changes in regulations relating to health
information communications protocols could affect our business™ under the heading “Risks Related to Regulation Including Taxation.” The healthcare industry has changed significantly in recent years, and we expet that significant changes to the healtheare industry will
continue to occur. However, the timing and impact of developments in the healthcare industry are difficult to predict. We cannot assure you that the demand for our offerings will continue to exist at current levels or that we will have adequate technical, financial and
marketing resources to react to changes in the healtheare industry.

The market for our products and services is relatively new and rapidly evolving. If the market does not develop further, develops more slowly, or in a way that we do not expect, our business will be adversely affected.

Part of our strategy is to develop products and services to address customers” needs in the secure data exchange and healtheare interoperability spaces. The market for secure data exchange and healtheare interoperability products and services is relatively new and
rapidly evolving, which makes our business and future prospects difficult to evaluate. Our healthcare interoperability products beyond our online fax products have been recently introduced and currently represent an immaterial portion of our revenues. It is difficult to predict
customer demand for our products and services, customer retention and expansion rates, the size and growth rate of the market for secure data exchange and healtheare interoperability products and services, the entry of competitive products or the success of existing
competitive products. In response to customer demand, it is important to our success that we continue to enhance our software products and services and to seck to set the standard for secure data exchange capabilities. We expect that we will continue to need significant
product development and sales efforts to attract and educate prospective customers, particularly enterprise and commercial customers, about the uses and benefits of our products and services. The size and growth of our addressable market depends on a number of factors,
including the level of our customers” adoption of our eritical data exchange and interoperability solutions, as well as changes in the competitive landscape, technological changes, budgetary constraints of our customers, changes in business practices, changes in regulations
and changes in economic conditions. If customers do not accept the value proposition of our offerings, then a viable market for products and services may not develop further, or it may develop more slowly than we expect, cither of which would adversely affect our business
and operating results.

‘We have estimated the size of our total addressable market based on internally generated data and assumptions, as well as data published by third parties, which we have not independently verified. While we believe our market size estimates are reasonable, such
information is inherently imprecise and subject to a high degree of uncertainty. If our third-party or internally generated data prove to be inaccurate or we make errors in our assumptions based on that data, our actual market opportunity may be more limited than our
estimates. If we have not accurately estimated the size of our total addressable market, it may cause us to misallocate capital or other eritical business resources, which could harm our business. Even if our total addressable market meets our size estimates and experiences
growth, we may not be successful in growing our share of that market.

There are particular challenges in addressing the market for healthcare interoperability solutions. If we do not successfully address these challenges, our business will be adversely affected.

‘There are many challenges to addressing the healtheare interoperability market. Healtheare providers, including hospitals and medical practices, have adopted an enormous variety of daa storage, management and exchange solutions that are ofien not compatible
with solutions adopted by other providers. This enormous variety of incompatible systems makes it technically challenging to provide effective solutions to the healthcare interoperability market, and is a large part of the reason that the healtheare industry continues to rely
heavily on fax for sccure data exchange.

‘The healtheare industry is being driven to find interoperability solutions by government regulation and market forces. However, individual healthcare providers, including hospitals or medical practices, may have concens about adopting healtheare interoperability
solutions due to privacy or security concerns or concerns about patient retention. This dynamic may make it more difficult to drive adoption of our healtheare interoperability solutions.



A wide variety of providers are working on solutions to address healthcare interoperability challenges, and interoperability can be defined in a variety of ways. For example, the Health Information Systems Management Society (“HIMSS”), which is generally
recognized as an authority on health information technology, released its definition of interoperability and defined it four ways: foundational, structural, semantic and organizational. Customers or vendors could use any of these four components to define their particular
“interoperability solution.” Separately, the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services further defined a fifth component of interoperability that includes patients, which is not included in the HIMSS definition. Furthermore, the Office of the National Coordinator for Health
Information Technology (the “ONC") has developed another definition that is included in the 215t Century Cures Act, which includes the concept of “information blocking” as a component of healtheare interoperability. This wide variety of definitions has the potential to
create a risk of confussion in the market, or allow competitors to reframe the problem to their advantage in a competitive situation, potentially allowing less robust solutions to hold themselves out as healthcare interoperability solutions. We expect to encounter significant
competition for customers as the healthcare interoperability market develops. Our current competitors in the healtheare interoperability space currently consist mostly of point solutions rather than full suites of healtheare interoperability solutions. If other companies develop
solutions to address healthcare operability challenges more successfully than we do, or if customers otherwise adopt competing solutions rather than our solutions, it will adversely affect our business and operating results.

Our industry is undergoing rapid technological changes and we may not be able 10 keep up. If our products and services do not gain market acceptance, our operating results may be negatively affected.

Our success depends upon our ability to design, develop, test, market, license, sell and support new products and services and enhancements of current products and services that effectively address the critical data exchange and healthcare interoperability needs of
our customers. Our suceess also depends on our ability o offer such products and services on a timely basis in response to both competitive threats and marketplace demands. The secure data exchange industry is subject to rapid and significant technological change, and
effectively addressing the issue of healthcare interoperability is a complex technological challenge. We cannot predict the effect of technological changes on our business. We expect that new products, services and technologies will emerge in the markets in which we
compete. These new products, services and technologies may be superior to the products, services and technologies that we use or these new products, services and technologies may render our products, services and technologies obsolete. Our future success will depend, in

rt, on our ability to anticipate correctly and adapt effectively to technological changes and evolving industry standards and customer preferences. We expect to invest in the development or acquisition of new technologies, and we may fail to predict accurately which
technologies will be adopted in the marketplace. The timing and level of commercial success of new products and services depends on many factors, including the degree of innovation of the products and services we develop or acquire and effective distribution and
marketing. We may be unable to develop or acquire new technologies in a cost effective manner or at all, and may therefore be unable to offer products or services in a competitive or profitable manner. Any of the foregoing risks could have a material adverse effect on our
business, prospects, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

We have made and expect to continue to make acquisitions that could disrupt our operations and harm our operating results.

‘We intend to continue to develop new products and services and enhance existing products and services through acquisitions of other companies, technologies and personnel.

Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including the folloy

g:

difficulties in integrating the operations, systems, technologies, products and personnel of the acquired businesses;

difficulties in entering markets in which we have no or limited direct prior experience and where competitors in such markets may have stronger market positions;

diversion of management’s attention from normal daily operations of the business and the challenges of managing larger and more widespread operations resulting from acquisitions; and

the potential loss of key employees, customers, distributors, vendors and other business partners of the businesses we acquire.

Acquisitions may also cause us to:

 usea substantial portion of our cash resources or incur debt;

« significantly increase our interest expense, leverage and debt service requirements if we incur additional debt to pay for an acquisition;




assume liabilities;

issue common stock that would dilute our current stockholders” percentage ownership;

record goodwill and intangible assets that are subject to impairment testing on a regular basis and potential periodic impairment charges;

incur amortization expenses related to certain intangible assets; and

become subject to intellectual property or other litigation.

Mergers and acquisitions are inherently risky and subject to many factors outside of our control. We cannot give assurance that our previous or future acquisitions will be successful and will not materially adversely affect our business, operating results or financial
condition. Failure to manage and successfully integrate acquisitions could materially harm our business and operating results. In addition, our effective tax rate for future periods is uncertain and could be impacted by mergers and acquisitions.

The COVID-19 pandemic and related governmental response could negatively affect our business, operations and financial performance.

‘The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent variants has had a negative effect on the global economy, disrupting the financial markets and creating increasing volatility and overall uncertainty. Among other things, the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in
travel bans around the world, declarations of states of emergency, stay- or shelter-at-home requirements, business and school closures and manufacturing restrictions. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic has, at times, contributed to (i) increased unemployment and
decreased consumer confidence and business generally: (ii) sudden and significant declines, and significant increases in volatility, in financial and capital markets; iii) increased spending on our business continuity efforts, which has required and may further require that we
cut costs o investments in other areas: and (iv) heightened cybersccurity, information security and operational risks s a result of work-from-home arrangements.

‘We have adjusted certain aspects of our operations to protect our employees and customers while still seeking to meet customers” needs for our vital cloud fax services. We cannot predict at this time the extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic could negatively
affect our business, operations and financial performance. The extent of any continued or future adverse effects of the COVID-19 pandemic will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and outside our control, including the scope and duration of the
pandemic, the emergence and virulence of new variants, the effect of the rollout of vaccines on the pandemic and public acceptance of vaceines, the direct and indirect impact of the pandemic on our employees, customers, counterparties and service providers, as well as
other market participants, and actions taken by governmental authorities and other third parties in response to the pandemic. Even after the pandemic subsides, it is possible that the U.S, and other major economies continue to experience a prolonged recession or other
economic disruption, which we expect would materially and adversely affect our business, operations and financial performance.

Our business could suffer if providers of broadband Internet access services block, impair or degrade our services.

Our business is dependent on the ability of our customers to access our services and applications over broadband Intemet connections. Internet access providers and Internet backbone providers may be able to block, degrade or charge for access or bandwidth use of
certain of our products and services, which could lead to additional expenses and the loss of users. Our products and services depend on the ability of our users to access the Intenet. Use of our products and services through mobile devices, such as smartphones and tablets,
must have a high-speed data connection. Broadband Internet access services, whether wireless or landline, are provided by companies with significant market power. Many of these providers offer products and services that directly compete with ous.

Many of the largest providers of broadband services have publicly stated that they will not degrade or disrupt their customers’ use of products and services like ours. If such providers were to degrade, impair or block our services, it would negatively impact our
ability to provide services to our customers and likely result in lost revenue and profits, and we would incur legal fees in attempling to restore our customers” access to our services. Broadband internet access providers may also attempt to charge us or our customers
additional fees to access services like ours that may result in the loss of customers and revenue, decreased profitability, or increased costs to our retail offerings that may make our services less competitive.

Our business is dependent on a small number of telecommunications carriers in each region and our inability to maintain agreements at attractive rates with such carriers may negatively impact our business.
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Our business substantially depends on the capacity, affordability, reliability and security of our network and services provided to us by our telecommunications suppliers. Only a small number of carriers in cach region, and in some cases only one carrier, offer the
number and network services we require. We purchase certain telecommunications services pursuant to short-term agreements that the providers can terminate or elect not to renew. As a result, any or all of our current carriers could discontinue providing us with service at
rates acceptable to us, or at all, and we may not be able to obtain adequate replacements, which could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

Our business could suffer if we cannot obtain or retain numbers, are prohibited from obtaining local numbers or are limited to distributing local numbers to only certain customers.

The future success of our phone number-based cloud fax services products depends on our ability to procure large quantities of local numbers in the U.S. and other countries in desirable locations at a reasonable cost and offer our services to our prospective
customers without restrictions. Our ability to procure and distribute numbers depends on factors such as applicable regulations, the practices of telecommunications carriers that provide numbers, the cost of these numbers and the level of demand for new numbers. For
example, several years ago the Federal Communications Commission (the “FCC”) conditionally granted petitions by Connecticut and California to adopt specialized “unified messaging area codes, but neither state has adopted such a code. Adoption of a specialized area
code within a state or nation could harm our ability to compete in that state or nation if it materially affects our ability to acquire numbers for our operations or makes our services less attractive due to the unavailability of numbers with a local geographic arca.

In addition, although we are the customer of record for all of our U.S. numbers, from time to time, certain U.S. telephone carriers inhibit our ability to port numbers or port our numbers away from us to other carriers. If a federal or regulatory ageney determines that
our customers should have the ability to port numbers without our consent, we may lose customers at a faster rate than what we have experienced historically, potentially resulting in lower revenues. Also, in some foreign jurisdictions, under certain circumstances, our
customers are permitted to port their numbers to another carrier. These factors could lead to increased cancellations by our customers and loss of our number inventory. These factors may have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, operating
results, cash flows and growth in or entry into foreign or domestic markets.

In addition, future growth in our phone number-based cloud services customer base, together with growth in the customer bases of other providers of phone number-based services, has increased and may continue to increase the demand for large quantities of
numbers, which could lead to insufficient capacity and our inability to acquire sufficient numbers to accommodate our future growth.

The successful operation of our business depends upon the supply of critical business elements from other companies.

‘We depend upon third parties for critical elements of our business and we do not control the operations of these parties or their facilities on which we depend. We rely on private third-party providers for our Internet, telecommunications and other conneetions and for
data center hosting facilities and cloud computing needs. We have from time to time experienced interruptions in our services and such interruptions may occur in the future. Any damage to or disruption in the services provided by any of these suppliers, any adverse change
in access to their platforms or services or in their terms and conditions of use or services, any cyberseeurity or physical breach of their facilities, o any failure by them to handle current or higher volumes of activity could have a material adverse effect on our customer
relations, business, prospects, financial condition, operating results and cash flows. Our arrangements with these third parties typically are not exclusive and do not extend over a significant period of time. Failure to continue these relationships on terms that are acceptable to
us or to continue to create additional relationships could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, operating results and cash flows. We do not control the operation of third-party facilities, and they may be vulnerable to damage or
interruption from carthquakes, floods, fires, power loss, telecommunications failures, and similar events. They may also be subject to break-ins, sabotage, intentional acts of vandalism, and similar misconduct, as well as local administrative actions, changes to legal or
permitting requirements, and litigation to stop, limit, or delay operation. The occurrence of a natural disaster, a pandemic (such as COVID-19) or an act of terrorism, a decision to close the facilities without adequate notice, or other unanticipated problems at these facilities
could result in lengthy interruptions in our services.

These hardware, software, data, and cloud computing systems may not continue to be available at reasonable price:
significantly increase our expenses and otherwise result in delays in the provisioning of our services until

. on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Any loss of the right to use any of these hardware, software, or cloud computing systems could
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equivalent technology is cither developed by us, or, if available, ed, obtained through purchase or license, and integrated into our services.

We may be subject to increased rates for the telecommunications services we purchase from regulated carriers which could require us to either raise the retail prices of our offerings and lose customers or reduce our profit margins.

‘The FCC adopted wide-ranging reforms to the system under which regulated providers of telecommunications services compensate each other for the exchange of various kinds of traffic. While we are not a provider of regulated telecommunications services, we
rely on such providers to offer our services to our customers. As a result of the FCC’s reforms, regulated providers of telecommunications services are determining how the rates they charge customers like us will change in order to comply with the new rules. It is possible
that some or all of our underlying carriers will increase the rates we pay for certain telecommunications services. Should this ocur, the costs we incur to provide phone number-based cloud services may increase which may require us to increase the retail price of our
products services. Increased prices could, in turn, cause us to lose customers, or, if we do not pass on such higher costs to our customers, our profit margins may decrease.

Inereased cost of email transmissions could have a material adverse effect on our business.

‘We rely on email for the delivery of certain cloud fax services. If regulations or other changes in the industry lead to a charge associated with the sending or receiving of email messages, the cost of providing our services could increase and, if significant, could
materially adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

Our sales cycle with enterprise and commercial customers can be long and unpredictable, and our sales efforts require considerable time and expense.

Our ability to increase our revenue and grow our business is partially dependent on the widespread acceptance of our products and services by large businesses and other commercial organizations. We ofien need to spend significant time and resources to better
educate and familiarize these potential customers with the value proposition of our products and services. The length of our sales cycle for enterprise customers from initial evaluation to payment for our offerings can be as long as 12 to 18 months, but can vary substantially
from customer to customer and from offering to offering. Customers frequently require considerable time to evaluate, test and qualify our offerings prior to entering into or expanding a subscription. This is particularly true in the case of customers in highly regulated

industries, including healthcare, where longer evaluation, testing and qualification processes often result in longer sales cycles. The timing of our sales with our enterprise customers and related revenue recognition is difficult to predict because of the length and
unpmdlclablluy of the sales cycle for these customers. During the sales cycle, we expend significant time and money on sales and marketing and contract negotiation activities, which may not result in a sale.

Asystem failure, cybersecurity breach or other technological risk could delay or interrupt service to our customers, harm our reputation or subject us to significant liability.

Our operations are dependent on our network being free from material interruption by damage from fire, carthquake, flood. storm, tornado and other severe weather and climate conditions (including those resulting from or exacerbated by climate change), power
los, telecommnicatonsfaiue,unauthorize ey, compute irses, cyberatacks o any oher events beyond ou control. Similary, the aperations of ur patners and atherthid arties with whic we work ar s susceptibl o th same isks. There can be o asurance
that our existing and planned precautions of backup systems, regular data backups, security protocols and other procedures will be adequate to pres nificant damage, system failure or data loss and the same is true for our partners, vendors and other third parties on
which we rely. We have experienced automated log in attempts to gain unauthorized access to customer accounts. To date, these events have not auhed i the material impairment of any business operations.

Many of our services are cloud and web-based, and the amount of data we store for our customers on our servers has been increasing. Despite the implementation of security measures, our infrastructure, and that of our partners,
be vulnerable to computer viruses, hackers or similar disruptive problems caused by our vendors, partner parties, customers employees or other internet users who attempt to invade public and private data networks. As seen
and others, these activities have been, and will continue to be, subject to continually evolving eybersecurity na lechno!oglcal risks. Further, in some cases we do not have in place disaster recovery facilities for certain ancillary services.

vendors and other third parties, may
the industries in which we operate

A significant portion of our operations relies heavily on the secure processing, storage and transmission of confidential and other sensitive data. For example, a significant number of our customers authorize us to bill their credit or debit card
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ounts directly for all transaction fees charged by us. We rely on encryption and authentication technology to effect secure transmission of confidential information, including customer credit and debit card numbers. Advances in computer capabilities, new discoveries in
the field of cryptography or other developments may result in a material compromise or breach of the technology used by us, our partners, vendors, or ot third parties, to protect transaction and other confidential data. Additionally, duc to geopolitical tensions related to
Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, the risk of cyber-attacks may be elevated. Any system failure or security breach that causes interruptions or data loss in our operations, our partners, vendors, or other third parties, or in the computer systems of our customers or leads to the
misappropriation of our or our customers” confidential information could result in a significant liability to us (including in the form of judicial decisions and/or settlements, regulatory findings and/or forfeitures, and other means), cause considerable harm to us and our
reputation (including requiring notification to customers, regulators, and/or the media), cause a loss of confidence in our products and services, and deter current and potential customers from using our services.

Our Board is briefed on cybersecurity risks and we implement cybersecurity risk management under our Board's oversight. We use vendors to assist with eybersecurity risks, but these vendors may not be able to assist us adequately in preparing for or responding to
a cybersecurity incident. We maintain insurance related to cybersecurity risks, but this insurance may not be sufficient to cover all of our losses from any breaches or other adverse consequences related to a cyberseeurity-cvent.

Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, operating results and cash flows, or cause us to suffer other negative consequences. For example, we may incur remediation costs (such as liability for stolen
r information, repairs of system damage, and incentives fo customers or business partners in an effort to maintain relationships after an attack); increased cybersecurity protection costs (which may include the costs of making organizational changes, deploying
additional personnel and protection technologies, training employees, and engaging third party experts and consultans):los revenues resultin from the unauthorized use of proprietry information o the falure o retan or atiract customers following an attack: ligation and
legal risks (including regulatory actions by state and federal governmental authorities and non-U.S. authorities); increased insurance premiums; reputational damage that adversely affects customer or investor confidence; and damage to the company’s compeitiveness, stock
price, and diminished long-term shareholder value. To date, these events have not resulted in the material impairment of any business operations,

If our products and services fail to perform properly and if we fail to develop enhancements to resolve any defect or other problems, we could lose customers or become subject to service performance or warranty claims and our market share could decline.

Our operations are dependent upon our ability to prevent system interruptions and, as we continue to grow, we will need to devote additional resources to improving our infrastructure in order to maintain the performance of our products and services. The
applications underlying our products and services are inherently complex and may contain material defects or errors, which may cause disruptions in availability or other performance problems. We have from time to time found defects in our products and services and may
discover additional defects in the future that could result in data unavailability or unauthorized access or other harm to, or loss or corruption of, our customers’ data. While we implement bug fixes and upgrades as part of our regularly scheduled system maintenance, we may
not be able to detect and corret defects or errors before implementing our products and services. Consequently, we or our customers may discover defects or errors afier our products and services have been employed. If we fail to perform timely maintenance or if customers
are otherwise dissatisfied with the frequency and/or duration of our maintenance services and related system outages, our existing customers could elect not to renew their subscriptions, delay or withhold payment to us, or cause us to issue credits, make refunds o pay
penalties, potential customers may not adopt our products and services and our brand and reputation could be harmed. In addition, the oceurrence of any material defects, errors, disruptions in service or other performance problems with our software could result in warranty
or other legal claims against us and diversion of our resources. The costs incurred in addressing and correcting any material defects or errors in our software and expan frastructure and architecture in order to accommodate increased demand for our products and
services may be substantial and could adversely affet our operating results.

The markets in which we operate are highly competitive and our competitors may have greater resources to commit to growth, superior technologies, cheaper pricing or more effective marketing strategies. Also, we face significant competition for users, advertisers,
publishers, developers and distributors.

Some of our competitors include major companies with much greater resources and significantly larger customer bases than we have. Some of these comp r services at lower prices than we do. These companies may be able to develop and expand
their network infrastructures and capabilities more quickly, adapt more swifily to new or emerging and changes in customer take advantage of acquisition and other opportunities more readily and devote greater resources to the marketing and sale
of their products and services than we can. There can be no assurance that
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additional competitors will not enter markets that we are currently serving and plan to serve or that we will be able to compete effectively. Competitive pressures may reduce our revenue, operating profits or both.
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Some of our existing competitors and possible entrants may have greater brand recognition for certain products and services, more expertise in a particular segment of the market, and greater operational, strategic, technological, financial, personnel, or other
resources than we do. Many of our competitors have access to considerable financial and technical resources with which to compete aggressively, including by funding future growth and expansion and investing in acquisition: and rescarch and

Further, emerging start-ups may be able to innovate and provide new products and services faster than we can. In addition, competitors may consolidate with each other or collaborate, and new competitors may enter the market. Some of our competitors in international
markets have a substantial competitive advantage over us because they have dominant market share in their territorics, are owned by local telecommunications providers, have greater brand recognition, are focused on a single market, are more familiar with local tastes and
preferences, or have greater regulatory and operational flexibility due to the fact that we may be subject to both ULS. and foreign regulatory requirements.

If our competitors are more successful than we are in developing and deploying compelling products or in attracting and retaining users, advertisers, publishers, developers, or distributors, our revenue and growth rates could decline.

Our growth will depend on our ability 1o develop, strengthen, and protect our brands, and these efforts may be costly and have varying degrees of success.

Some of our brands, such as eFax are widely recognized, while others of our brands, including Consensus, are relatively new to the market. Developing Consensus or other new brands into competitive brands and strengthening our current brands will be eritical to
achieving widespread commercial acceptance of our products and services. This will require our continued focus on active marketing, the costs of which have been increasing and may continue to increase. In addition, substantial initial investments may be required to launch
new brands and expand existing brands to cover new geographic territories and fields. Accordingly, we may need to spend increasing amounts of money on, and devote greater resources to, advertising, marketing and other efforts to cultivate brand recognition and customer
loyalty. Brand promotion activities may not yield increased revenues and, even if they do, increased revenues may not offset the expenses incurred. A failure to launch, promote, and maintain our brands, or the incurrence of substantial expenses in doing so, could have a
material adverse effect on our busines;

Our brand recognition depends, in part, on our ability to protect our trademark portfolio and establish trademark rights covering new brands and territories. Some regulators and competitors have taken the view that certain of our brands, such as eFax, are descriptive
o generic when applied to the products and services we offer. Nevertheless, we have obtained U.S. and foreign trademark registrations for our brand names, logos, and other brand identifiers, including eFax. If we are unable to obtain, maintain or protect trademark rights
covering our brands across the territories in which they are or may be offered, the value of these brands may be diminished, competitors may be able to dilute, harm, or take advantage of our brand recognition and reputation, and our ability to attract customer may be
adversely affected.

‘We hold domain names relating to our brands, in the U.S. and internationally. The acquisition and maintenance of domain names are generally regulated by governmental agencies and their designees. The regulation of domain names may change. Governing bodies
may establish additional top-level domains, appoint additional domain name registrars or modify the requirements for holding domain names. As a result, we may be unable to acquire or maintain all relevant domain names that relate to our brands. Furthermore, international
rules governing the acquisition and maintenance of domain names in foreign jurisdictions are sometimes different from ULS. rules, and we may not be able to obtain all of our domains internationally. As a result of these factors, we may be unable to prevent third partics from
acquiring domain names that are similar to, infringe upon or otherwise decrease the value of our brands, trademarks or other proprietary rights. In addition, failure to secure or maintain domain names relevant to our brands could adversely affect our reputation and make it
more difficult for users to find our websites and services.

Inadequate intellectual property protections could prevent us from defending our proprietary technology and intellectual property.

Our success depends, in part, upon our proprictary technology and intellcctual property. We rely on a combination of patents, trademarks, trade secrets, copyrights, contractual restrictions, and other confidentiality safeguards to protect our proprietary technology.
However, these measures may provide only limited protection and it may be costly and time-consuming to enforce compliance with our intellectual property rights. In some circumstances, we may not have adequate, economically feasible or realistic options for enforcing
our intellectual property and we may be unable to detect unauthorized use. While we have a robust worldwide portfolio of issued patents and pending patent applications, there can be no assurance that any of these patents will not be challenged, invalidated or circumvented,
that we will be able to successfully police infringement, or that any rights granted under these patents will in fact provide a competitive advantage to us.
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In addition, our ability to register or protect our patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets and other intellectual property may be limited in some foreign countries. As a result, we may not be able to effectively prevent competitors in these regions from utilizing
our intellectual property, which could reduce our competitive advantage and ability to compete in those regions and negatively impact our business.

We also strive to protect our intellectual property rights by relying on federal, state and common law rights, as well as contractual restrictions. We typically enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and contractors, and
confidentiality agreements with parties with whom we conduct business in order to limit access to, and disclosure and use of, our proprietary information. However, we may not be successful in executing these agreements with every party who has access to our confidential
information or contributes to the development of our technology o intellectual property rights. Those agreements that we do execute may be breached, and we may not have adequate remedies for any such breach. These contractual arrangements and the other steps we have
taken to protect our intellectual property rights may not prevent the misappropriation or disclosure of our proprietary information nor deter independent development of similar technology or intellectual property by others,

Monitoring unauthorized use of the content on our websites and mobile applications, and our other intellcctual property and technology, is difficult and costly. Our efforts to protect our proprietary rights and intellectual property may not have been and may not be
adequate to prevent their misappropriation or misuse. Third parties from time to time copy content or other intellectual property or technology from our solutions without authorization and seek to use it for their own benefit. We generally seck to address such unauthorized
copying or use, but we have not always been successful in stopping all unauthorized use of our content or other intellectual property or technology, and may not be successful in doing so in the future. Further, we may not have been and may not be able to detect unauthorized
use of our technology or intellectual property, or to take appropriate steps to enforce our intellectual property rights.

Companies that operate in the same industry as us have experienced substantial litigation regarding intellectual property. We may find it necessary or appropriate to initiate claims or litigation to enforce our intellectual property rights or determine the validity and
scope of intellectual property rights claimed by others. This or any other litigation to enforce or defend our intellectual property rights may be expensive and time consuming, could divert management resources and may not be adequate o protect our business.

We may be found to have infringed the intellectual property rights of others, which could expose us to substantial damages or restrict our operations.

We may be subject to legal claims that we have infringed the intellectual property rights of others. The ready availability of damages and royalties and the potential for injunctive relief have increased the costs associated with litigating and settling patent
infringement claims. In addition, we may be required to indemnify our resellers and users for similar claims made against them. Any claims, whether or not meritorious, could require us to spend significant time, money, and other resources in litigation, pay damages and
royalties, develop new intellectual property, modify. design around, or discontinue existing products, services, or features, or acquire licenses to the intellectual property that is the subject of the infringement claims. These licenses, if required, may not be available at all or
have acceptable terms. As a result, intellectual property claims against us could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

We may be subject 10 risks from international operations.

To the extent we expand our business operations in countries outside the U.S., our future resuls could be materially adversely affected by a variety of uncontrollable and changing factors including, among others, foreign currency exchange rates; political or social
unrest, economic instability, geopolitical tensions or war in a specific country or region (including the invasion of Ukraine by Russia): trade protection measures and other regulatory requirements which may affect our ability to provide our services; difficulties in staffing and
managing international operations; and adverse tax consequences, including imposition of withholding or other taxes on payments by subsidiaries and affiliates. Any or all of these factors could have a material adverse impact on our future business, prospects, financial
condition, operating results and cash flows

Further, the impact on the global economy as a result of unforeseen global crises such as war (including the invasion of Ukraine by Russia and any related political or economic responses and counter-responses or otherwise by various global actors), srife, strikes,
global health pandemics, earthquakes or major weather events or other uncontrollable events could negatively impact our revenue and operating results.
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We may be engaged in legal proceedings that could cause us to incur unforeseen expenses and could divert significant operational resources and our management’s time and attention.

From time to time, we are subject to litigation or claims or are involved in other legal disputes or regulatory inquiries, including in the arcas of patent infringement and anti-trust that could negatively affect our business operations and financial condition. Such
disputes could cause us to incur unforeseen expenses, divert operational resources, occupy a significant amount of our management’s time and attention and negatively affect our business operations and financial condition. The outcomes of such matters are subject to
inherent uncertainties, carrying the potential for unfavorable rulings that could include monetary damages and injunctive relief. We do not always have insurance coverage for defense costs, judgments, and settlements. We may also be subject to indemnification requirements
with business partners, vendors, current and former officers and directors, and other third parties. Payments under such indemnification provisions may be material.

Our business is highly dependent on our billing systems.

Asignificant part of our revenues depends on prompt and accurate billing processes. Customer billing is a highly complex process, and our billing systems must efficiently interface with third-party systems, such as those of credit card processing companies. Our
ability to aceurately and efficiently bill our customers is dependent on the successful operation of our billing systems and the third-party systems upon which we rely, such as our credit card processor, and our ability to provide these third parties the information required to
process transactions. In addition, our ability to offer new services or alternative-billing plans is dependent on our ability to customize our billing systems. Any failures or errors in our billing systems or procedures, or any disruptions in billing-related services provided by our
vendors, could impair our ability to properly bill our current customers or attract and service new customers, and thereby could materially and adversely affect our business and financial results.

Increased numbers of credit and debit card declines in our business could lead to a decrease in our revenues or rate of revenue growth.

A significant number of our customers pay for our services through credit and debit cards, particularly with respect to our SoHo fax products. Weakness in certain segments of the credit markets and in the U.S. and global economies could result in increased numbers
of rejected eredit and debit card payments. We belicve this could result in increased customer cancellations and decreased customer signups. Rejected eredit or debit card payments, customer cancellations and decreased customer sign up may adversely impact our revenues
and profitability.

If our business experiences excessive fraudulent activity or cannot meet evolving credit card company merchant standards, we could incur substantial costs and lose the right to accept credit cards for payment and our customer base could decrease significantly.

A significant number of our customers, particularly for our SoHo fax products, authorize us to bill their eredit card accounts directly for all service fees charged by us. If people pay for these services with stolen eredit cards, we could incur substantial unreimbursed
third-party vendor costs. We also incur losses from claims that the customer did not authorize the eredit card transaction to purchase our service. If the numbers of unauthorized credit card transactions become excessive, we could be assessed substantial fines for excess
chargebacks and could lose the right to accept credit cards for payment. In addition, we are subject to Payment Card Industry (“PCI) data security standards, which require periodic audits by independent third parties to assess our compliance. PCI standards are a
comprehensive set of requirements for enhancing payment account data security. Failure to comply with the security requirements or rectify a security issue may result in fines or a restriction on accepting payment cards. Credit card companies may change the standards
required to utilize their services from time to time. If we are unable to meet these new standards, we could be unable to accept credit cards. Further, the law relating to the liability of providers of online payment services is currently unsettled and states may enact their own
rules with which we may not comply. Substantial losses due to fraud or our inability to accept credit card payments, which could cause our customer base to significantly decrease, could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, operating
results and cash flows.

Our success depends on our retention of our executive officers, senior management and our ability to hire and retain key personnel.

Our success depends on the skills, experience and performance of our key personnel, including our executive officers, senior management and skilled workforce. The loss of the services of one or more of our key employees could have a material adverse cffect on
our business, prospects, financial condition, operating results and cash flows. In particular, the recruitment and retention of top technical, marketing, sales and subject matter experts - particularly those with specialized knowledge, will
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be critical to our success. Competition for such people is intense, substantial and continuous, and we may not be able to attract, integrate or retain highly qualified technical, sales or managerial personnel in the future. In our effort to attract and retain key personnel, we may
experience increased compensation costs that are not offset by either improved productivity or higher prices for our products or services

‘We have observed an increasingly competitive labor market. Increased employee turover, changes in the availability of our employees, including as a result of COVID-19-related absences, and labor shortages more generally have resulted in, and could co
result in, increased costs, and could adversely impact the efficiency of our operations.

Political instability and volatility in the economy may adversely affect segments of our customers, which may result in decreased usage and advertising levels, customer acquisition and customer retention rates and, in turn, could lead to a decrease in our revenues or
rate of revenue growth.

Certain segments of our customers may be adversely affected by political instability and volatility in the general economy or any downturns. To the extent these customers’ businesses are adversely affected by political instability or volatiliy, their usage of our
services and/or our customer retention rates could decline. This may result in decreased cloud services subscription and/or usage revenues and decreased advertising, e-commerce or other revenues, which may adversely impact our revenues and profitability. For example, in
connection with the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, the U.S. governments have imposed severe economic sanctions and export controls and have threatened additional sanctions and controls. The full impact of these measures, or of any potential responses to them by
Russia or other countries, on the businesses and results of operations o our customers or us is unknown.

Risks Related To Our Regulation Including Taxation
Changes in regulations relating to health information communication protocols could affect our business.
‘The Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology (“ONC”) is the principal U.S. federal entity charged with the coordination of nationwide efforts to implement and use health IT for the electronic exchange of health information. ONC

regularly proposes legislative changes to incentivize the healtheare industry to adopt specific electronic tools to exchange health information. Changes to information exchange requirements could impact the use of cloud fax as a communication choice for healthcare entities
and have a material impact on our business, prospects, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

We face potential liability related to the privacy and security of health-related information we collect from, or on behalf of, our consumers and customers.

‘The privacy and security of information about the physical or mental health or condition of an individual is an area of significant focus in the U.S. because of heightened privacy concerns and the potential for significant consumer harm from the misuse of such
sensitive data. We have procedures and technology in place intended to safeguard the information we receive from customers and users of our services from unauthorized access or use. The Privacy Standards and Security Standards under the Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA”) establish a set of basic national privacy and security standards for the protection of individually identifiable health information by health plans, healtheare clearinghouses and certain healtheare providers, referred to as “covered
entities”, and the business associates with whom such covered entities contract for services. Notably, whereas HIPAA previously directly regulated only these covered entities, the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009 (“HITECH")
makes certain of HIPAA's Privacy and Security Standards directly applicable to covered entities’ business associates. As a result, business associates are now subject to significant civil and criminal penalties for failure to comply with applicable Privacy and Security
Standards. Additionally, certain states have adopted comparable privacy and security laws and regulations, some of which may be more stringent than HIPAA.

HIPAA directly applies to covered entities such as our hospital clients. Since these clients disclose protected health information to our subsidiaries so that those subsidiaries can provide certain services to them, those subsidiaries are business associates of those
clients. In addition, we may sign business associate agreements in connection with the provision of the products and services developed for other third parties or in connection with certain of our other services that may transmit or store protected health information.

Failure to comply with the requirements of HIPAA or HITECH or any of the applicable federal and state laws regarding patient privacy, identity theft prevention and detection, breach notification and data security may subject us to penalties, including civil
monetary penalties and, umstances, criminal penalties or contractual liability under

some.
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agreements with our customers and clients. Any failure o perception of failure of our products or services to meet HIPAA, HITECH and related regulatory requirements could expose us to risks of investigation, notification,
demand for our products and services and force us to expend significant capital and other resources to modify our products or services to address the privacy and security requirements of our clients and HIPAA and HITECH.

igation, penalty o enforcement, adversely affect

Our services may become subject to burdensome regulation, which could increase our costs or restrict our service offerings.

‘We believe that most of our services are “information services™ under the Telecommunications Act of 1996 and related precedent, or, if not “information services.” that we are entitled to other exemptions, meaning that we generally are not currently subject to US,
telecommunications services regulation at both the federal and state levels. We utilize data transmissions over public telephone lines and other facilities provided by third-party carriers. These transmissions are subject to foreign and domestic laws and regulation by the FCC,
state public utility commissions and foreign governmental authorities. These regulations affect the availability of numbers, the prices we pay for transmission services, the administrative costs associated with providing our services, the competition we face from
telecommunications service providers and other aspects of our market. However, as messaging and communications services converge and as the services we offer expand, we may become subject to FCC or other regulatory agency regulation. It i also possible that a federal
o stae egulatory agency could take the position tht ou offrins, o a subset of our ffeings, ar properly classifie astlecommuncations erviee or otherwise ot entited 0 ertain exerptions upon which we currently el Such a finding could potenially subfect us o
fines, penalties or enforcement actions as well as liabilities for past regulatory fees and charges, retroactive to various lated funds, lated taxes, penalties and interest. It is also possible that such a finding could subject
us to additional regulatory obligations that could potentially require us either to modify our offerings in a costly manner, diminish our ability to retain customers, or discontinue certain offerings, in order to comply with certain regulations. Changes in the regulatory
environment could decrease our revenues, inerease our costs and restrict our service offerings. In many of our international locations, we are subject to regulation by the applicable governmental authority.

In the U.S., Congress, the FCC, and a number of states require regulated telecommunications carriers to contribute to federal and/or state Universal Service Funds (“USF”). Generally, USF is used to subsidize the cost of providing service to low income customers
and those living in high cost o rural areas. Congress, the FCC and a number of states are reviewing the manner in which a provider’s contribution obligation is calculated, as well as the types of entities subject to USF contribution obligations. If any of these reforms are
adopted, they could cause s to alter or eliminate our non-paid services and to raise the price of our paid services, which could cause us to lose customers. Any of these results could lead to a decrease in our revenues and net income and could materially adversely affect our
business, prospects, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

The Telephone Consumer Protection Act (the “TCPA™) and FCC rules iplementing the TCPA, as amended by the Junk Fax Act, prohibit sending unsolicited facsimile advertisements to telephone fax machines. The FCC, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”), or
both may initiate enforcement action against companies that send “junk faxes™ and individuals also may have a private cause of action. Although entities that merely transmit facsimile messages on behalf of others are not liable for compliance with the prohibition on faxing
unsolicited advertisements, the exemption from liability does not apply to fax transmitters that have a high degree of involvement or actual notice of an llegal use and have failed to take steps to prevent such transmissions. We take significant steps to ensure that our services
are not used to send unsolicited faxes on a large scale, and we do not believe that we have a high degree of involvement in or notice of the use of our service to broadeast junk faxes. However, because fax transmitters do not enjoy an absolute exemption from liability under
the TCPA and related FCC and FTC rules, we could face inguirics from the FCC and FTC or enforcement actions by these agencies, or private causes of action, if someone uses our service for such impermissible purposes. If this were to aceur and we were to be held liable
for someone’s use of our service for transmitting unsolicited faxes, the financial penalties could cause a material adverse effect on our operations and harm our business reputation.

g

Likewise, the TCPA also prohibits placing calls or sending text messages to mobile phones without “prior express consent” subject to limited exceptions. Parties that solely enable calling or text messaging are only directly liable under the TCPA pursuant to federal
common law vicarious liability principles. We take significant steps to ensure that users understand that they are responsible for how they use our technology including complying with relevant federal and state law. However, because we do not enjoy absolute exemption
from liability under the TCPA and related FCC and FTC rules, we could face inguiries from the FCC and FTC or enforcement actions by these agencies, or private causes of action, if someone uses our service for such impermissible purposes. If this were to oceur and we
were to be held liable for someone’s use of our service for unauthorized calling or text messaging mobile users, the financial penalties could cause a material adverse effect on our operations and harm our business reputation.
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Changes in our tax rates, changes in tax treatment of companies engaged in e-commerce, the adoption of new U.S. or international tax legislation, or exposure to additional tax liabilities may adversely impact our financial results.

We are a U.S.-based multinational company subject to taxes in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions. Our provision for income taxes is based on a jurisdictional mix of eamings, statutory tax rates and enacted tax rules, including transfer pricing. Due to economic and
political conditions, tax rates in various jurisdictions may be subject to significant change. AS a result, our future effective tax rates could be affected by changes in the mix of carnings in countries with differing statutory tax rates, changes in the valuation of deferred tax
assets and liabilities, or changes in tax laws or their interpretation. These changes may adversely impact our effective tax rate and harm our financial position and results of operations.

We are subject to examination by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and other domestic and foreign tax authorities and government bodies. We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these examinations to determine the adequacy
of our income tax and other tax reserves. If our reserves are not sufficient to cover these contingencies, such inadequacy could materially adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, operating results, and cash flows.

In addition, due to the global nature of the Intemet, it is possible that various states or foreign countries might attempt to impose additional or new regulation on our business or levy additional or new sales, income or other taxes relating to our activities. Tax
authorities at the international, federal, state and local levels are currently reviewing the appropriate treatment of companies engaged in e-commerce. New or revised international, federal, statc or local tax regulations or court decisions may subject us or our customers to
additional sales, income and other taxes. For example, the European Union, certain member states, and other countries, as well as states within the United States, have proposed or enacted taxes on online advertising and marketplace service revenues. The application of
existing, new or revised taxes on our business, in particular, sales taxes, VAT and similar taxes would likely increase the cost of doing business online and decrease the attractiveness of selling products over the internet. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition, and operating resuls.

‘We are currently under or subject to examination for indirect taxes in various states, d foreign jurisd currently believes we have adequate reserves established for these matters. If a material indirect tax liability associated with
prior periods were to be recorded, for which there is not a reserve, it could materially affect our financial reoulsfor the period in whth its recorded.

Taxing authorities may successfully assert that we should have collected, or in the future should collect sales and use, telecommunications or similar taxes, and we could be subject to liability with respect to past or future tax, which could adversely affect our operating
results.

‘We believe we remit state and local sales and use fax, excise, utility user, and ad valorem taxes, fees and surcharges or other similar obligations in all relevant jurisdictions in which we generate sales, based on our understanding of the applicable laws in those
jurisdictions. Such tax, fees and surcharge laws and rates vary greatly by jurisdiction, and the application of such taxes to e-commerce businesses, such as ours, is a complex and evolving area. The jurisdictions where we have sales may apply more rigorous enforcement
efforts or take more aggressive positions in the future that could result in greater tax liability. In addition, in the future we may also decide to engage in activities that would require us to pay sales and use, telecommunications, or similar taxes in new jurisdictions. Such tax
assessments, penalties and interest or future requirements may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results. these laws and regulations, as well as potential substantial penalties for any failure to comply. Compliance with these laws and
regulations may also cause us to change or limit our business practices in a manner adverse to our business.

We are subject to a variety of new and existing laws and regulations which could subject us to claim

, judgments, monetary liabilities and other remedies, and to limitations on our business practices.

‘The application of existing domestic and international laws and regulations to us relating to issues such as defamation, pricing, advertising, taxation, promotions, billing, consumer protection, export controls, accessibility, content regulation, data privacy, intellectual
property ownership and infringement, and accreditation in many instances is unclear or unsettled. In addition, we will also be subject to any new laws and regulations directly applicable to our domestic and international activities. Internationally, we may also be subject to
laws regulating our activities in foreign countries and to forcign laws and regulations that are inconsistent from couniry to country. We may incur substantial liabilties for expenses necessary to comply with these laws and regulations, as well as potential substantial penalties
for any failure to comply. Compliance with these laws and regulations may also cause us to change or limit our business practices in a manner adverse to our business.
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In certain instances, we may be subject to enhanced privacy obligations based on the type of information we store and process. While we believe we are in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations, we could be subject to enforcement actions, fines,
forfeitures and other adverse actions.

The Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act of 2003 (the “CAN-SPAM Act”), which allows for penalties that run into the millions of dollars, requires commercial emails to include identifying information from the sender and a
mechanism for the receiver to opt out of receiving future emails. Several states have enacted additional, more restrictive and punitive laws regulating commercial email. Foreign legislation exists as well, including Canada’s Anti-Spam Legislation and the European laws that
have been enacted pursuant to the GDPR and European Union Directive 2002/58/EC and its amendments. We use email as a significant means of communicating with our existing and potential users. We believe that our email practices comply with the requirements of the
CAN-SPAM Act, state laws, and applicable foreign legislation. If we were ever found to be in violation of these laws and regulations, or any other laws or regulations, our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

Many third-parties are examining whether the Americans with Disabilities Act (*ADA”) concept of public accommodation also extends to websites and to mobile applications. Generally, some plaintiffs have argued that websites and mobile applications are places
of public accommaodation under Title 11T of the ADA and, as such, must be equipped so that individuals with disabilities can navigate and make use of subject websites and mobile applications. We cannot predict how the ADA will ultimately be interpreted as applied to
websites and mobile applications. We believe we are in compliance with relevant law. If the law changes with the ADA, then any adjustments or requirements to implement any changes prescribed by the ADA could result in increased costs to our bu
subject to injunctive relief, plaintiffs may be able to recover attomneys” fees, and it is possible that, while the ADA does not provide for monetary damages, we become subject to such damages through state consumer protection or other laws. It is possible that these potential
liabilities could cause a material adverse effect on our operations and harm our business reputation.

As of May 25, 2018, certain data transfrs from and between the European Union (“EU) are subject to the GDPR. As discussed in more detail below, the GDPR prohibits data transfrs from the EU to other countries outside of the EU, including the U.S., without
appropriate security safeguards and practices in place. Previously, for certain data transfers from and between the EU and the U.S., we, like many other companies, had relied on what is referred to as the “EU-U.S. Safe Harbor,” in order to comply with privacy obligations
imposed by EU countries. The European Court of Justice invalidated the EU-U.S. Safe Harbor. Additionally, other countries that relied on the EU-U.S. Safe Harbor that were not part of the EU have also found that data transfers to the U.S. are no longer valid based on the
European Court of Justice ruling. Although U.S. and EU policymakers approved a new framework known as “Privacy Shield” that would allow companies like us to continue to rely on some form of a safe harbor for the transfer of certain data from the EU to the U.S., on
July 16,2020, the Court of Justice of the European Union issued a judgment declaring as “invalid” the European Commission’s Decision (EU) 2016/1250 on the adequacy of the protection provided by the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield, rendering it invalid. We cannot predict how
these issues will be resolved nor can we evaluate any potential liability at this time.

‘The Company has put into place various alternative grounds on which to rely in order to be in compliance with relevant law for the transfer of data from overseas locations to the U.S. which have not been invalidated by the European Court of Justice. Some
independent data regulators have adopted the position that other forms of compliance are also invalid though the legal grounds for these findings remain unclear at this time. We cannot predict at this time whether the alternative grounds that we continue to implement will be
found to be consistent with relevant laws nor what any potential liability may be at this time.

On June 28, 2018, the California legislature enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), which took effect on January 1, 2020 and became enforceable starting July 1, 2020, The CCPA, which covers businesses that obtain or access personal information
on California resident consumers grants consumers enhanced privacy rights and control over their personal information and imposes significant requirements on covered companies with respect to consumer data privacy rights. The CCPA provides consumers with the right to
opt out of the sale of their personal information including the requirement to include a “Do Not Sell” link on our websites and applications that sell personal data of California resident consumers. We believe we have implemented such links to the extent necessary and our
privacy policies have been updated and posted on our

wel

sites.

Failure or perceived failure by us to comply with our policies, applicable requirements, or industry self-regulatory principles related to the collection, use, sharing or security of personal information, or other privacy, data-retention or data-protection matters could
result in a loss of user confidence in us, damage to our brands, and ultimately in a loss of users and advertising partners, which could adversely affect our business. Changes in these or any other laws and regulations or the interpretation of them could increase our future
compliance costs, limit the amount and type of data we can collect, transfer,
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share, or sell, make our products and services less attractive to our users, or cause us to change or limit our business practices. Further, any failure on our part to comply with any relevant laws or regulations may subject us to significant civil or criminal liabilities.

If we are subject to burdensome laws or regulations or if we fail to adhere to the requirements of public or private regulations, our business, financial condition and results of operations could suffer.

The requirements of being a public company, including developing and maintaining proper and effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, may strain our resources and divert management's attention away from other
business concerns.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the listing requirements of Nasdaq and other applicable securities rules and
regulrons thatimpose vrios ruircentson publie companis. Ou mansgennt and ather personne willdevote  subsiantial amount of time to ompliance with these eguiements and as an independent public compars such compliace s rsuled n nressedlegal
accounting and fina 5. The SarbanceOxley Act equics, mong othe things, that we mantaineffctive disclosure controls and procedures and el contolover fsancial rporting. In rder to maintain and improv th effectvencss of such cortrols, we ave
expended: and anticipate bt we will contine to ‘expend, significant resources. For example, we have hired and expect to continu to hire additional accounting and financial staff with a public company experience and technical accounting knowledge to assist in
our compliance efforts. We expect o incur igniicant xpnses and devre subsiantial management eTor tward compliance with the auditoratctation reuirements of Section 404 of he o Oxley Act, when Such atexaton i equired. To asit s n complying with
thee equiements e may nee (o e more employces i he ftue,orcngage utide onsulans, whic will ncreus ouropertng expenss. As epored elsewhers i this Annual Report on Fom 10-K, we have identiid a el weskaess i our nternal control over
financial reporting related to our accounting for the separation and distributi

‘We cannot assure you that additional material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting will not be identified in the future. While we have designed and implemented, or expect to implement, measures to remediate this material weakness, our efforts
to remediate this material weakness may not be effective. Moreaver, we are also continuing to develop our internal controls and processes. Despite significant investment, our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes
in busines condiions For example, bcause w have scquird companies in the pust and may continue 0 do o n he fur, e need o CMectively oxpend resourcc 1 intgrate he controls of hese acquired entites with ours. Any falure o mplement and maintain
effective internal control over financial reporting could adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluati ounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
ill be required to e incuded i the periodic reports that we e with the SEC. Any current o fure materal weakness in financial reporting, or adverse report thereon, could cause investors to lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of
our financial reports, could cause the market price of our common stock to decline, and could subject us to sanctions or investigations by Nasdag, the SEC or other regulatory authorities or shareholder litigation.

Risks Related To Our Stock

The trading market for our common stock has existed for only a short period following the distribution. Our stock price may fluctuate significantly.

rior to the distribution, there was no public market for our common stock. An active trading market for our common stock commenced only recently following the distribution and may not be sustainable. The market price of our common stock has in the past, and
may continue to, fluctuate significantly due to a number of factors, some of which may be beyond our control, including:

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results;

changes in earnings estimated by securities analysts or our ability to meet those estimates;
the operating and stock price performance of comparable companies;

changes to the regulatory and legal environment in which we operate; and

domestic and worldwide economic conditions,

Stock markets in general have experienced volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of a particular company. These broad market fluctuations could also adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.




We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock.

We have no present intention to pay cash dividends on our common stack. Any determination to pay dividends to holders of our common stock will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon many factors, including our financial condition,

results of operations, projections, liquidity, camings, legal requirements, restrictions in our existing and any future debt and other factors that our board of directors deems relevant.

Reduced reporting and disclosure requirements applicable 10 us as an emerging growth company could make our common stock less atiractive to invesior

We are an EGC and, for as long as we continue to be an EGC, we may choose to continue to take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies. Consequently, we are not required to have our independent
registered public accounting firm audit our internal control over financial reporting under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and we are subject to reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements and
exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on exccutive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. In addition, the JOBS Act provides that an EGC can take advantage of an extended
transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards. We have elected to take advantage of the extended transition period. As a result, our financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with new or revised accounting
pronouncements as of the dates such pronouncements are effective for public companies. We will cease to be an EGC upon the earliest of: (i) the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of the first sale of our common stock pursuant to an effective
registration statement filed under the Securities Act, (ii) the first fiscal year after our annual gross revenue is $1.07 billion or more, (iii) the date on which we have, during the previous three-year period, issued more than $1 billion in nonconvertible debt securities or (iv) the
end of any fiscal year in which the market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeded $700 million as of the end of the second quarter of that fiscal year. We cannot predict whether investors will find our common stock less attractive if we choose to rely on
these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result of any choices to reduce future disclosure, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock, and the price of our common stock may be more volatile.

We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting related to the accounting for the separation and distribution , and if our remediation of such material weakness is not effective, or if we experience additional material weaknesses
or otherwise fail to design and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting we may not be able to accurately report our financial results in a timely manner, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and materially and adversely affect our
business and operating results.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Dodd-Frank Act and are required to prepare our financial statements according to the rules and regulations required by the SEC. In addition, the
Exchange Act requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports. Our failure to prepare and disclose this information in a timely manner or to otherwise comply with applicable law could subject us to penalties under federal securities laws, expose us to lawsuits and
restrict our ability to access financing. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we establish and mainiain effective internal controls and procedures for financial reporting and disclosure purposes. Internal control over financial reporting is
complex and may be revised over time to adapt to changes in our business, or changes in applicable accounting rules. As reported elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting related to
our accounting for the separation and distribution. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our consolidated financial statements
will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

cannot assure you that the measures we have taken to date, and actions we may take in the future, will be sufficient to remediate the internal control deficiencies that led to our material weakness, that the material weakness will be remediated on a timely basis, or
that additional material weaknesses will not be identified in the future. If the steps we take do not remediate the outstanding material weakness in  timely manner, there could continue to be a possibility that these control deficiencies or others could result in a material
misstatement of our annual or interim consolidated financial statements. Further, our current internal control over financial reporting and any additional internal control over financial reporting that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our
business. We also cannot assure you that a material weakness will not be discovered with respect to a prior period for which we had previously believed that internal controls were effective. If we are not able to remediate this existing material weakness and document
effective internal control over financial reporting, our independent registered public accounting firm will not be able to certify as to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. if and when required.
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Matters affecting our internal controls, including the material weakness describe above, may cause us to be unable to report our financial information on a timely basis, or may cause us to restate previously issued financial information, and thereby subject us to
adverse regulatory consequences, including sanctions or investigations by the SEC, violations of applicable stock exchange listing rules, and ltigation brought by our sharcholders and others. There could also be a negative reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of
investor confidence in us and the reliability of our financial statements. This could have a material and adverse effect on us by, for example, leading to a decline in our share price and impairing our ability to raise additional capital, and also could result in litigation brought
by our shareholders and others.

Future sales by Ziff Davis or others of our common stock, or the perception that such sales may occur, could depress our common stock pri

As of December 31, 2021, Ziff Davis owned 19.9% of the cconomic interest and voting power of our outstanding common stock. Future sales of these shares in the public market will be subject to the volume and other restrictions of Rule 144 under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), for so long as Ziff Davis s deemed to be our affiliate, unless the shares to be sold are registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. We are a party to a Stockholder and Registration Rights Agreement with
4t Davis, pursuan o which e agreed: upon requestof Zf Davis, e will s our ressribe st efot o ffc he cegistrton undor appieable fedral and st scurtes laws of any shares ofourcommon stok tht i retains. We have received a requet from Zff

Davis to register all shares of our common stock held by Ziff Davis. We are unable to predict with certainty whether or when Ziff Davis will distribute to holders of Ziff Davis debt and/or Ziff Davis stockholders, or sell, a substantial number of shares of our common stock
following the distribution Sales by ZiT Davis or thers of  subsantial number of sharcs afe the dsibuion.ora precption ha such sles could oeeur, could sigiiantly reduce the marketprice of our common stock.

Immediately following the distribution, we filed a registration statement on Form S-8§ registering under the Securities Act the shares of our common stock reserved for issuance under our 2021 Equity Incentive Plan. If equity securities granted under our 2021 Equity
Incentive Plan are sold or it is perceived that they will be sold in the public market, the trading price of our common stock could decline substantially. These sales also could impede our ability to raise future capital

Certain provisions in our amended and restated certificate of i ion and amended and restated bylaws, and of Delaware law, may prevent or delay an acquisition of Consensus, which could decrease the trading price of our common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain, and Delaware law contains, provisions that are intended to deter coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids and to encourage prospective acquirers to
negotiate with our board of directors rather than to attempt a hostile takeover. These provisions will, among other things:

permit our Board of Directors to issue one or more series of preferred stock with such powers, rights and preferences as the Board of Directors shall determine;

subject to a five-year sunset from the date of the distribution, provide for a classified Board of Directors, with each class serving a staggered three-year term, which could have the effect of making the replacement of incumbent directors more time consuming
and difficult;

provide that, as long as our Board of Diretors s classified, our dircctors can be removed for cause only;

prohibit stockholder action by written consent;

limit the ability of stockholders to call a special meeting of stockholders;

provide that vacancies on the Board of Directors could be filled only by a majority vote of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director; and

establish advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations of candidates for election as directors.

‘These provisions may prevent or discourage atiempts to remove and replace incumbent directors. In addition, these limitations may adversely affect the prevailing market price and market for our common stock if they are viewed as limiting the liquidity of our stock
or discouraging takeover attempts in the future.

Because we have not chosen to be exempt from Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”), this provision could also delay or prevent a change of control that stockholders may favor. Section 203 provides that, subject to
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limited exceptions, persons that acquire, or are affiliated with a person that acquires, more than 15% of the outstanding voting stock of a Delaware corporation shall not engage in any business combination with that corporation, including by merger, consolidation or
acquisitions of additional shares, for a three-year period following the date on which that person or their affiliates becomes the holder of more than 15% of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock.

In addition, an acquisition or further issuance of our common stock could trigger the application of Section 355(e) of the Code, causing the distribution to be taxable to Ziff Davis. Under the tax matters agreement, we would be required to indemnify Ziff Davis for
the resulting tax, and this indemnity obligation might discourage, delay or prevent a change of control that you may consider favorable.

Our amended and restated bylaws designate the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, and the United States federal district courts as the
exclusive forum for claims under the Securities Act, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain what such stockholders believe to be a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees.

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless Consensus consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive forum for (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of Consensus, (b) any action asserting a claim of
breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer or other employee, agent or stockholder of Consensus to Consensus or its stockholders, (¢) any action asserting a claim against Consensus or any current or former director, officer or other employee of
Consensus arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or bylaws or as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or (d) any action asserting a claim against
Consensus or any current or former director, officer or other employee of Consensus governed by the internal affairs doctrine shall, in each case to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or if such court does not have subject
matter jurisdiction, a the federal district court for the District of Delaware. Furthermore, unless Consensus consents in writing to the selection of an alternafive forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of
any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act or the rules or regulations thereunder. Our exclusive forum provision will not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder,
and investors cannot waive compliance with the federal sccurities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. These exclusive provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that he, she or it believes to be favorable for disputes with us or
our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits. It i possible that a court could find these exclusive forum provisions inapplicable or unenforceable with respect to one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings, and we may incur
additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and result in a diversion of the time and resources of our management and board of directors.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish misleading or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

‘The trading market for Consensus’ common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business. We currently have five research analysts covering Consensus’ common stock. If one or more of the
analysts downgrades our stock or publishes misleading or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of the analysts ceases coverage of Consensus® common stock or fails to publish reports on us regularly, demand for
Consensus’ common stock could decrease, which could cause Consensus’ common stock price or trading volume to decline.

Risks Related To the Separation

If the distribution, together with certain related transactions, does not qualify as a transaction that is generally tax-fiee for U.S. federal income tax purposes, Ziff Davis, Consensus and Ziff Davis stockholders could be subject to significant tax liabilitics, and, in
certain circumstances, Consensus could be required to indemnify Ziff Davis for material taxes and other related amounts pursuant to indemnification obligations under the tax matters agreement.

Prior to the completion of the separation and distribution the Parent Company received (i) a private letter ruling from the IRS regarding certain U.S. federal income tax matters relating to the separation and related transactions and (if) an opinion from s tax advisors
regarding the qualification of the distribution, together with certain related transactions, as generally tax-free, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, under Sections 355 and 368(a)(1)(D) of the Code. Such opinions and IRS private letter ruling are based. among other things,
on various facts and assumptions, as well as certain representations, statements and
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undertakings of Ziff Davis and Consensus. If any of these facts, 1 statements or i, or becomes, inaccurate or incomplete, or if Ziff Davis or Consensus breach any of their respective covenants contained in any of the separation-
related agrecents o in the documents eating o the IRS privat et ruling and/orany tax opnion,the IRS private It rling ndlor any tx opinion may b inalid Accordingly, nowithsianding recipt ofthe IRS prvate It rling andlor opnins o ofcounscl or other
external tax advisors, the IRS could determine that the distribution and certain related transactions should be treated as taxable transactions for U.S. federal income tax purposes if it determines that any of the facts, st

that were included in the request for the IRS private letter ruling or on which any opinion was based are false or have been violated. In addition, the IRS private letter ruling does not address all of the issues that are o to determining whether he. dlsmbuuon together
with certain related transactions, qualifies as a transaction that is generally tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and an opinion of outside counsel or other external tax advisor represents the judgment of such counsel or advisor which is not binding on the IRS or any
court. Accordingly, notwithstanding receipt by of the IRS private letter ruling and the tax opinions referred to above, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not assert that the distribution and/or certain related transactions do not qualify for tax-free treatment for U.S,
federal income tax purposes or that a court would not sustain such a challenge. In the event the IRS were to prevail with such challenge, Ziff Davis, Consensus and Ziff Davis's stockholders could be subject to significant U.S. federal income tax liability.

If the distribution, together with certain related transactions, fails to qualify as a transaction that is generally tax-free under Sections 355 and 368(a)(1)(D) of the Code, in general, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, Ziff Davis would recognize taxable gain as if it
has sold the Consensus common stock in a taxable sale for its fair market value and Ziff Davis stockholders who received shares of Consensus common stock in the distribution would be subject to tax as if they had eceived a taxabl disibution equal to the fair market
value of such shares.

Under the tax matters agreement entered into by Ziff Davis and Consensus in connection with the separation, Consensus generally is required to indemnify Ziff Davis for any taxes resulting from the separation (and any related costs and other damages) to the extent
such amounts resulted from (i) an acquisition of all or a portion of the equity securities or assets of Consensus, whether by merger or otherwise (and regardless of whether Consensus participated in or otherwise facilitated the acquisition) (ii) other actions or failures to act by
Consensus or (iif) any of the representations or undertakings of Consensus contained in any of the separation-related agreements or in the documents relating to the IRS private letter ruling and/or any tax opinion being incorrect or violated. Any such indemnity obligations
could be material.

In addition, Ziff Davis, Consensus and their respective subsidiaries may incur certain tax costs in connection with the separation, including non-U.S. tax costs resulting from separations in multiple non-U.S. jurisdictions that do not legally provide for tax-free
separations, which may be material.

We may not be able to engage in desirable strategic or capital-raising transactions following the separation.

To preserve the tax-free treatment of the separation and the distribution for U.S. federal income tax purposes, for the three-year period following the separation, we are prohibited under the tax matters agreement, except in specific circumstances, from: (i) entering
into any transaction pursuant to which all or a portion of the shares of Consensus common stock would be acquired, whether by merger or otherwise, (i) issuing equity securities beyond certain thresholds, iii) repurchasing shares of our common stock other than in certain
open-market transactions, (iv) ceasing to actively conduct certain of our businesses or (v) taking or failing to take any other action that would prevent the distribution and certain related transactions from qualifying as a transaction that is generally tax-free for U.S. federal
income tax purposes under Sections 355 and 368(a)(1)(D) of the Code. These restrictions may limit for a period of time our ability to pursue certain strategic transactions, equity issuances or repurchases or other transactions that we may believe to be in the best interests of
our stockholders or that might increase the value of our business.

We have a limited history of operating as an independent company and have incurred and expect to continue to incur increased administrative and other costs following the separation by virtue of our status as an independent public company. Our historical financial
information is not necessarily representative of the results that we would have achieved as a separate, publicly traded company and may not be  reliable indicator of our future results.

Our historical financial information for periods prior to the separation included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is derived from the consolidated financial statements and accounting records of 2 Cloud Services, LLC (“Historical Cloud Services™), a wholly

owned subsidiary of J2 Global, Inc. (now Ziff Davis). As a tesult, the historical financial information for periods prior to the scparation include in this Annual Report on Form 10-K does not necessarily reflect the financisl position, results of operations or cash flows of
Consensus following the separation or what Consensus’ financial position, results o

30-




operations and cash flows would have been had Consensus been a separate, standalone business during such periods. Furthermore, the Historical Cloud Services financial information does not necessarily reflect the financial condition, results of operations or cash flows that
we would have achieved as a separate, publicly traded company during the periods presented or those that we will achieve in the future primarily as a result of the following factors, among others:

« Prior to the separation, while our business operated on a relatively standalone basis, Ziff Davis or one of its affiliates performed various corporate functions for us such as legal, treasury, accounting, internal auditing, human resources and corporate affairs, and
also provided our IT and other corporate infrastructure. Our historical financial results for periods prior to the separation reflect allocations of corporate expenses from Ziff Davis for such functions and are likely to be less than the expenses we would have
incurred had we operated as a separate publicly traded company. Following the separation, our costs related to such functions previously performed by Ziff Davis have increased.

+ To some extent historically, we have shared certain economies of scope and scale with Ziff Davis. Although we have entered into certain agreements (including a transition services agreement) with Ziff Davis in connection with the separation, these
arrangements may not fully capture the benefits that we enjoyed as a result of being with a subsidiary of Ziff Davis and could result in us paying higher charges than in the past for these services.

* While Historical Cloud Services has engaged in some debt financing transactions specifically for its business, a substantial portion of its working capital requirements and capital for our general corporate purposes, including acquisitions and capital
expenditures, were historically satisfied as part of the corporate-wide cash management policies of Ziff Davs. In connetion with the separation, we have entered into certain financing arrangements. We may also need to obtain additional financing from banks,
through public offerings or private placements of debt or equity securities, strategic relationships or other arrangements.

« Following the separation, the cost of capital for our business may be higher than Ziff Davis’s cost of capital prior to the separation.

+ Other significant changes may oceur in our cost structure, financing and b : a result of operating as a company separate from Ziff Davis.

Our debt obligations could adversely affect our business and our ability to meet our obligations and pay dividends.

As of April 1, 2022, Consensus has total outstanding indebtedness of approximately $805 million. We may also incur additional indebtedness in the future. This significant amount of debt could have important adverse consequences to us and our investors,
including:

* requiring a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to make principal and interest payments;
+ making it more difficult to satisfy other obligations;

« increasing the risk of a future credit ratings downgrade of our debt, which could increase future deb costs and limit the future availability of debt financing;
« inereasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic, competitive and industry conditions;

* reducing the cash flows available to fund capital tures and other corporate d to grow our business;

« limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry;
« placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared with our less-leveraged competitors;
« inereasing our cost of borrowing; and

« limiting our ability to borrow additional funds as needed or take advantage of business opportunities as they arise, pay cash dividends or repurchase our common stock.
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In addition, the indentures governing our indebtedness contain, and the agreements governing any future indebtedness may contain, resirictive covenants that may |
comply with those covenants could result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could result in the acceleration of substantially all of our debt.

nit our ability to engage in activities that may be in our long-term best interest. Our failure to

Furthermore, we may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future. The terms of our outstanding indebtedness limit, but do not prohibit, us from incurring additional indebtedness, and the additional indebtedness incurred in compliance with these
restrictions could be substantial. These restrictions will also not prevent us from incurring obligations that do not constitute “indebtedness.” If new indebtedness is added to our current debt levels, the related risks that we now face could intensify.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebiedness, and may be forced o take other actions to satisfy our obligations under our indebiedness, which may not be successful.

Our ability to make scheduled payments due on our debt obligations or to refinance our debt obligations depends on our financial condition and operating performance, which are subject to prevailing economic, indusiry, and competitive conditions and to certain
financial, business, legislative, regulatory, and other factors beyond our control, including those discussed elsewhere in this *Risk Factors” section. We may be unable to maintain a level of cash flow sufficient to permit us to pay the principal, premiurm, if any, and interest on
our indebtedness.

If our cash flow and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we could face substantial liquidity problems and could be forced to reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures or to dispose of material assets or operations, seck
additional debt or equity capital o restructure or refinance our indebtedness. We may not be able to implement any such alternative measures on commercially reasonable terms or at all and, even if successful, those alternative actions may not allow us to meet our scheduled
debt service obligations. The indentures governing our indebtedness will restrict, and the agreements governing any future indebtedness may restrict, our ability to dispose of assets and use the proceeds from those dispositions and may also restrict our ability to raise debt or
equity capital to be used to repay other indebtedness when it becomes due. We may not be able to consummate those dispositions or to obtain proceeds in an amount sufficient to meet any debt service obligations then due.

If we cannot make payments on our debt obligations, we will be in default and all outstanding principal and interest on our debt may be declared due and payable and we could be forced into bankruptey or liquidation.
In addition, any event of default or declaration of acceleration under one debt instrument could result in an event of default under one or more of our other debt instruments.
We or Ziff Davis may fail to perform under the transition services agreement and other transaction agreements that were executed as part of the separation, and we may not have necessary systems and services in place when these transaction agreements expire.

In connection with the separation, we entered into several agreements with Ziff Davis, including among others a transition services agreement, a separation agreement, a tax matters agreement, an employee matters agreement, an intellectual property license
agreement and a stockholder and registration rights agreement with respect to Ziff Davis’ continuing ownership of Consensus common stock. The transition servi t provides for the f certain services by each company for the benefit of the other for a
transition period afler the separation. The scparation agreement, tax matters agreement, employee matters agreement and intellectual property license agreement determine the allocation of assets and liabilitics between the companies following the separation for those
respective areas and include any necessary indemnifications related to liabilities and obligations. We rely on Ziff Davis to satisfy its performance and payment obligations under these agreements. If Ziff Davis is unable to satisfy its obligations under these agreements,
including its obligations with respect to the provision of transition services, we could incur operational difficulties or losses that could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, if we do not have in place our own systems and services, or if we do not have agreements with other providers of these services in place once certain transition services expire, we may not be able to operate our business effectively and our profitability
may decline. We are in the process of creating our own, or engaging third parties to provide, systems and services to replace many of the systems and services that Ziff Davis currently provides to us and/or will provide to us under the transition services agreement. However,
we may not be successful in implementing these systems and services or




in transitioning from Ziff Davi

stems to our own systems, and may pay more for such systems and services that we currently pay or that we will pay under the transition services agreement.

Potential indemnification liabilites to Ziff Davis pursuant to the separation agreement could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

‘The separation agreement provide for, among other things, indemnification obligations generally designed to make s financially responsible for (i) liabilities primarily associated with the Consensus business; (i) our failure to pay, perform or otherwise promptly
discharge any such liabilities or contracts, in accordance with their respective terms, whether prior to, at or after the distribution; (i) any guarantee, indemnification obligation, surety bond or other credit support agreement, arrangement, commitment or understanding by
Ziff Davis for our benefit, unless related to liabilities primarily associated with the Ziff Davis business; (iv) any breach by us of the separation agreement or any of the ancillary agreements or any action by us in contravention of our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation or amended and restated bylaws; and (v) any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, with
respect to all information contained in the registration statement of which this Form 10-K forms a part (as amended or supplemented) or any other disclosure document that describes the separation or the distribution or Consensus and its subsidiaries or primarily relates to the
transactions contemplated by the separation agreement, subject to certain exceptions. If we are required to indemnify Ziff Davis under the circumstances set forth in the separation agreement, we may be subject to substantial liabilities.

In connection with the separation, es. However, there can be no assurance that the indemnity will be sufficient to insure us against the full amount of such liabilities, or that Ziff Davis’s ability to satisfy its
indemnification obligation will not be impaired in the future. Additionally, third parties could also seek to hold us responsible for any of the liabilities that Ziff Davis has agreed to retain. In addition, Ziff Davis’s insurers may atiempt to deny us coverage for liabilities
associated with certain occurrences of indemnified liabilities prior to the separation. Moreover, even if we ultimately succeed in recovering from Ziff Davis or such insurance providers any amounts for which we are held liable, we may be temporarily required to bear these
losses. Each of these risks could negatively affect our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows

Davis is required to indemnify us for certain liabi

We are subject to continuing contingent liabilities following the separation.

Following the separation, there arc several significant arcas where the liabilties of Ziff Davis may become our obligations. For example, under the Code and the related rules and regulations, eas,h comortion that was a member of the Ziff Davis consolidated U.S.
federal income tax return group. a taxable period or portion of a taxable period ending on or before the cffective date of the distribution is severally liable for the UL.S. federal income tax liabil F Davis consolidated U.S. federal income tax return group for
that taxable period. Consequently, if Ziff Davis is unable to pay the consolidated U.S. federal income tax liability for a pre-separation period, we could be required to pay the amount of such tax, which could be substantial and in excess of the amount allocated to us under the
tax matters agreement. Other provisions of federal law establish similar liability for other matters, including laws governing tax-qualified pension plans, as well as other contingent liabilitis.

Potential liabilities may arise due to fraudulent transfer considerations, which would adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

In connection with the separation and distribution, Ziff Davis undertook several corporate reorganization transactions involving its subsidiaries which, along with the separation and distribution, may be subject to federal and state fraudulent conveyance and transfer
laws. If, under these laws, a court were to determine that, at the time of the separation and distribution, any entity involved in these reorganization transactions or the separation and distribution

was insolvent;

was rendered insolvent by reason of the separation and distribution;

had remaining assets constituting unreasonably small capital; or

intended to incur, or believed it would incur, debts beyond its ability to pay these debts as they matured,
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then the court could void the separation and distribution, in whole or in part, as a fraudulent conveyance or transfer. The court could then require our stockholders to return to Ziff Davis some or all of the shares of Consensus common stock issued in the distribution,
or require Ziff Davis or Consensus, as the case may be, to fund liabilities of the other company for the benefit of creditors. The measure of insolvency will vary depending upon the jurisdiction whose law is being applied. Generally, however, an entity would be considered
insolvent if the fair value of its assets was less than the amount of its liabilties, or if it incurred debt beyond its ability to repay the debt as it matures.

Certain members of management, directors and shareholders hold stock in both Ziff Davis and Consensus, and as a result may fuce actual or potential conflicts of interest.
Certain members of management and directors own both Ziff Davis common stock and Consensus common stock. This ownership overlap could create, or appear to ereate, potential conflicts of interest when our management and directors face decisions that could

have different implications for us and Ziff Davis. For example, potential conflicts of interest could arise in connection with the resolution of any dispute between Ziff Davis and us regarding the terms of the agreements governing the distribution and our relationship with Ziff
Davis thereafier. Potential conflicts of interest may also arise out of any commercial arrangements that we or Ziff Davis may enter into in the future.
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As an independent, publicly traded company, we may not enjoy the same benefits that were available 1o us as a business unit of Ziff Davis. It may be more costly for us to separately obtain or perform the various corporate functions that Ziff Davis performed for us
prior to the separation, such as legal, treasury, accounting, auditing, human resources, investor relations, public affairs, finance and cash management services.

Historically, our business has been operated as one of Ziff Davis’s business units, and Ziff Davis performed certain of the corporate functions for our operations. Following the distribution, Ziff Davis provides support to us with respect to certain of these functions
on a transitional basis. We have replicated, and must continue to replicate, certain systems, infrastructure and personnel to which we no longer have access and have incurred, and expect to continue to incur, capital and other costs associated with developing and
implementing our own support functions in these areas. Such costs could be material.

As an independent, publicly traded company, we may become more susceptible to market fluctuations and other adverse events than we would have been were we still a part of Ziff Davis. As part of Ziff Davis, we were able to enjoy certain benefits from Ziff
avis’s operating diversity and available capital for investments and other uses. As an independent, publicly traded company, we do not have similar operating diversity and may not have similar access to capital markets, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2. Prope

Pri

pal Executive Offices

Our principal executive offices, including our global headquarters, are located at 700 S. Flower Street, 15th Floor, Los Angeles, California 90017. This location is under a lease that expires on January 31, 2031 and has approximately 48,000 square feet of office
space,

Headquarters of Global Offices
The location of our global headquarters are as follows:
Americas Europe Asia Pacific
Ontario, Canada Dublin, Ireland Tokyo, Japan

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

See Note 11, “Commi d C .10 our dated financial statements for a description of our legal proceedings.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART I

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information
Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “CCSI ™.
Holders
‘We had 180 registered stockholders as of April 12, 2022. That number excludes the beneficial owners of shares held in “street” name or held through participants in depositories.
Dividends
‘We have no present intention to pay cash dividends on our common stock. Any determination to pay dividends to holders of our common stock will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon many factors, including our financial condition,

results of operations, projections, liquidity, camings, legal requirements, restrictions in our existing and any future debt and other factors that our board of directors deems relevant. Our current debt agreements could trigger restriction on dividend payments under certain
cireumstance but currently there no restrictions,

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
Not applicable

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Not applicable.

Performance Graph

“This performance graph shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act of 1934, or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Consensus under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act.

The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return for Consensus, the Nasdag Composite and an index of companies that Consensus has selected as its peer group in the cloud services for business space.

Consensus’ peer group index for 2021 consists of Bottomline Technologies, Inc., Box, Inc. CommonVault Systems, Inc., Ebix, Inc., HealthStream, Inc. LiveRamp, Inc., NextGen Healtheare, Inc. OneSpan, Inc. Phreesia, Inc., Progress Software Corp., SecureWorks
Corp., Tabula Rasa HealthCare, Inc., Vocera Communications, Inc., and Yext, Inc.

Consensus common stock has been listed on the Nasdaq under the symbol “CCSI” since October 8, 2021. Prior to that time, there was no public market for our common stock. Measurement points for the performance graph are October 8, 2021 and the last rading
day of each month from October 2021 to December 2021. The graph assumes that $100 was invested on October 8, 2021 in Consensus’ common stock and in each of the indices. The stock price performance on the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock
price performance.

Measurement Consensus Cloud Nasdaq 2021 Peer

Date Solutions, Inc. Composite Group Index
Oct-21 100.00 100.00 100.00
Oct-21 97.61 107.29 103.99
Nov-21 96.55 107.65 94.04
Dec-21 89.20 108.45 96.89



Index Value
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Item 6. [Reserved]

Item 7. Management’s

cussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

In addition to historical information, the following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. The
actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of many factors, including but not limited to those discussed in Part I, ltem 14 - “Risk Factors" in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Readers are cautioned not to
place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s opinions only as of the date hereof. We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revision to these forward-looking statements, except as required
Readers should carefully review the Risk Factors and the risk factors set forth in other documents we file from time to time with the SEC.

Overview

On October 7, 2021, J2 Global, Inc. completed its previously announced plans to separate into two leading publicly traded companies: one addressing healthcare interoperability and comprising the Cloud Fax business, which does business as Consensus Cloud
Solutions, Inc. (“Consensus” or “the Company”), and one that will continue J2 Global’s strategy of building a leading intemet platform focused on key verticals, including technology & gaming, shopping, health, cybersecurity and martech, which does business as Ziff Davis,
We refer to the transactions that resulted in the separation of Consensus and Ziff Davis into two separate publicly traded companies s the “scparation and distribution.”

Following the scparation and distribution, Consensus is a leading provider of secure information delivery services with a scalable Software-as-a-Service (“Saa$”) platform. Consensus serves more than one million customers of all sizes, from enterprises to
individuals, across over 50 countries and multiple industry verticals including healthcare, financial services, law ‘and education. Beginning as an online fax company over two decades ago, Consensus has evolved into a leading global provider of enterprise secure
communication solutions. Consensus is well positioned to capitalize on advancements in how people and businesses share private documents and information. Its mission s to democratize secure information interchange across technologies and industrics, and solve the
healtheare interoperability challenge. Consensus’s communication and interoperability solutions enable its customers to securely and cooperatively access, exchange and use information across organizational, regional and national boundaries.

‘The COVID-19 pandemic continues to have widespread, rapidly evolving and unpredictable impacts on global economies, inflation, supply chains, work force participation and wages, and has created significant volatility and disruption in financial markets. Our
focus remains on promoting employee health and safety and serving our customers. During fiscal 2021, we have observed an increasingly competitive labor market. Increased employee tumover, changes in the availability of our employees, including as a result of COVID-
19-related absences, and labor shortages generally have resulted in, and could continue to result in, inereased costs, and could adversely impact the efficiency of our perations. We continu to actively monitor the situation and will continue to adapt our business operations
as necessary.

Its of operations and financial condition of Consensus (“MD&A”) section, we use the terms “the Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” to refer to Consensus. References in this MD&A section to
ts consolidated subsidiaries (now known as Ziff Davis)

For purposes of this management's discussion and analysis of the res
“Parent” or “Parent Company” refer to Ziff Davis, Inc. Inc., collectively

Key Performance Metrics

We use the following metrics to evaluate our business, including the growth of our business, the value provided by customers to our business, and our customer retention.
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The following table sets forth certain key operating metrics for Consensus continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands, except for percentages):

Years ended December 31,

2021 2019
Revenue (§ in thousands)
Corporate s 169732 $ 148981 § 135353
SoHo 182,390 181784 186.237
Consolidated 352,122 330,765 321,590
Other Revenues 542 403 969
s 352664 S BLIG S 322,559
Average Revenue per Customer Account (“ARPA
Corporate s 30842 S 27646 $ 25646
SoHo 1440 1432 1446
Consolidated s 2665 S 2499 S 2399
Customer Accounts (in thousands)(
Corporate 45 47 43
SoHo 1,039 1072 1044
Consolidated 1,084 119 1,087
Paid Adds (in thousands)®
Corporate 13 12 7
SoHo 41 423 372
Consolidated ) 35 379
Monthly Churn %
Corporate 2.68% 164% 178%
oHo 337% 321% 323%
Consolidated 334% 315% 317%
" Consensus customers are defined as paying Corporate and SoHo customer accounts
o

Represents a monthly ARPA calculated for the quarter or year caleulated as follows. Monthly ARPA on a quarterly basis is calculated using our standard convention of dividing revenue for the quarter by the average of the quarter’s beginning and ending customer
base and dividing that amount by 3 months. Monthly ARPA on an annual basis is caleulated by g revenue for the year by the average customer base for the applicable four quarters an

ing that amount by 12 months. We belicve ARPA provides investors
an understanding of the average monthly revenues we recognize per account associated within Consensus® customer base. As ARPA varies based on fixed subscription fee and variable usage components, we believe it can serve as a measure by which investors can
evaluate trends in the types of services, levels of services and the usage levels of those services across Consensus’ customers.

Paid Adds represents paying new Consensus customer accounts added during the annual

i
Monthly churn is defined as Consensus paying customer accounts that cancelled its services during the period divided by the average number of customers over the period. This measure s calculated monthly and expressed as an average over the applicable period.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

‘We prepare our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and operating results require us to make judgments,
assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. See Note 2, “Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” of the notes to consolidated financial statements in Part II,
Item § of this Form 10-K which describes the significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions we believe to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ significantly from those estimates under different assumptions and conditions and may be material.

We believe that our most eritical accounting policies are those related to revenue recognition, share-based compensation expense, fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with business combinations, long-lived and intangible asset
impairment, contingent consideration, income taxes and contingencies and allowance for doubtful accounts. We consider these policies critical because they are those that are most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results and require management’s
most difficult, subjective and complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. Senior management has reviewed these critical accounting policies and related disclosures with the Audit Committee of
the Company’s Board of Directors.

Emerging Growth Company Status

We are an emerging growth company, as defined in Section 3(a) of the Exchange Act, as amended by the JOBS Act. For as long as we are an emerging growth company, we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are
applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including. but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements in the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act,” reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports, proxy statements and registration statements and exemptions from the requirement of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on
executive compensation, exemption from new or revised financial accounting

Revenue Recognition

Our revenues substantially consist of monthly recurring subscription and usage-based fees, the majority of which are paid in advance by credit card. We defer the portions of monthly, quarterly, semi-annually and annually recurring subscription and usage-based fees
collected in advance of the satisfaction of performance obligations and recognizes them in the period eamed.

Along with our numerous proprictary solutions, we also generated revenues by reselling various third-party solutions. These third-party solutions, along with our proprietary products, allowed us to offer customers a variety of solutions to better meet their nceds. We
recorded revenue on a gross basis with respect to reseller revenue because we have control of the specified good or service prior to transferring control to the customer.

Share-Based Compensation Expense

‘We account for share-based awards to employees and non-employees in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC Topic No. 718, C - Stock C: (“ASC718") dingly, we measure share-based compensation expense at the grant date,
based on the fair value of the award, and recognize the expense over the employee’s requisite service period using the straight-line method. The measurement of share-based compensation expense is based on several criteria including, but not limited to, the valuation model
used and associated input factors, such as expected term of the award, stock price volatility, risk free interest rate, dividend rate and award cancellation rate. These inputs are subjective and are determined using management’s judgment. If differences arise between the
assumptions used in determining share-based compensation expense and the actual factors, which become known over time, we may change the input factors used in determining future share-based compensation expense. Any such changes could materially
results of operations in the period in which the changes are made and in periods thereafter. The Company estimates the expected term based upon the historical exercise behavior of our employees.
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Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived and Intangible Assets

‘We account for long-lived assets, which include property and equipment, operating lease right-of-use assets and identifiable intangible assets with finite useful lives (subject to amortization), in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC Topic No. 360, Property,
Plant, and Equipment (“ASC 360"), which requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability is measured by comparing the carrying
amount of an asset to the expected undiscounted future net cash flows generated by the asset. If it is determined that the asset may not be recoverable, and if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated fair value, an impairment charge is recognized to the extent of
the difference.

‘We assess the impairment of identifiable definite-lived intangibles and long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors we consider important which could individually or in combination
trigger an impairment review include the following:

Significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;

Significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business;

Significant negative industry or economic trends;
Significant decline in our stock price for a sustained period; and
Our market capitalization relative to net book value.

If we determined that the carrying value of definite-lived intangibles and long-lived assets may not be recoverable based upon the existence of one or more of the above indicators of impairment, we would record an impairment equal o the excess of the carrying
amount of the asset over its estimated fair value. We have assessed whether events or changes in circumstances have occurred that potentially indicate the carrying amount of definite-lived intangibles and long-lived assets may not be recoverable. We recorded total
impairment of $7.5 million related to operating lease right-of-use assets, of which $6.5 million is related to continuing operations and $1.0 million is related to discontinued operations. Additionally, we recorded an impairment charge of $1.7 million for property and
cquipment for the year ended December 31, 2021. The impairment is related to the Company’s decision to exit and seek subleases for certain leased facilities primarily due to a distributed workforce as a result of the pandemic. As we seek to retun to offices, we will seek a
hybrid return to office model. No impairment was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2020, and 2019, respectively.

‘The Company classifies its long-lived assets to be sold as held for sale in the period (i) it has approved and committed to a plan to sell the asset, (i) the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition, (iii) an active program to locate a buyer and other
actions required to sell the asset have been initiated, (iv) the sale of the asset is probable, (v) the asset is being actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair value, and (vi it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be made or
that the plan will be withdrawn. The Company initially measures a long-lived asset that is classified as held for sale at the lower of its carrying value or fair value less any costs to sell. Any loss resulting from this measurement is recognized in the period in which the held for
sale criteria are met. Conversely, gains are not recognized on the sale of a long-lived asset until the date of sale. Upon designation as an asset held for sale, the Company stops recording depreciation expense on the asset. The Company assesses the fair value of a long-lived
asset less any costs to sell at each reporting period and until the asset is no longer classified as held for sale.

Business Combinations and Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We apply the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations in accordance with GAAP and uses estimates and judgments to allocate the purchase price paid for acquisitions to the fair value of the assets, including identifiable intangible assets and
liabilties acquired. Such estimates may be based on significant nobservable inputs and assumptions such s, but not limited to, revenue growth rates, gross margins, customer arition rates, royalty rates, discount rates and terminal growth rate assumptions. We use
established valuation techniques and may engage reputable valuation specialists to assist with the valuations. Management’s estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result,
actual results may differ from estimates. Fair values are subject to refinement for up to one year after the closing date of an acquisition as information relative to closing date fair values becomes available. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period, any subsequent
adjustments are recorded to camings.
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Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible asset d in a business Intangible assets resulting from the acquisitions of entities accounted for using the acquisition method of
accounting are recorded at the estimated fair value of the assets acquired. Identifiable intangible assets are comprised of purchased customer relationships, trademarks and trade names, developed technologies and other intangible assets. Intangible assets subject to
amortization are amortized over the period of estimated economic benefit ranging from one to 20 years and are included in general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Income. We evaluate our goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for
impairment pursuant to FASB ASC Topic No. 350, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (*ASC 350°), which provides that goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but tested for impairment annually or more frequently if we believe indicators
of impairment exist. In connection with the annual impairment test for goodwill, we have the option to perform a qualitative assessment in determining whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If we determine
that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit s less than ts carrying amount, then we perform the impairment test upon goodwill. The impairment test involves comparing the fair values of the applicable reporting units with their aggregate carrying
values, including goodwill. We generally determine the fair value of our reporting units using the income approach methodology of valuation. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value, an impairment loss is recognized for the difference.

Contingent Consideration

Certain of our acquisition agreements include contingent eam-out arrangements, which are generally based on the achievement of future income thresholds or other metrics. The contingent earn-out arrangements are based upon our valuations of the acquired
companies and reduce the risk of overpaying for acquisitions if the projected financial results are not achieved.

‘The fair values of these earn-out arrangements are included as part of the purchase price of the acquired companies on their respective acquisition dates. For each transaction, we estimate the fair value of contingent earn-out payments as part of the initial purchase
price and record the estimated fair value of contingent consideration as a liability on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. We consider several factors when determining that contingent car-out liabilities are part of the purchase price, including the following: (1) the valuation of
our acquisitions is not supported solely by the initial consideration paid, and the contingent ear-out formula is a critical and material component of the valuation approach to determining the purchase price; and (2) the former sharcholders of acquired companies that remain
as key employees receive compensation other than contingent carn-out payments at a reasonable level compared with the compensation of our other key employees. The contingent earn-out payments are not affected by employment termination.

We measure our contingent carn-out liabilities in connection with acquisitions at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (sce Note 6 - Fair Value Measurements of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements). We may use various valuation techniques depending on the terms and conditions of the commgm consideration including a Monte-Carlo simulation. This simulation uses probability distribution for cach significant input to produce
hundreds or thousands of possible outcomes and the results are analyzed to determine probabilities of different outcomes occurring. Significant increases or decreases to these inputs in isolation would result in a significantly higher or lower liability with a higher liability
capped by the contractual maximum of the contingent car-out obligation. Ultimately, the liability will be equivalent to the amount p;ud, and the difference between the fair value estimate and amount paid will be recorded in earnings. The amount paid that is less than or
equal to the liability on the acquisition date is reflected as cash used in financing activities in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Any amount paid in excess of the liability on the acquisition date is reflected as cash used in operating activities.

/e review and re-assess the estimated fair value of contingent consideration on a quarterly basis, and the updated fair value could be materially different from the initial estimates or prior quarterly amounts. Changes in the estimated fair value of our contingent cam-
out liabilities and adjustments to the estimated fair value related to changes in all other unobservable inputs are reported in general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Income Taxes

For historical periods, we are included in the federal consolidated and state consolidated income tax returns with Ziff Davis and its other subsidiarics. For purposes of the Consolidated Financial Statements, our taxes were determined using the scparate return
method as if we had filed separate tax retumns. In addition, our income is subject to taxation in both the U.S. and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in evaluating our tax positions and determining its provision for income taxes. During the
ordinary course of business, there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
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tax determination is uncertain. We establish reserves for tax-related uncertainties based on estimates of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due. These reserves for tax contingencies are established when we believe that certain positions might be
challenged despite our belief that our tax return positions are fully supportable. We adjust these reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the outcome of a tax audit or lapse of a statute of . The provision for income taxes includes the impact of
reserve provisions and changes to reserves that are considered appropriate.

‘We account for income taxes in accordance with FASB ASC Topic No. 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740"), which requires that deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized using enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary differences between the book and tax
basis of recorded assets and liabilities. GAAP also requires that deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some or all of the net deferred tax assets will not be realized. Our valuation allowance is reviewed quarterly based upon
the facts and circumstances known at the time. In assessing this valuation allowance, we review historical and future expected operating results and other factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets are realizable.

Income Tax Contingencies

‘We calculate current and deferred tax provisions based on estimates and assumptions that could differ from the actual results reflected in income tax returns filed during the following year. Adjustments based on filed returns are recorded when identified in the
subsequent year.

ASC 740 provides guidance on the minimum threshold that an uncertain income tax position is required to meet before it can be recognized in the financial statements and applies to all tax positions taken by 2 company. ASC 740 contains a two-step approach to
recognizing and measuring uncertain income fax positions. The first step is to evaluate the income tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including
resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement. If it is not more likely than not that the benefit will be sustained on its technical
merits, no benefit will be recorded. Uncertain income tax positions that relate only to timing of when an item is included on a tax return are considered to have met the recognition threshold. We recognize acerued interest and penalties related to uncertain income tax
positions in income tax expense on our Consolidated Statements of Income. On a quarterly basis, we evaluate uncertain income tax positions and establish or release reserves as appropriate under GAAP.

As a multinational corporation, we are subject to taxation in many jurisdictions, and the calculation of our tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws and regulations in various taxing jurisdictions. Our estimate of the
potential outcome of any uncertain tax issue is subject to management’s assessment of relevant risks, facts and circumsiances existing at that time. Therefore, the actual liability for U.S. or foreign taxes may be materially different from our estimates, which could result in the
need to record additional tax liabilities or potentially to reverse previously recorded tax liabilities. In addition, we may be subject to examination of our tax returns by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and other domestic and foreign tax authorities.

Non-Income Tax Contingencies

‘The Company has not historically withheld sales tax in states where it was not able to quantify the appropriate sales tax to be withheld. The Company believes it is probable that sales tax liability exists for its corporate accounts for the periods 2017 through 2021
However, the Company is currently unable to determine which of these customers are either exempt organizations or resellers and are thus exempt from sales tax. Therefore it cannot estimate the sales tax liability for these corporate customers. The Company is currently
analyzing the pool of corporate customers subject to sales tax in order to estimate the liability and will record an acerual when the exposure is estimable. The Company currently cannot estimate the range of sales tax lability for corporate customers.

In the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company determined that a sales tax liability is probable and it developed a methodology to estimate the liability for the sales tax for the SoHo revenue stream dnrlng the affected periods 2017 through 2021. Accordingly,
the Company has recorded a sales tax expense in 2021 of $6.7 million for all periods affected, net of federal income tax benefit of $1.9 million of which $4.6 million, net of federal income tax benefit of $1.3 mi s deemed to be an out of period correction that is not
deemed to be material to either the current or any prior periods.
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Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

‘We maintain an allowance for credit losses for accounts receivable, which is recorded as an offset to accounts receivable and changes in such are classified as general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income. We assess collectability by
reviewing accounts receivable on a collective basis where similar characteristics exist and on an individual basis when we identify specific customers with known disputes o collectability issues. In determining the amount of the allowance for credit losses, we consider
historical collectability based on past due status. We also consider customer-specific information, current market conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future economic conditions to inform adjustments to historical loss data. On an ongoing basis,
management evaluates the adequacy of these reserves.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

‘The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-cmerging growth companies but any clection to opt out s irrevocable. We have clected not to opt out of the extended
transition period which means that when a standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, we, as an emerging growth company, can adopt the new o revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised
standard.

For a summary of recent accounting pronouncements applicable to us, see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Note 1 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

See Note 2, “Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”, to our accompanying consolidated financial statements for a description of recent accounting pronouncements and our expectations of their impact on our consolidated financial
position and resuls of operations.

Results of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019

‘The main strategic focus of our Consensus offerings is to enable our customers to securely and cooperatively access, exchange and use information across organizational, regional and national boundaries. As a result, we expect to continue to take steps to enhance our
existing offerings and offer new services to continue to satisfy the evolving needs of our customers.

We expect our business to primarily grow organically and inorganically through the use of capital for re-investment in the business and opportunistic acquisitions that expedite our product roadmap in the interoperability space should they arise.



The following table sets forth for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, information derived from our Statements of Income as a percentage of revenues. This information should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements and

the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research, development and engineering
General and administrative
Total operating expenses.
Income from operations
Interest expense
Interest income
Other income (expense), net
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of income fax
Net income

Revenues

(in thousands, except percentages)
Revenues

Years ended December 31,

2021 2019
100% 100% 100%
16 16 15
84 84 85
15 14 16
2 2 3
17 8 7
34 24 26
50 60 59
“@ (23) (13)
. 10 .
46 47 46
1 9 (10)
[€)] 9 11
32% 47% 67%
Percentage Change 2021 Percentage Change 2020
2021 2020 2019 versus 2020 versus 2019
352,664 S 331,168 § 322559 6% 3%

Consensus revenues primarily consist of revenues from “fixed” customer subscription revenues and “variable” revenues generated from actual usage of our services. We also generate an immaterial amount of Consensus revenues from intellectual property licensing.

Revenues increased $21.5 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2021 over the prior year period primarily due to growth in our corporate business. Our total revenue increased by $20.5 million primarily as a result of an increase of approximately $20.0
million in corporate revenues due to organic growth in existing customer usage and new customer acquisitions. Our corporate revenue retention for 2020 customers in 2021 is greater than 100%.

Revenues increased $8.6 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2020 over the prior year period primarily due to $13.6 million growth in corporate revenues as a result of organic growth in existing customer usage and new customer acquisitions of $8.4
million and $5.2 million due to an acquisition; partially offset by a decline of $4.5 million in SoHo and $0.6 million in patent revene.
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Cost of Revenues

Percentage Change 2021 Percentage Change 2020
(in thousands, except percentages) 2021 2020 2019 versus 2020 versus 2019
Cost of revenue B 58000 S 53379 § 49,990 9% 7%
As a percent of revenue 16% 16% 15%

Cost of revenues is primarily comprised of costs associated with data transmission, network operations, customer service, software licenses for resale, online processing fees and equipment depreciation. The increase in cost of revenues for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2021 was primarily due to an increase in revenues, higher software licensing and infrastructure / database hosting costs as a result of moving our data storage from physical storage into the cloud.

The inerease in cost of revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2020 was primarily due to an increase in revenues, higher phone operation costs, an increase in licensing costs and an overall increase in the operational database hosting expense as a result
of moving data storage from physical storage into the cloud.

Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing
Percentage Change 2021 Percentage Change 2020
(in thousands, except percentages) 2021 2020 2019 versus 2020 versus 2019
Sales and Marketing 5 53648 S AT 51522 14% )%
As a percent of revenue 15% 14% 16%
Qur salesand markcung Sosts cansis pritarily of inernet-based adverising, personnelcoss and ater business consist primarily of fixed cost and performance-based (cost-per-impression,

an array of online service providers. Our sales personnel consist o combimion o idesaes andouside e professionals.

‘The inerease in sales and marketing expense of $6.5 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2021 versus prior period was primarily due to an increase in third party advertising of $3.0 million primarily in SoHo, as well as an increase of $3.5 million in
personnel expense due to continued investment in the corporate sales team.

‘The reduction in sales and marketing expense of $4.4 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2020 versus prior period was primarily due to a reduction in third party advertising of $4.5 million primarily due to increased SoHo funnel metrics as a result of
an increase in demand of our services in a work from home environment, a decrease in travel due to the pandemic, offset by an increase of $0.1 million in sales personnel costs due to the increased focus on the corporate sales team.

Research, Development and Engineering

Percentage Change 2021 Percentage Change 2020
(in thousands, except percentages) 2021 2020 2019 versus 2020 versus 2019
Research, Development and Engineering 5 7652 S 7146 S 9,745 % @n%
As a percent of revenue 2% 2% 3%

Our research, development and engineering costs consist primarily of personnel-related expenses. The increase in research, development and engineering costs for the twelve months ended December 31, 2021 was mostly due to our continued focus on developing
our platform, products and solutions to primarily support corporate revenue growth. The decrease in rescarch, development and engineering costs for the twelve months ended December 31, 2020 was due to the increase in capitalized labor related to developing our platform,
products and solutions.
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General and Administrative.

Percentage Change 2021 Percentage Change 2020
(in thousands, except percentages) 2021 2020 2019 versus 2020 versus 2019
General and Administrative 5 58228 S 26852 S 21475 7% 5%
As a percent of revenue 17% 8% %
Our general and administrative costs consist primarily of personnel-related expenses, depreciation and amortization, share-based expense, bad debt expense, professional fees, severance and insurance costs.

The increase in general and administrative expense for the twelve months ended December 31,2021 versus prior period was primarily due to 1.5 million in non-recurring expenses related to the spin-off from Ziff Davis, approximately $5.0 million increase in Q4
2021 operational expense due to standalone public company costs, an $8.2 million impairment of our downtown LA office space and an $8.6 million Wayfair Sales Tax expense related to 2017-2021, of which $0.6 million was related to post spin in Q4 2021

The increase in general and administrative expense for the twelve months ended December 31,2020 versus prior period was primarily due to $1.7 million in office rent and $1.0 million increase in Salaries and Benefits and Employee Related expenses.
Share-Based Compensation

The following table represents share-based compensation expense included in cost of revenues and operating expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31,2021, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Cost of revenues s 0 205 S 466
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 92 442 134
Research, development and engineering (19) 383 501
General and administrative 1711 457 6)
Continuing Operations 1.856 1.485 1085
(Loss) income from discontinued operations 602 4138 2711
Total s 2458 S 563 S 3,79

Non-Operating Income and Expenses

Interest expense. Our interest expense is generated from interest expense due to outstanding debr. Interest expense was $14.3 million, $75.8 million, and $43.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Interest expense decreased
between 2020 and 2021 due to the Company redecming all of its outstanding $650 million 6% Senior Notes in 2020, in which the Company recorded a loss on extinguishment of $38.0 million, which is included in interest expense. This is coupled with the Company
recording three months of interest associated with the 2026 and 2028 Senior Notes in the current period, in comparison to nine months of interest associated with the 6% Senior Notes in 2020. The increase from 2019 to 2020 is primarily due to the extinguishment of the
Company’s 6% Senior Notes in 2020.

Interest income. Our interest income is generated by interest income carned on cash and cash equivalents. Interest income was $0.1 million, zero and $0.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Changes in interest income was
immaterial between the period from 2020 and 2021 and 2019 to 2020.
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Other income (expense), net. Our other income (expense), net is generated primarily from miscellaneous items and gain or losses on currency exchange. Other income (expense), net was $0.2 million, $31.6 million, and S(1.4) million for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The change was atiributable to changes in gain or losses on the currency exchange. The change in our gains (losses) recognized in earnings from 2020 to 2021 were primarily attributable to lower inter-company balances
between periods in foreign subsidiarics that were in functional currencies other than the U.S. Dollar and exchange rate fluctuations. The change in our gains (losses) recognized in camnings from 2019 to 2020 were primarily atiributable to the settlement of certain intra-entity
transactions.

Income Taxes

Significant judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes and in evaluating our tax positions on a worldwide basis. We believe our tax positions, including intercompany transfer pricing policies, are consistent with the tax laws in the
jurisdictions in which we conduct our business. Certain of these tax positions have in the past been, and are currently being, challenged, and this may have a significant impact on our effective tax rate if our tax reserves are insufficient.

Our effective tax rate is based on pre-tax income, statufory fax rates, tax regulations (including those related to transfer pricing) and different tax rates in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. The tax bases of our assets and liabilities reflect our best estimate
of the tax benefits and costs we expeet to realize. When necessary, we establish valuation allowances to reduce our deferred tax assets to an amount that will more likely than not be realized.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company has interest expense limitation carryovers of $4.9 million and zero, respectively, which last indefinitely. The Company also has no federal capital loss limitation carryforwards as of December 31, 2021 nor 2020. The
Company has $0.2 million and zero million foreign tax credit carryforward as of December 31,2021 and 2020.

Income tax expense (benefit) amounted to $39.9 million, $30.0 million and $(33.1) million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Our effective tax rates for 2021, 2020 and 2019 were 24.8%, 19.7% and (22.7)%, respectively.

‘The increase in our annual effective income tax rate from 2020 to 2021 was primarily attributable to the following:

Anincrease in tax expense relating to an increase in income in comparison to the prior year, and

2. anincrease in tax expense relating to certain non-deductible expenses incurred in the year in connection with the Spin and the recording of the Non Income Tax Contingency.
‘The inerease in our annual effective income tax rate from 2019 to 2020 was primarily attributable to the following:
1. Aninerease in tax expense during 2020 due to a large tax benefit recognized in 2019 from an intra-entity transfer as part of the reorganization of our international operating structure resulting in the recognition of a deferred tax asset with no comparable event during
2020, and
2. anincrease in tax expense in 2020 due to a decrease in relation to certain uncertain tax positions in 2019 with no similar reduction in 2020.
In order to provide additional understanding in connection with our foreign taxes, the following represents the statutory and effective tax rate by significant foreign country:
Ireland Japan Canada
Statutory tax rate 12.5% 30.6% 26.5%
Effective tax rate () 21% 313% 290.7%

) Effective tax rate excludes certain discrete items.
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‘The statutory tax rate is the rate imposed on taxable income for corporations by the local government in that jurisdiction. The effective tax rate measures the taxes paid as a percentage of pretax profit. The effective tax rate can differ from the statutory tax rate when
a company can exempt some income from tax, claim tax credits, or due to the effect of book-tax differences that do not reverse and discrete items.

Significant judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes and in evaluating our tax positions on a worldwide basis. We believe our tax positions, including intercompany transfer pricing policies, are consistent with the tax laws in the
jurisdictions in which we conduct our business. Certain of these tax positions have in the past been, and are currently being, challenged, and this may have a significant impact on our effective tax rate if our tax reserves are insufficient.

Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

‘The following tables contain selected unaudited Statements of Operation information for each quarter of 2021 and 2020 (in thousands, except share and per share data). The Company believes that the following information reflects all normal recurring adjustments
necessary for a fair presentation of the information for the periods presented. The operating results for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period. This data should be read in conjunction with our consoli
elsewhere in this Report. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the full fiscal year or any other period.

Revenues
Gross profit
Net income from continuing operations

Net income from continuing operations per common share:

Basic
Diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted

Revenues
Gross profit
Net income from continuing operations

Net income from continuing operations per common share:

Basic

ed

Weighted average shares outstanding
ic

Basi
Diluted

Year ended December 31, 2021

ted financial statements included

Fourth Quarter

‘Third Quarter

Second Quarter

First Quarter

89,004 89,198 87,842 86,620
73,410 74,644 73476 73,134
7,680 49,052 21,344 43,098
B 0.39 246 S 107§ 217
s 038 246§ 107§ 217
19,908,135 19,902,924 19,902,924 19,902,924
19,991,407 19,902,924 19,902,924 19,902,924
Year ended December 31, 2020

Fourth Quarter ‘Third Quarter Second Quarter First Quarter
85,564 83,969 80,631 81,004
71,696 70432 66,985 68,676
10,977 57,403 32,543 21,490
s 0.55 288§ 164§ 1.08
$ 0.55 288§ 164§ 1.08
19,902,924 19.902.924 19,902,924 19,902,924
19,902,924 19,902,924 19,902,924 19,902,924
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash and Cash Equivalents
At December 31, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of $66.8 million compared to $66.2 million at December 31, 2020. The increase in cash and cash equivalents resulted primarily from cash provided from operations, partially offset by cash used for purchases
: o

of property and cquipment (including capitalized labor) and cash used to pay Ziff Davis for its equity interest in J2 Cloud Services, LLC. As of December 31, 2021, cash and cash equivalents held within domestic and foreign jurisdictions were $44.5 million and
$22.3 million, respectively.

On October 7, 2020, the Former Parent issued $750 million aggregate principal amount of 4.625% Senior Notes due 2030. A portion of the proceeds were used to fund the redemption of the outstanding aggregate principal amount of the 6.0% Senior Notes due 2025
previously issued by J2 Cloud Services, LLC and to pay the redemption premium duc in respect of such redemption and acerued and unpaid interest. The Parent used the remainder of the net proceeds for general corporate purposes including acquisitions.

On October 7, 2021, the Company issued $305 million of 6.0% senior notes due in 2026 (the 2026 Senior Notes”), in a private placement offering exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, Consensus received proceeds of
$301.2 million, afier deducting the initial purchasers” discounts, commissions and offering expenses. The 2026 Senior Notes are presented as long-term debi, net of deferred issuance costs, on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2021. The 2026 Senior Notes
bear interest at a rate of 6.0% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and October 15 of each year, commencing on April 15,2022,

On October 7, 2021, Consensus issued $500 million of 6.5% senior notes due in 2028 (the “2028 Senior Notes”), in a private placement offering exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933. In exchange for the equity interest in J2 Cloud
Services, LLC, Consensus issued the 2028 Senior Notes to Ziff Davis. Ziff Davis then exchanged the 2028 Senior Notes with lenders under its credit agreement (or their affiliates) in exchange for extinguishment of a similar amount indebtedness under such credit agreement.
The 2028 Senior Notes are presented as long-term debt, net of deferred issuance costs, on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2021. The 2028 Senior Notes bear interest at a rate of 6.5% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and October
15 of each year, commencing on April 15,2022.

On March 1, 2022, the Company’s Board of Directors has approved a share buyback program. Under this program, the Company may purchase in the public market or in off-market transactions up to 100 million worth of stock through February 2025. The timing
and amounts of purchases will be determined by the Company, depending on market conditions and other factors it deems relevant

On March 4, 2022, the Company entered into a Credit Agreement with certain lenders from time to time party thereto (collectively, the “Lenders”) and MUFG Union Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, collateral agent and sole lead arranger for the Lenders (the
“Agent”). Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Lenders have provided Consensus with a revolving credit facility of $25 million (the “Credit Facility”). The final maturity of the Credit Facility will occur on March 4, 2027,

We currently anticipate that our existing cash and cash equivalents and cash generated from operations will be sufficient to meet our anti
least the next 12 months from the issuance of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

pated needs for working capital, capital expenditure, investment requirements, stock repurchases and cash dividends for at

Cash Flows

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows generated from operations, together with cash and cash equivalents. Net cash provided by operating activities was $233.7 million, $238.8 million and $226.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and
2019, respectively. Our operating cash flows resulted primarily from cash received from our customers offset by cash payments we made to third parties for their services, employee compensation and lease payments associated offices. The decrease in our net cash provided
by operating activities in 2021 compared to 2020 was primarily attributable to a decrease in operating lease liabilities, offset by increased prepaid expenses, accounts payable and other long-term liabilities. The increase in our net cash provided by operating activities in 2020
compared to 2019 was primarily attributable to an increase in accounts payable and operating lease liabilities: partially offset by an decrease lower uncertain tax positions and reduced deferred revenue. Our prepaid tax payments were zero and $0.3 million at December 31,
2021 and 2020, respectively. Our cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments were 6.8 million, $66.2 million and $51.1 million at December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.




Net cash used in investing activities was $42.5 million, $60.9 million and $304.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Net cash used in investing activities in 2021 and 2020 was primarily due to business acquisitions and
capital expenditures associated with the purchase of property and equipment (including capitalized labor); partially offset by proceeds from the sale of businesses. Net cash used in investing activities in 2019 was primarily due to business acquisitions and capital expenditures
associated with the purchase of property and equipment (including capitalized labor).

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities was $(247.8) million, $(179.1) million and $61.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Net cash used in financing activities in 2021 increased over the prior comparable
period and was primarily attributable to distributions to the Former Parent; partially offset by the issuance of debt. Net cash used in financing activities in 2020 decreased over the prior comparable period and was primarily attributable to the repayment of debt; partially offset
by contributions from the Former Parent.Net cash provided by financing activities in 2019 was primarily attributable to contributions from the Former Parent.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

‘The following table summarizes our contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2021

Payment Due by Period (in thousands)

Contractual Obligations 1 Year 2-3 Years 4-5 Years More than 5 Years Total

Long-term debt - principal (a) 5 — 8 . 305,000 500,000 805,000
Long-term debt - interest (b) 50,800 101,600 101,600 65,000 319,000
Operating leases () 2516 4611 4587 10254 21,968
Finance leases (d) — — — —
Telecom services and co-location faci
Holdback payment () 1,565
Other (g) 420 - -
Total s 55922 3 106422 S 411,187

621 211 — — 832
— — — 1,565

420
1,148,785

575,254

(a)  These amounts represent principal on long-term deb.
(b)  These amounts represent interest on long-term debi

(¢)  These amounts represent undiscounted future minimun rental commitments under noncancellable operating leases.
(d)  These amounts represent undiscounted future minimum rental commitments under noncancellable finance leases.
(¢)  These amounts represent s to various

() These amounts represent the holdback amounts in connection with certain business acqus
() These amounts primarily represent certain consulting and Board of Director fee arrangements, software license commitments and others.

ions.
As of December 31, 2021, our liability for uncertain tax positions was $4.8 million. The future payments related to uncertain tax positions have not been presented in the table above due to the uncertainty of the amounts and timing of cash settlement with the taxing
authorities.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
The following discussion of the market risks we fuce contains forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements. Readers are
cautioned not 10 place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s opinions only as of the date hereof. Consensus undertakes no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revision 1o these forward-looking statements,

except as required by law. Readers should carefully review the risk factors described in this document as well as in other documents we file from time to time with the SEC, including the Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and any Current Reports on Form 8K filed or to be
filed by us in 2022.
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Interest Rate Risk

Our cash and cash equivalents are not subject to significant interest rate risk due to the short maturities of these instruments. As of December 31, 2021, the carrying value of our cash and cash equivalents approximated fair value. Our return on these investments is
subject to interest rate fluctuations.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had cash and cash equivalent investments primarily in cash and checking accounts of $66.8 million and $66.2 million, respectively. We do not have interest rate risk on our outstanding long-term debt as these arrangements
have fixed interest rates.

Foreign Currency Risk
We conduct business in certain foreign markets, primarily in Canada, Australia and the European Union. Our principal exposure to foreign currency risk relates to investment and inter-company debt in foreign subsidiaries that transact business in functional
currencies other than the U.S. Dollar, primarily the Australian Dollar, the Canadian Dollar, the Euro, the Hong Kong Dollar, the Japanese Yen, the New Zealand Dollar, the Norwegian Kroner and the British Pound Sterling. If we are unable to settle our short-term

intercompany debs in a timely manner, we remain exposed to foreign currency fluctuations.

As we expand our international presence, we become further exposed to foreign currency risk by entering new markets with additional foreign currencies. The economic impact of currency exchange rate movements is ofien linked to variability in real growth,
inflation, interest rates, governmental actions and other factors. These changes, if material, could cause us to adjust our financing and operating strategies.

As currency exchange rates change, translation of the income statements of the international businesses into U.S. Dollars affects year-over-year comparability of operating results, the impact of which is immaterial to the comparisons set forth in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

Historically, we have not hedged translation risks because cash flows from international operations were generally reinvested locally; however, we may do so in the future. Our objective in managing foreign exchange risk is to minimize the potential exposure to
changes that exchange rates might have on carings, cash flows and financial position.

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, foreign exchange gains (losses) amounted to $0.2 million, $31.6 million and $(1.4) million, respectively. The change in our gains (losses) recognized in earnings from 2020 to 2021 and from 2020 to 2019
were primarily atributable to the settlement of certain intra-entity transactions of $3.1 million in 2020 that was not present in neither 2021 nor 2019.

Cumulative translation adjustments, net of tax, included in other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, was $(14.4) million, $(11.1) million, and $(2.0) million respectively.

We currently do not have derivative financial instruments for hedging, speculative or trading purposes and therefore are not subject to such hedging risk. However, we may in the future engage in hedging transactions to manage our exposure to fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Stockholders and Board of Dircctors
Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc.
Los Angeles, California

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc. (the “Company” as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, stockholders” (deficit) equity, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes and schedule (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Basis for Opinion

ese consolidated financial statements are the res, of the Company’s management. Our respons s to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the
Public (_umprmy Accounting Oversight Board (United State) ("PCAOE") and ané requied 1o be independent with rspect o the Company n accordanee with the U.S. Toderal sccurties lnws and the applicable rles and regulations of the Sccuritics and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

‘We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due
1o error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its interal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

s/ BDO USA, LLP
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2014,

Los Angeles, California
April 15,2022
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Cash and cash equivalents

CCONSENSUS CLOUD SOLUTIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2021 and 2020
(In thousands, except share amounts)

ASSETS

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $4,743 and $4,110, respectively

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Discontinued operations current assets
Total current assets

Property and equipment, net

Operating lease right-of-use assets

Intangibles, net

Goodwill

Deferred income taxes

Other assets

Discontinued operations noncurrent assets
TOTALASSETS

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Income taxes payable, current

Deferred revenue, current

Operating lease liabilities, current

Due to Former Parent

Discontinued operations current liabilities
Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Deferred revenue, noncurrent

Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent

Income taxes payable, noncurrent

Liability for uncertain tax positions

Deferred income taxes

Other long-term liabilities

Discontinued operations noncurrent liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY

Common stock, 0.01 par value. Authorized 120,000,000 at December 31, 2021; total issued and outstanding 19,978,580 and zero shares at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit

Net parent investment

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY

2021 2020
s 66778 § 66,210
24,829 16071
4,650 1,747
= 114247
96,257 198,275
33,849 25,053
7233 25711
43,549 48,766
339,209 342,430
41842 44350
873 1267
— 805.568
5 562812 S 1,491,420
$ 40206 $ 32,795
5207 1307
24370 24512
2,421 2,578
5,739 —
143474
77.963 204,666
792,040 —
184 240
14,108 25,549
— 943
4795 3,050
6.027 5392
360 3,061
— 125,977
895477 368.878
200 -
2,878 —
(318.886) =
— 1,178,508
(16.857) (55.966)
(332,665) 1,122,542
B 562812 S 1,491,420

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research, development and engineering
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Income from operations
Interest expense
Interest income
Other income (expense), net
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Income from continuing operations
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of income tax ()
Net income

W

Net income per common share from continuing operations:
Basic
Diluted
Net (loss) income per common share from discontinued operations:
Basic
Diluted
Net income per common share
Basic
Diluted

‘Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

O Includes share-based compensation expense as follows:
Cost of revenues

Sales and marketing

Research, development and engincering

General and administrative

(Loss) income from discontinued operations

Total

CCONSENSUS CLOUD SOLUTIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

2021 2020 2019

s 352664 S BLI6S S 322,559
58,000 53379 49.990

294,664 277,789 272,569

53,648 47,116 51,522

7,652 7,146 9.745

58,228 26,852 21,475

119,528 81,114 82,742

175,136 196,675 189,827
(14272) (75.788) (43.457)

60 — 797
160 31,569 (.421)

161,084 152,456 145,746
39910 30043 (33.137)

121174 122413 178,883

(12,173) 30500 34,084

s 109,001 $ 152913 § 212,967
s 607 8 615 S 8.99
s 604 S 615 S 899
s 061 s 153 s 171
s ©.6) S 153 S 171
s 546 8 768 8 1070
S 544 S 768 S 10.70
19,904,237 19,902,924 19,902,924

19,986,889 19,902,924 19,902,924

s 7 s 203 s 466
92 442 134

(19) 383 501

17 457 (16)

602 4.138 2711

s 2458 S 563 S 3,79

See Notes to Consolidated

‘inancial Statements
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CCONSENSUS CLOUD SOLUTIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
(In thousands)

2021 2020 2019
Net income g 109001 § 152913 S 212,967
Other comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation adjustment (14397 (11,093) (1.979)
Other comprehensive loss (14.397) (11.093) (1.979)
Comprehensive income s 94604 $ 141820 S 210988

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



CCONSENSUS CLOUD SOLUTIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31,2021, 2020 and 2019
(In thousands)

2021 2020 2019
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income s 109,001 § 152913 $ 212,967
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 51811 79,754 80,970
Amortization of financing costs and discounts 442 1217 1428
Non-cash operating lease costs 4396 5,602 7,867
Share-based compensation 2459 5.623 3,796
Provision for doubtful accounts 7,194 10,133 10214
Deferred income taxes 7,155 13,256 (56,125)
Loss (gain) on sale of businesses 21,797 (17,122) —
Lease asset impairments and other charges 9.149 — —
Changes in fair value of contingent consideration 642 (161) 607
Foreign currency remeasurement loss (gain) 181 (35.142) —
Goodwill impairment on business 32,629 — -
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 37.969 —
Decrease (increase) in:
Accounts receivable (2.788) (4.909) (1.272)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (12,049) n ©.137)
Other assets (3.260) 731 (3,191)
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 5,831 (13.369) 3.674
Income taxes payable (230) (1,269) (5.424)
Deferred revenue (1797) (2.401) 1,080
Operating lease liabilities (5.197) (3.345) (7.685)
Liability for uncertain tax positions (1.730) 8438 (453)
Other long-term liabilities 8039 154 (2.614)
Net cash provided by operating acti 233675 238.789 226,702

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (32.998) (32.463) (22.943)

Proceeds from sale of assets — 507
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash received (56.838) (50.208) (281.552)
Proceeds from sale of businesses, net of cash divested 48,876 24353
Purchases of intangible assets 511 (.110) —
Net cash used in investing activities @2471) (60.921) (304.495)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment of debt (593) (650,000) =
Debt extinguishment costs — (29.250) —
Proceeds from line of credit — — 185,000
Repayment of lin of credit — — (185,000)
Issuance of long-term debt 305,000 - -
Debt issuance costs (10,849) — —
Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan 519 — —
Notes payable from related parties — (819) (952)
Deferred payments for acquisitions (6.267) (6.571) (750)
Contributions from Former Parent 21,238 508,938 64,922
Distribution to Former Parent - Separation (290.282)
Distribution of non-fax cash to Former Parent (266.539) — —
Other = .387) 1915
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (247,773) (179,089) 61,305
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (@842) 6,635 2,253
(61,411) 5414 (14,235)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 128,189 122,775 137,010
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year s 66778 S 128189 § 122,775
Less cash and cash equivalents at end of year, discontinued operations — 61,979 71,634
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year, continuing operations $ 66,778 § 66210  $ 51,141

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSENSUS CLOUD SOLUTIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY
Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Additional Accumulated other
Common stock paid-in Accumulated comprehensive Net parent Total
Shares Amount capital Deficit loss investment Equity
Balance, January 1, 2019 — 3 — 3 — 3 — 5 (42.894) § 339182 296,288
Net income 212,967 212,967
Other comprehensive income, net of tax - — — (1.979) = (1.979)
Parent distribution — — — — — (109,833) (109,833)
Share-based compensation — — — - — 3,796 3,796
Parent contribution — — — — — 64.922 64,922
Balance, December 31, 2019 — s — s — 3 — 5 (4873 § 511034 § 466,161
Net income — — — — — 152913 152913
Other comprehensive income, net of tax — — — — (11,093) — (11,093)
Share-based compensation — — — — — 5.623 5.623
Parent Contribution - - — — — 508,938 508.938
Balance, December 31,2020 — 5 — s — 5 — S (55.966) $ 1178.508 § 1122542
Foreign currency translation adjustment prior to Separation - - — - (13.555) — (13.555)
Net income prior to Separation — — — — — 102,510 102,510
Share-based compensation - - — - - 99 99
Parent contribution prior to Separation — — — — — 21238 21238
Recapitalization of J2 Cloud Services 19.902.924 199 1302,156 — — (1.302,355) —
Transfer of 2028 Notes to Former Parent — — (500,000) — — — (500,000)
Distribution to Former Parent — — (290282) — — — (290.282)
Transfer of non-fax business to Former Parent — — (837.251) — — (783.745)
Reclassification to accumulated deficit — - 325,377 (325,377) = = =
Issuance of shares under ESPP 10,421 — 519 — — — 519
Share-based compensation after Separation 65.235 1 2359 2,360
Forcign currency translation adjustment afier Separation — — — — (842) — (842)
Net income after Separation = = 6,491 =] 6,491
Balance, December 31, 2021 19,978,580 S 200 S 2878 § (318.886) $ (16,857) — s (332,665)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CCONSENSUS CLOUD SOLUTIONS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019

1. The Company

Consensus Cloud Solutons, nc. together with s subsdirics Consensus Cloud Solutons”,“Consesus”, e *Company”,“oue’, s o “We"). s  rovder f securs informaton delivery sevies with o scalable Softvare-as--Servce (*Ss") platforn
Consensus serves more than on million customers of all sizes, from enterprises to individuals, across over 50 couniries and multiple industry verticals including healtheare, financial services, law and education. Beginning as an online fax company over two decades ago,
Consenus has evalved nto  labal provider of cnierprise accure communication soutons. Out communicaton and digital signatre solutions enable our Susomers o Seeurely and cooperaively access, exchange and s nformation cross organizaional, regional and
national boundaries.

Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc. Spin-Off

On September 21, 2021, J2 Global, Inc., known since October 7, 2021 as Ziff Davis, Inc. (“Ziff Davis” or the “Former Parent”) announced that its Board of Directors approved its previously announced separation of the cloud fax business (the “Separation™), into an
independent publily raded company, Consensus Cloud Solutions, Ine. On October 7. 2021, the Separation was completed and the Former Paren transferred cerain asses and lgbiliies associated with ts Cloud Fax business 0 Consensus, ncluding the equity nterests in 12

rvices, LLC (12 Cloud Services”), in exchange for approximately $259.1 million in cash, an asset related to $500.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the 6.5% Senior Notes due 2028, and the return of the assets and liabilites related to the non-fax business
back to Ziff Davis. On October 8, 2021, Consensus b:g:m trading on the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) under the stock symbol “CCSI. Ziff Davis retained a 19.9% interes Consensus following the Separation.

Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(@ Principles of Consolidation

ns have been eliminated in consolidation.

‘The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Consensus and its wholl d subsidiaries. All ts
(b) Basis of Presentation

‘The consolidated financial statements of Consensus for periods prior to the completion of the Separation are those of J2 Cloud Services, which were derived from the consolidated financial statements of Ziff Davis on a carve-out basis using the historical assets,
labilities, and results of operations attributable to the legal entities and business units which comprised historical J2 Cloud Services.

12 Cloud Services was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ziff Davis, and together with its subsidiaries, was a provider of
marketing technology.

teret services, including cloud-based subscription services to consumers and businesses including cloud fax, voice, cybersecurity, privacy and

or periods prio 0 the sepraton he consoldaed fnaneia statements Consensus ncuded an allocation of cetain corporate expenss elatd to srviesprovided t J2 Clod Srvies by Zff Davis. Thee expenses ineluded he costofexcutive managemet,
informaton technology, legal, treasury, risk management, human resources, ing and financial reporting, investor relations, public relations, and internal audit services provided by the Former Parent company personnel to 12 Cloud Services. The cost of these services
ad been allocted to 12 Cloud Services based on specific dentiiction when possible ar, when the expenscs were determined to be global in nature, bascd on the percentage of 12 Cloud Services” relafive revermuc 10 total Zif Davi revenue for he periods presented.
Management beleves ha thes alocations were reasonble represenations of he costs incured fo th services provided: however,theae allocatons may o be indicaive of he actusl xpenses that would have been incured by 12 Cloud Services had 1 been operatin a5
an independent company for the periods present

Interest expense relates to interest incurred on third-party debt issued by historical J2 Cloud Services. No interest expense incurred by Ziff Davis was allocated to 12 Cloud Services as Ziff Davis” third-party debt was not specifically related to historical oper:
12 Cloud Services.

s of
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As the Cloud Fax business was not historically held by a single legal entity, “net parent investment” is shown to represent Ziff Davis” interest in the recorded net assets of historical J2 Cloud Services. Other comprehensive income or loss attributable to 2 Cloud
Services is presented as a separate component of equity. In the period in which the Separation occurred, the net parent investment is recharacterized as share capital and additional-paid-in-capital to reflect the capital structure of Consensus upon the legal formation of
Consensus and the contribution of the Cloud Fax business with any excess of distributions over net parent investment shown within accumulated deficit.

(c) Use of Estimates

‘The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP") requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, including judgments about the reported amounts of net revenue and expenses during the reporting period. The Company believes that its most significant estimates are those related to revenue recognition, share-based
compensation expense, fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with business combinations, long-lived and intangible asset impairment, lease impairment, contingent consideration, income taxes, sales taxes, contingencies and allowances for
doubtful accounts. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates based on historical experience and on various other factors that the Company believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates due to
risks and uncertainties, including uncertainty in the current economic environment due to the novel coronavirus pandemic (“COVID-19").

(d) Discontinued Operations

‘The accounting requirements for reporting the Company’s non-fax business as  discontinued operation were met when the Separation was completed. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements reflect the results of the non-fax business as a discontinued
operation for all periods presented (see Note $ - Discontinued Operations and Disposition of Businesscs).

(&) Allowances for Doubiful Accounts

‘The Company maintains an allowance for credit losses for accounts receivable, which is recorded as an offset to accounts receivable and changes in such are classified as general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The Company
assesses collectability by reviewing accounts receivable on a collective basis where similar characteristics exist and on an individual basis when it identifies specific customers with known disputes or collectability issues. In determining the amount of the allowance for credit
losses, the Company considers historical collectability based on past due status. It also considers customer-specific information, current market conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future economic conditions to inform adjustments to historical loss data.
On an ongoing basis, management evaluates the adequacy of these reserves.

() Revenue Recognition

‘The Company recognizes revenue when the Company satisfies its obligation by transferring control of the goods or services to its customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services (see Note 3 - Revenues).

Principal vs. Agent

‘The Company determines whether revenue should be reported on a gross or net basis by assessing whether the Company is acting as the principal or an agent in the transaction. If the Company i acting as the principal in a transaction, the Company reports revenue
on a gross basis. If the Company is acting as an agent in a transaction, the Company reports revenue on a net basis. In determining whether the Company acts as the principal or an agent, the Company follows the accounting guidance under Accounting Standards
Codification 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (*“Topic 606”), for principal-agent considerations and assesses: (i) if another party is involved in providing goods or services to the customer and (ii) whether the Company controls the specified goods or services
prior to transferring control to the customer.




Sales Tuxes
The Company has made an accounting policy election to exclude from the measurement of the transaction price all taxes assessed by a governmental authority that are (i) both imposed on and concurrent with a specific revenue-producing transaction and (if)
collected by the Company from a customer.
(@) Fair Value Measurements
Consensus complies with the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) ASC Topic No. 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (*ASC 820°), in measuring fair value and in disclosing fair value measurements. ASC 820 provides a

framework for measuring fair value and expands the disclosures required for fair value measurements of financial and non-financial assets and liabilities (see Note 6 - Fair Value Measurements).

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, acerued expenses and long-term debt are reflected in the financial statements at cost. With the exception of long-term debt, cost approximates fair value due to the short-term
nature of such instruments. The fair value of the Company’s outstanding debt was determined using the quoted market prices of debt instruments with similar terms and maturities when available. As of the same dates, the carrying value of other long-term liabilities
ated f

approx r value as the related interest rates approximate rates currently available to the Company.

(h) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers cash equivalents to be only those investments that are highly liquid, readily convertible to cash and with maturities of three months or less at the purchase date.

() Debt Issuance Costs

s and records debt issuance costs as a reduction to the debt amount. These costs are amortized and included in interest expense over the life of the borrowing using the effective

ncurred with borrowing and issuance of debt securit

‘The Company capitalizes costs
interest method.

() Concentration of Credit Risk

Al of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are invested at major financial institutions primarily within the United States and Ireland. These institutions are required to invest the Company’s cash in accordance with the Company’s investment policy with the
principal objectives being preservation of capital, fulfillment of liquidity nceds and above market retums commensurate with preservation of capital. At December 31, 2021, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents were maintained in accounts in qualifying financial
institutions that are insured up to the limit determined by the applicable governmental agency. These institutions are primarily in the United States and Ireland, however, the Company has accounts within several other countries including Australia, Canada, France, Hong
ealand, Switzerland and the United Kingdom.

Kong, Ireland, Japan, New 2

(k) Foreign Currency

Some of Consensus” foreign subsidiaries use the local currency of their respective countries as their functional currency. Assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet dates. Revenues, costs and expenses are translated into U.S.
Dollars at average exchange rates for the period. Gains and losses resulting from translation are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss. Net translation loss was $14.4 million, S11.1 million and $2.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2021,
2020 and 2019, respectively. Realized gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are recognized within other income (expense), net. Foreign exchange gains (losses) amounted to $0.2 million, $31.5 million and $(1.4) million for the years ended December 31, 2021,
2020 and 2019, respectively.
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() Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Equipment under finance leases is stated at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Depreciation s calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets and is recorded in cost of
revenues and general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Income. The estimated useful lives of property and equipment range from 1 to 10 years. Fixtures, which are comprised primarily of leaschold improvements and equipment under finance
leases, are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives or for leasehold improvements, the related lease term, if less. The Company has capitalized certain internal-use software and website development costs which are included in property and
equipment. The estimated useful life of costs capitalized is evaluated for each specific project and ranges from 1 10 5 years (see Note 7 - Property and Equipment).

(m) Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets

‘The Company accounts for long-lived assets, which include property and equipment, operating lease right-of-use assets and identifiable intangible assets with finite useful lives (subjeet to amortization), in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC Topic No,
360, Property, Plant, and Equipment (“ASC 360”), which requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in eircumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability is measured by comparing
the carrying amount of an asset to the expected undiscounted future net cash flows generated by the asset. If it is determined that the asset may not be recoverable, and if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated fair value, an impairment charge is recognized to
the extent of the difference.

‘The Company assesses the impairment of identifiable definite-lived intangibles and long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors it consider important which could individually or in

combination trigger an impairment review include the following:

Significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;

Significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for Consensus” overall business;

Significant negative industry or economic trends;

Significant decline in the Company’s stock price for a sustained period; and

« The Company’s market capitalization relative to net book value.

If the Company determined that the carrying value of definite-lived intangibles and long-lived assets may not be recoverable based upon the existence of one or more of the above indicators of impairment, it would record an impairment equal to the excess of the

carrying amount of the asset over its estimated fair value.

‘The Company assessed whether events or changes in circumstances have occurred that potentially indicate the carrying amount of definite-lived assets may not be recoverable. In the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded an impairment of
$1.7 million in property and equipment (see Note 7 - Property and Equipment) and an impairment of $6.5 million in operating right-of-use assets (see Note 10 - Leases) in connection with the downtown Los Angeles lease. Additionally, the Company recorded an impairment
of $1.0 million in operating right-of-use assets included in discontinued operation in relation to exiting a lease. There were no impairments recorded in fiscal years 2020 or 2019, respectively.

‘The Company classifies its long-lived assets to be sold as held for sale in the period (i) it has approved and committed to a plan to sell the asset, (i) the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition, (iii) an active program to locate a buyer and other
actions required to sell the asset have been initiated, (iv) the sale of the asset is probable, (v) the asset is being actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair value, and (vi) it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be made or
that the plan will be withdrawn. The Company initially measures a long-lived asset that is classified as held for sale at the lower of its carrying value or fair value less any costs to sell. Any loss resulting from this measurement is recognized in the period in which the held for
sale criteria are met. Conversely, gains are not recognized on the sale of a long-lived asset until the date of sale. Upon designation as an asset held for sale, the Company stops recording depreciation expense on the asset. The Company assesses the fair value of a long-lived
asset less any costs to sell at each reporting period and until the asset is no longer classified as held for sale.
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(n) Business Combinations and Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

‘The Company applies the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations in accordance with GAAP and uses of estimates and judgments to allocate the purchase price paid for acquisitions to the fair value of the assets, including identifiable intangible
assets, and liabilities acquired. Such estimates may be based on significant unabservable inputs and assumptions such s, but not limited to, future revenue growth rates, gross and operating margins, customer attrition rates, royalty rates, discount rates and terminal growth
rate assumptions. The Company uses established valuation techniques and may ensaze reputable valuation specialists to assist with the valuations. Management’s estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently
uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates. Fair values are subject to refinement for up to one year afier the closing date of an acquisition as information relative to closing date fair values becomes available. Upon the conclusion of
the measurement period, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to camings.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable int: bl s d in a business Intangible assets resulting from the acquisitions of entities accounted for using the acquisition method of
accounting are recorded at the estimated fair value of the assets acquired. Identifiable intangible assets are comprised of purchased customer relationships, trademarks and trade names, developed technologies and other intangible assets. Intangible assets subject to
amortization are amortized over the period of estimated economic benefit ranging from 1 to 20 years and are included in general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Income. The Company evaluates our goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets for impairment pursuant to FASB ASC Topic No, 350, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (“ASC 350%), which provides that goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but tested for impairment annually or more frequently if Consensus
believes indicators of impairment exist. In connection with the annual impairment test for goodwill, the Company has the option to perform a qualitative assessment in determining whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount. If the Company determines that it was more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit i less than its carrying amount, then it performs the impairment test upon goodwill. The impairment test involves comparing the fair values of the applicable reporting
units with their aggregate carrying values, including goodwill. The Company generally determines the fair value of its reporting units using the income approach methodology of valuation. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value, an
impairment loss is recognized for the difference. The Company performed the annual impairment test for goodwill for fiscal year 2021 using a qualitative assessment primarily taking into consideration macroeconomic, industry and market conditions, overall financial
performance and any other relevant company-specific events. The Company performed the annual impairment test for intangible assets with indefinite lives for fiscal 2021 using a qualitative assessment primarily taking into consideration macroeconomic, indusiry and
market conditions, overall financial performance and any other relevant company-specific events. Consensus concluded that there were no impairments in 2021, 2020 and 2019.

In the first quarter of 2021, the Company changed the annual goodwill impairment assessment date from September 30 to October 1, as it determined this date is preferable, and concluded this was not a material change in accounting principle.
(@) Contingent Consideration

Certain of Consensus” acquisition agreements include contingent ean-out arrangements, which are generally based on the achievement of future income thresholds or other metrics. The contingent eam-out arrangements are based upon the Company’s valuations of
the acquired companies and reduce the risk of overpaying for acquisitions if the projected financial results are not achieved.

‘The fair values of these carn-out arrangements are included as part of the purchase price of the acquired companies on their respective acquisition dates. For cach transaction, the Company estimates the fair value of confingent cam-out payments as part of the initial
purchase price and record the estimated fair value of contingent consideration as a liability on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Consensus considers several factors when determining that contingent earn-out liabilities are part of the purchase price, including the following:
(1) the valuation of our acquisitions is not supported solely by the initial consideration paid, and the contingent eam-out formula is a critical and material component of the valuation approach to determining the purchase price; and (2) the former shareholders of acquired
companies that remain as key employees receive compensation other than contingent earn-out payments at a reasonable level compared with the compensation of the Company’s other key employees. The contingent eam-out payments are not affected by employment
termination.
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‘The Company measures its contingent carn-out liabilities in connection with acquisitions at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (see Note 6 - Fair Value Measurements). The
Company may use various valuation techniques depending on the terms and conditions of the contingent consideration including a Monte-Carlo simulation. This simulation uses a probability distribution for each significant input to produce hundreds or thousands of possible
outcomes and the results are analyzed to determine probabilities of different outcomes oceurring. Significant increases or decreases to these inputs in isolation would result in a significantly higher or lower liability with a higher liability capped by the contractual maximum
of the contingent eam-out obligation. Ultimately, the liability will be equivalent to the amount paid, and the difference between the fair value estimate and amount paid will be recorded in carnings. The amount paid that is less than or equal to the liability on the acquisition
date is reflected as cash used in financing activities in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Any amount paid in excess of the liability on the acquisition date is reflected as cash used in operating activities.

‘The Company reviews and re-assesses the estimated fair value of contingent consideration on a quarterly basis, and the updated fair value could be materially different from the initial estimates or prior amounts. Changes in the estimated fair value of our contingent
carn-out liabilities and adjustments to the estimated fair value related to changes in all other unobservable inputs are reported in general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

(p) Income Taxes

Historically, J2 Cloud Services was included in the federal consolidated and state combined income tax returns with the Former Parent and its other subsidiaries. For purposes of the prior year consolidated financial statements, the Company’s taxes were determined
using the separate return method as if the Company had filed separate tax returns as a C-Corporation. In addition, J2 Cloud Services’ income is subject to taxation in both the U.S. and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in evaluating the
Company’s tax positions and determining its provision for income taxes. During the ordinary course of business, there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.

The Company'sincome is subject (0 taaton n both the U . and merous orign juisdictions. Sigrifcant udgment i requid in valuting the Company's tax poitions and dtermining i proviion or incom taes, Dring the ordinary courseof business,
there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Company establishes reserves for tax-related uncertainties based on estimates of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due. These reserves for tax
contingencies e astablished when the Company believes that certain positions might be challenged despite the Companys belief tha s tx retun positons are fuly supportable. The Company adjusts hese rserves i Ight of hanging fcts an circumstances, such as the
outcome of a tax audit or lapse of a statute of limitations. The provision for income taxes includes the impact of reserve provisions and changes to reserves that are considered appropriate (see Note 12 - Income Taxes).

‘The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with FASB ASC Topic No. 740, Income Taxes (“ASC 740”), which requires that deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized using enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary differences between the book
and tax basis of recorded assets and labilities. ASC 740 also requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some or all of the net deferred tax assets will not be realized. The valuation allowance is reviewed quarterly
based upon the facts and circumstances known at the time. In assessing this valuation allowance, the Company reviews historical and future expected operating results and other factors, including its recent cumulative earnings experience, expectations of future taxable
income by taxing jurisdiction and the carryforward periods available for tax reporting purposes, to determine whether it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets are realizable.

ASC 740 provides guidance on the minimun threshold that an uncertain income tax benefit is required to meet before it can be recognized in the financial statements and applies to all income tax positions taken by a company. ASC 740 contains a two-step approach
to recognizing and measuring uncertain income tax positions. The first step is fo evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including
resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement. If it is not more likely than not that the benefit will be sustained on its technical
merits, no benefit will be recorded. Uncertain income tax positions that relate only to timing of when an item i included on a tax retum are considered to have met the recognition threshold. The Company recognized acerued interest and penalties related to uncertain income
tax positions in income tax expense on its Consolidated Statements of Income
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In addiio, on March 27, 2020, the -Caronairus Ad, Relicf and Econamic Security ('CARES") Act”wasenacted no la providingfor changes (o varlous a laws ha impact business The CARES Act, among other things, includes provisions relating (o
refundable payroll tax credis, deferment of employer ide socialsecurity payments, net operaing loss carryback periods, alterative minimum tax eedit efunds, moifcations 10 the net intrest deduction limitations, increased limitations on qualified charitable contributions
and technical corrections o fax d ‘methods for qualified i property.

The Company does not believe these provisions have a significant impact to our current and deferred income tax balances. The Company wi
defer income tax payments and employer side social security payments where eligible.

benefit from the technical correction to tax depreciation related to qualified improvement property and has elected to

‘The CARES Act also appropriated funds for the Small Business Administration (“SBA™) Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP") loans that are forgivable in certain situations to promote continued employment, as well as Economic Injury Disaster Loans to provide
liquidity to small businesses harmed by COVID-19. The Company did not seek to borrow any funds under the program. However, as a result of an acquisition that closed during the quarter ended December 31,2020, the Company assumed outstanding PPP loans that had
started the process of being forgiven prior to the closing of the acquisition. During the second quarter of 2021, the Company received approval from the SBA to forgive the entire amount of the outstanding PP Loan. The amount forgiven did not have a significant impact to
the Company’s financial statements.

(q) Share-Based Compensation

‘The Company accounts for share-based awards to employees and non-employees in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC Topic No. 718, C - Stock C (“ASC 718"). Accordingly, the Company measures share-based compensation
expense at the grant date, based on the fair value of the award, and recognizes the expense over the employee’s requisite service period using the siraight-line method. The measurement of share-based compensation expense is based on several criteria, including but not
limited to the valuation model used and associated i faclo(s, such as expected term of the award, stock price volatility, risk free interest rate, dividend rate and award cancellation rate. These inputs are subjective and are determined using management’s judgment. If
differences arise between the assumptions used in det share-based compensation expense and the actual factors, which become known over time, Consensus may change the input factors used in determining future share-based compensation expense. Any such
changes could materially impact the Company’s resuls of opemtlons in the period in which the changes are made and in periods thereafter. The Company estimates the expected term based upon the historical exercise behavior of the Company’s employees (see Note 14 -
Equity Incentive and Employee Stock Purchase Plan)

() Earnings Per Common Share (“EPS”)

EPS is caleulated pursuant to the two-class method as defined in ASC Topic No. 260, Eamings per Share (*ASC 260”), which specifies that all outstanding unvested share-based payment awards that contain rights to nonforfeitable dividends or dividend equivalents
are considered participating securities and should be included in the computation of EPS pursuant to the two-class method.

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing net distributed and undistributed camings allocated to common sccuriies, by the weighted number of common shares outstanding. The Company’s participating securities consist of
its unvested share-based payment awards it contin rights to nonforfeitable dividends o dividend equivalents. Diluted EPS includesthe deterinants of baie EPS and.in addiio, reflects he impact of other potentially dilutive shares outstanding during the period. The
dilutive effect of participating securities is calculated under the more dilutive of either the treasury method or the two-class method.

In periods prior to the Separation, EPS is calculated using the number of shares issued to the Former Parent upon the legal formation of Consensus and the contribution of the Cloud Fax business. The dilutive effect of Consensus stock-based compensation awards
that were «.xchangod for the Former Parent stock-based compensation awards is included in the denominator of diluted EPS on a prospective basis.

(5) Research, Development and Engineering

Research, development and engineering costs are expensed as incurred. Costs for software development incurred subsequent to establishing technological feasibility, in the form of a working model, are capitalized and amortized over their estimated useful lives.
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() Segment Reporting

FASB ASC Topic No. 280, Segment Reporting (*ASC 280”), establishes standards for the way that public business enterprises report information about operating segments in their annual consolidated financial statements and requires that those enterprises report
selected information about operating segments in interim financial reports. ASC 280 also establishes standards for related disclosures about products and services, geographic areas and major customers. The Company’s business segment s based on the organization’s
structure used by the chief operating decision maker for making operating and investment decisions and for assessing performance. The chief operating decision maker views the Company as one reportable segment known as Cloud Fax (see Note 17 - Segment Information).

() Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising co

s for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $45.7 million, $47.1 million and $51.5 million, respectively.
() Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. The amendments in this ASU simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in
Topic 740. The amendments also improve consistent application of and simplify GAAP for other areas of Topic 740 by clarifying and amending existing guidance. The Company adopted this ASU in the first quarter of 2021 and has identified no material cffect on its
financial statements or disclosures.

In January 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-01, Investments - Equity Securitics (Topic 321), Investment - Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323), and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Clarifying the Interactions between Topic 321, Topic 323, and
Topic 815. The amendments in this ASU clarify certain interactions between the guidance to account for certain equity securities under Topic 321, the guidance to account for investments under the equity method of accounting in Topic 323, and the accounting for certain
forward contracts and purchased options under Topic 815. This ASU identifies two main areas for improvement: (1) accounting for certain equity securities upon the application or discontinuation of the equity method of accounting and (2) scope considerations for forward
contracts and purchased options on certain securities. The amendment states, as it is related to the first area of improvement, that an entity should consider observable transactions that require it to cither apply or discontinue the equity method of accounting for the purposes of
applying the measurement alternative in accordance with Topic 321 immediately before applying or upon discontinuing the equity method. The amendment also states, as it is relates to forward contracts and purchased options on certain securities, an entity should consider
certain criteria to determine the accounting for those forward contracts and purchased options. The Company adopted this ASU in the first quarter of 2021 and has identified no effect on its financial statements or disclosures.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting. The amendments in this ASU provide optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to
contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions affected by reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. The amendments in this ASU apply only to contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions that reference LIBOR or another reference rate expected to
be discontinued because of reference rate reform. LIBOR is expected to phased out by 2021. The amendments in this ASU are effective as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of this ASU on its financial statements
and related disclosures,

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, Debt-Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging - Contracts in Entity’s own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an
Entity’s Own Equity. The amendments in this ASU reduce the number of accounting models for convertible debt instruments and convertible preferred stock in order to simplify the accounting for convertible instruments and reduce complexity. In addition, it amends the
guidance for scope exception surrounding derivatives for contracts in an entity’s own equity. In each case, the related guidance surrounding EPS has also been amended. The amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
beginning after December 15, 2023. The Company does not expect the adoption of this standard to have an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
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In October 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-10, Codification Improvements. The amendments in this ASU improve the consistency of the codification and reorganize the guidance into appropriate sections providing less opportunities for disclosures to be
missed. The amendments in this update do not change GAAP and are not expected to result in a significant change in practice. The amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning afier December 15, 2020. The Company adopted this ASU in the first quarter
0f 2021 and has identified no effect on its financial statements or disclosures.

In January 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-01, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848). The amendments in this ASU clarify the scope of ASC 848 to include derivatives that are affected by a change in the interest rate used for discounting, margining, o contract
price alignment that do not also reference LIBOR or another reference rate that is expected to be discontinued as a result of reference rate reform. Similar to ASU 2020-04, the guidance is effective for all entities immediately upon issuance on January 7, 2021. The Company
adopted this ASU in the first quarter of 2021 and has identified no effect on its financial statements or disclosures.

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-08, Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers. The amendments in this ASU improve the accounting for acquired revenue contracts with customers in a business
combination by addressing diversity in practice and inconsistency related to recognition of an acquired contract liability, and payment terms and their effect on subsequent revenue recognized by the acquirer. The amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2023, including the interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitied. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of this ASU on its financial statements and related disclosures.

(w) Reclassifications
Certain prior year reported amounts have been reclassified to conform with the 2021 presentation,
3. Revenues

‘The Company’s revenues substantially consist of monthly recurring subscription and usage-based fees, the majority of which are paid in advance by credit card. The Company defers the portions of monthly, quarterly, semi-annually and annually recurring
subseription and usage-based fees collected in advance of the satisfaction of performance obligations and recognizes them in the period earned.

Revenues from external customers classified by revenue source are as follows (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Corporate s 169,732 § 148981 S 135,353
Small office home office (“SoHo™) 182,390 181,784 186,237
Other 542 403
Total Revenues $ 352,664 $ 33168 S 322,559
Timing of revenue recognition
Point in time $ —s —'s —
Over time 352,664 331,168 322,559
Total $ 352,664 § 331,168 § 322,559

‘The Company has recorded $24.5 million and $21.6 million of revenue for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, which was previously included in the deferred revenue balance as of the beginning of each respective year.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company acquired zero and $0.5 million, respectively, of deferred revenue in connection with the Company’s business acquisitions (see Note 4 - Business Acquisitions)
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Performance Obligations

‘The Company’s contracts with customers may include multiple . For such revenues are allocated to cach bligation based on its selling price.

‘The Company satisfies its performance obligations upon delivery of services to its customers. Payment terms vary by type and location of the Company’s customers and the services offered. The time between invoicing and when payment is due s not significant
Duc to the nature of the services provided, there are no obligations for returns.

Significant Judgments

In determining whether products and services are considered distinet performance obligations that should be accounted for separately versus together may require significant judgment. Judgment is also required to determine the standalone selling price for each
distinet performance obligation.

Performance Obligations Satisfied Over Time

‘The Company’s business consists primarily of performance abligations that are satisfied over time. This has been determined based on the fact that the nature of services offered are subscription based where the customer simultancously receives and consumes the
benefit of the services provided regardless of whether the customer uses the services or not. Depending on the individual contracts with the customer, revenue for these services are recognized over the contract period when faxing capabilities are provided.

‘The Company has concluded that the best measure of progress toward the complete satisfaction of the performance obligation over time is a time-based measure. The Company recognizes revenue on a straight-line basis throughout the subseription period and
believes that the method used is a faithful depiction of the transfer of gaods and services.

Practical Expedients

Existence of a Significant Financing Component in a Contract

As a practical expedient, the Company has not assessed whether a contract has a significant financing component because the Company expects at coniract inception that the period between payment by the customer and the transfer of promised goods or services by
the Company to the customer will be one year or less. In addition, the Company has determined that the payment terms that the Company provides to its customers are structured primarily for reasons other than the provision of finance to the Company. The Company
typically charges a single upfront amount for the services because other payment terms would affect the nature of the risk assumed by the Company to provide service given the costs of the customer acquisition and the highly competitive and commoditized nature of the
business Consensus operates which allows customers to easily move from one provider to another. This additional risk may make it uneconomical to provide the service.

Costs to Fulfill a Contract
The Company’s revenues are primarily generated from customer contracts that are for one year or less. Costs primarily consist of incentive compensation paid based on the achievements of sales targets in a given period for related revenue streams and are

recognized in the month when the revenue is earmed. Incentive compensation is paid on the issuance or renewal of the customer contract. As a practical expedient, for amortization periods which are determined to be one year or less, the Company expenses any incremental
costs of obtaining the contract with a customer when incurred. For those customer contracts greater than one year, the Company capitalizes and amortizes the expenses over the period of benefi

Revenues Inve

‘The Company has applied the practical expedient for certain revenue streams to exclude the value of remaining performance obligations for (i) contracts with an original expected term of one year or less or (ii) contracts for which the Company recognizes revenue in
proportion to the amount it has the right to invoice for services performed.
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4. Business Acquisitions

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company completed a share purchase of SEOmoz, acquired on June 4, 2021, a Seattle-based provider of search engine optimization (“SEO”) solutions. As part of the Separation, the Company transferred the assets
acquired to the Former Parent. The allocation of the purchase consideration and further details are included in Business Acquisitions Classified in Discontinued Operations below.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company completed an asset purchase of EDC Systems, Inc. (operating under the name “SRFax"), acquired on February 18, 2020, a Canadian-based provider of fax solutions. The purchase price accounting for this
acquisition was completed during the year ended December 31, 2021. In addition to the SRFax acquisition, the Company completed a share purchase of the entire issued capital of Inspired eLearning, LLC, acquired on November 2, 2020, a Texas-based platform for
cybersecurity awareness and compliance training, as well as the purchase of two other immaterial businesses. As part of the separation, the Company transferred the Inspired eLearning assets and the two immaterial businesses acquired to the Former Parent. The allocation of
the purchase consideration and further details are included in Business Acquisitions Classified in Discontinued Operations below.

The Consolidated Statement of Income since the date of acquisition and balance sheet as of December 31, 2020, reflect the results of operations of SRFax. For the year ended December 31, 2020, SRFax contributed $7.3 million to the Company’s revenues. Net
income contributed by SRFax is not separately identifiable due to the Company’s integration activities and is impracticable to provide. Total was $25.0 million, net of cash acquired and assumed liabilities for SRFax.

‘The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase consideration for the acquisition of SRFax (in thousands)

Assets and Liabilities Valuation
Accounts receivable 5
Property and equipment
Trade names
Customer relationships
Goodwill
Other intangibles
Accounts payables and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Total

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the purchase price accounting has been finalized for SRFax and there were no material adjustments.

The fair value of the assets acquired includes accounts receivable of $0.2 million. The gross amount due under contracts is $0.2 million and immaterial amounts are expected to be uncollectible. The Company did not acquire any other classes of receivables as a
result of the SRFax acquisition.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and represents intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition. Goodwill recognized in connection with the acqu
of SRFax during the year ended December 31,2020 is $15.8 million, of which the full amount is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information for SRFax

The following unaudited pro forma information is not necessarily indicative of the Company’s consolidated results of operations in future periods o the results that actually would have been realized had the Company and the acquired business been combined
companies during the periods presented. These pro forma results exclude any savings or synergies that would have resulted from the business acquisition had it occurred on January 1, 2019 and do not take into consideration the exiting of
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any acquired lines of business. This unaudited pro forma supplemental information includes incremental intangible asset amortization, income tax expense, and interest income as a result of the acquisitions, net of the related tax effects.

‘The supplemental information on an unaudited pro forma financial basis presents the combined results of the Company and SRFax as if the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2019 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year ended
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
(unaudited) (unaudited)
Revenues $ 332431 S 328,351
Net income $ 122912 $ 180,911
EPS - Basic (! $ 618 s 9.09
$ 618§ 9.09

EPS - Diluted )
1 Basic and Diluted EPS are calculated based on net income from continuing operations attributable to common shareholders.
Business Acquisitions Classified in Discontinued Operations

The Consolidated Statement of Income since the date of acquisition, reflect the results of operations of SEOmoz within discontinued operations. For the year ended December 31, 2021, SEOmoz contributed $14.4 million to revenue within discontinued operations.
Total consideration for SEOmoz was $66.5 million, net of cash acquired and assumed liabilities.

The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase consideration for the acquisition of SEOmoz (in thousands):
Assets and Liabi Valuation
Accounts receivable

s

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1568
Property and equipment 1.838
Operating lease right-of-use assets 5.888
Trade names 7,200
Customer relationships 5,000
Goodwill 41213
Other intangibles 21,607
Accounts payables and accrued expenses (2352)
Other current liabilities (14)
Deferred revenue (6.398)
Operating lease liabilities, current (7,191)
Other long-term liabilities (785)
Deferred tax liability (4.936)
Total
‘The initial accounting for the SEOmoz acquisition is incomplete as of the date of the Separation and has been included in discontinued operations.

ion, of which $0.3 million is expected to be uncollectible. The Company did not acquire any other classes of receivables as a result of

The fair value of the assets acquired includes accounts receivable of $3.9 million. The gross amount due under contracts is $4.2 mil
this acquisition.



Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and represents intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition. Goodwill recognized in connection with this acquisition
is $41.2 million of

n of which zero is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The Consolidated Statement of Income and Consolidate Balance Sheet since the date of acquisition, reflect the results of operations of Inspired eLeaming. For the year ended December 31, 2020, Inspired eLearning contributed $1.6 million to revenue within
discontinued operations. Total consideration for Inspired eLeaning was $20.5 million, net of cash acquired and assume liabilities. In the year ended December 31, 2020, two other immaterial businesses were acquired which are included in discontinued operations.

The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase consideration for the acquisition of Inspired eLearning (in thousands), which is included within discontinued operations on the balance sheet:

Assets and Liabi

Accounts receivable 5 1876
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,002
Property and equipment 418
Trade names 2,012
Customer relationships 3,654
Goodwill 13,174
Other intangibles 6,134
Other long-term assets 7
Deferred tax asset 39
Accounts payables and accrued expenses (1.878)
Deferred revenue (5.935)
Operating lease liabilities, current N
20472

Total
‘The initial accounting for the Inspired eLearning acquisition is complete as of the date of the Separation and has been included in discontinued operations.

5 Discontinued Operations and Disposition of Businesses

On October 7, 2021, the Former Parent transferred certain assets and liabilities associated with its Cloud Fax business to Consensus, including the equity interests in J2 Cloud Services, in exchange for approximately $259.1 million in cash, an asset related to the
$500 million aggregate principal amount of the 6.5% Senior Notes due 2028, and the return of the assets and liabilities related to the non-fax business back to Ziff Davis. The transfer to the Former Parent of the non-fax business met the accounting requirements to be
presented as a discontinued operation once the Separation was completed as the disposition of the non-fax business constitutes a strategic shift that will have a major effect on the Company’s operations relative to the historical operations of J2 Cloud Services.

Accordingly. the consolidated financial statements reflect the results of the non-fax business as a discontinued operation for all periods presented. The Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Income report discontinued operations separate from
continuing operations. The Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (including Note 18 - Supplemental Cash Flow Information) and Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity combine continuing and discontinued
operations. The Consolidated Statements of Income, Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity include the non-fax business activity through October 7, 202
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‘The following table summarizes the major classes of assets and liabilities of discontinued operations that were included in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2020 (in thousands):
December 31,
2020

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents s
Accounts receivable, net of allowances $4,322
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets, discontinued operations.
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Intangibles, net
Goodwil
Notes receivable from related parties, noncurrent
Deferred income taxes, noncurrent
Other assets

Total noncurrent assets, discontinued operations

Total assets, discontinued operations.

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $
Income taxes payable, current
Deferred revenue, current
Operating lease liabilities, current
Other current liabil

Total current liabilities, discontinued operations
Deferred revenue, noncurrent
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent

ies

Liability for uncertain tax positions
Deferred income taxes, noncurrent
Other long-term liabilities
Total noncurrent liabilities, discontinued operations

ies, discontinued operations
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The key components of income from discontinued operations that were included in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31
2021 2020 2019
Revenues B 71571 S 347293 S 339.276
Cost of revenues 74294 100871 94,280
Gross Profit 197277 246422 244.996
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 72425 72,080 58,875
Research, development and engineering 16,756 15,681 14332
General and administrative 84213 118,608 123812
Goodwill impairment on business 32,629
Total operating expense 206,023 206,369 197,019
(Loss) income from discontinued operations (8.746) 40,053 47977
Interest expense (235) (939) (1,015)
Interest income 693 963 467
(Loss) gain on sale of businesses (21,797) 17,122 —
Other income (expense) 1,752 (1,606) 103
(Loss) income from discontinued operations before income taxes (28333) 55,593 47532
Income tax (benefit) expense (16,160) 25,093 13,448
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes B (2173 § 30500 S 34,084
‘The key components of cash flows from discontinued operations are as follows (in thousands):
Year ended December 31
2021 2020 2019
Depreciation and amortization 5 39727 3 67995 S 70,700
Capital expenditure 14322 19,633 15229
Share-based compensation expense 602 4138 2711
Non-cash operating lease costs 2814 4364 5454
Deferred taxes. 554 7723 (193)
Foreign currency remeasurement gain 9) 3,574 1420
Lease asset impairments and other charges 990 = =
Loss (gain) on sale of businesses. 21,797 (17.122)
Goodvwill impairment on business $ 3269 S -

Prior to the Separation, the Company completed the following dispositions that did not meet the criteria for discontinued operations by themselves but were subsequently classified as discontinued operations as they are part of the non-fax business transferred back
o the Former Parent.

Voice Asset Sales

During the first quarter of 2021, the Company committed to a plan to sell certain Voice assets in the United Kingdom as they were determined to be non-core assets. On February 9, 2021, in a cash transaction, the Company sold the Voice assets. The total gain
recognized on the sale of these Voice assets was $2.8 million which was recorded in discontinued operations on the Consolidated Statement of Income in the year ended December 31, 2021



During the second quarter of 2020, the Company committed to a plan to sell certain Voice assets in Australia and New Zealand as they were determined to be non-core assets. On August 31, 2020, in a cash transaction, the Company sold these Voice assets for a gain
of $17.1 million which was recorded in discontinued operations on the Consolidated Statement of Income in the year ended December 31, 2020,

B2B Back-up

During the first quarter of 2021, the Company commitied to a plan o sell its B2B Backup business as it was determined to be a non-core business. The B2B Backup business met the held for sale criteria, and accordingly, the assets and liabilities were presented as
held for sale on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31,2021 and June 30, 2021. During the second quarter of 2021, the Company received an offer to purchase the B2B Backup business and management determined that the fair value of the business less cost o sell
was lower than its carrying amount. As a result, the Company recorded an impairment o goodwill of $32.6 million during the second quarter of 2021, which was recorded in impairment of business on the Consolidated Statement of Income (see Note 8 - Goodwill and
Intangible Assets). On September 17, 2021, in a cash transaction, the Company sold the B2B Backup business. The total loss recognized on the sale of the B2B Backup business was $24.6 million which was recorded in discontinued operations on the Consolidated Statement
of Income in the year ended December 31, 2021

6. Fair Value Measurements

‘The Company complies with the provisions of ASC 820, which defines fair value, provides a framework for measuring fair value and expands the disclosures required for fair value measurements of financial and non-financial assets and ASC 820 clarifies
that fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to scll an asset o paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that is determined bused on assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing an asset or a liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, ASC 820 establishes a three-tier value hirarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in the valuation methodologies in measuring fair value:

§ Level 1 - Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

§ Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, or other inputs that are observable or
can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilitics.

§ Level 3~ Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.

‘The fair value hierarchy also requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.
‘The fair value of long-term debt is determined using recent quoted market prices or dealer quotes for each of the Company’s instruments, which are Level 1 inputs.

‘The Company classifies its contingent consideration liability in connection with acquisitions within Level 3 because factors used to develop the estimated fair value are unobservable inputs, such as volatility and market risks, and are not supported by market
activity. Significant increases or decreases in either of the inputs in isolation would result in a significantly lower or higher fair value measurement

‘The input used in connection with the current contingent consideration arrangements is forccasted revenues which are compared to the revenue thresholds determined in cach contingent arrangement. Based on this revenue comparison, the Company assesses whether
it expects a contingent payment to oceur. If such payment is expected, the fair value of the contingent consideration will be the expected payment.
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The following tables present the fair values of the Company’s financial assets or liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands):

December 31, 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

Carrying Value

Liabilities:

Contingent consideration s - 4071 8

4071

4071

w|o

Total liabilities measured at fair value B —

w|e

4071 §

4071

$

4,071

The following tables presents a reconciliation of the Company’s Level 3 financial liabilitis related to contingent consideration that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands):

Level 3 Affected line item in the Statement of Income

Balance as of January 1, 2020 B —
Contingent consideration 4071
Total fair value adjustments reported in eamings =
Contingent consideration payments —
Balance as of December 31, 2020 s 2071
Contingent consideration —
Total fair value adjustments reported in earnings 685 General and administrative
Contingent consideration payments (4,756)  Not Applicable

Balance as of December 31, 2021 s —

General and administrative
Not Applicable

The fair value of the contingent consideration was zero and $4.1 million at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. Due to achievement of certain thresholds, $4.8 million was paid during 2021
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded an increase in the fair value of the contingent consideration of $0.7 million and reported such increase in general and administrative expenses.
A Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, stated at cost, at December 31, 2021 and 2020 consisted of the following (in thousands):

2021

2020

Computers and related equipment 3
Fumniture and equipment
Leaschold improvements

51411
846
1,718

35,032
147
2,828

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization

53,975
(20,126)

38,007
(12,954)

Total property and equipment, net s

33.849

25,053

Depreciation and amortization expense was $7.3 million, 7.1 mil

ion and $3.2

ion for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

During the fourth quarter of 2021, the Company recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $1.7 m
recorded in 2020 or 2019.
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8. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible asset d in a business Intangible assets resulting from the acquisitions of entities accounted for using the acquisition method of
accounting are recorded at the estimated fair value of the assets acquired. Identifiable intangible assets are comprised of purchased customer relationships, trademarks and trade names, developed technologies and other intangible assets. The fair values of these identified
intangible assets are based upon expected future cash flows or income, which take into consideration certain assumptions such as customer turmover, trade names and patent lives. These determinations are primarily based upon the Company’s historical experience and
expected benefit of each intangible asset. If it is determined that such assumptions are not aceurate, then the resulting change will impact the fair value of the intangible asset. Identifiable intangible assets are amortized over the period of estimated economic benefit, which

ranges from | year to 20 years

‘The changes in carrying amounts of goodwill attributable to continuing operations for the years ended December 31,2021 and 2020 are as follows (in thousands):

Amount
Balance as of January 1, 2020 s 320,095
Goodwill acquired (Note 4) 15,844
Foreign exchange translation 6491
Balance as of December 31, 2020 S 342,430
G221

Foreign exchange translation
Balance as of December 31, 2021

There has not previously been an impairment charge of goodwill related to continuing operations.
Intangible Assets with Indefinite Lives:

Intangible assets are summarized as of December 31,2021 and 2020 as follows (in thousands):

2021 2020
Trade names s 27388 S 27463
Other 3683 3.691
Total s 31071 § 31154

Intang} i 3
As of December 31, 2021, intangible assets subject to amortization relate primarily to the following (in thousands):
Weighted-Average
Amortization Historical Accumulated

Period Cost Amortization Net
Trade names 1.6 years s 12219 8 10633 S 1,586
Patent and patent licenses 0.0 years 10.162 9.751 an
Customer relationships 43 years 99,571 90,050 9,521
Other purchased intangibles 3.8 years 13,160 12200 960
Total s 135112 § 122634 $ 12478

O Historically, the Company has amorized its customer relationship assets in a pattern that best reflects the pace in which the assets” benefits are consumed. This pattern results in a substantial majority of the amortization expense being recognized in the first four to five
years, despite the overall life of the asset

76-




As of December 31, 2020, intangible assets subject to amortization relate primarily to the following (in thousands):

Weighted-Average

Amortization Historical Accumulated
Period Cost izati Net
Trade names 26years S 13435 § 1548 S 1,887
Patent and patent licenses 1.0 year 1,686 1,568 18
Customer relationships ! 5.3 years 101,780 88,102 13,678
Other purchased intangibles 48 years 10,948 9.019 1929
Total s 127849 § 10237 5 17,612

 Historically, the Company has amortized its customer relationship assets in a pattern that best reflects the pace in which the assets’ benefits are consumed. This pattern results in a substantial majority of the amortization expense being recognized in the first four to five
years, despite the overall life of the asset.

Expected amortization expenses for intangible assets subject to amortization at December 31, 2021 are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year: Amount
2022 B 4,052
2023 2832
2024 2,041
2025 1300
2026 828
Thereafter 1425

Total expected amortization expense

As part of the Separation, Ziff Davis transferred $8.5 million in patent and patent licenses to Consensus in a non-cash transaction. These patent and patent licenses were not historically Cloud Fax assets, thereby increasing the historical cost of patent and patent
licenses from $1.7 million in 2020 to $10.2 million in 2021

Amortization expense was $4.8 million, $4.7 million and $7.1 mil

ion for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

9. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 cor g (in thousands):

2021
2026 Senior Notes s 305,000
2028 Senior Notes 500,000
Total Notes 805,000
Less: Deferred issuance costs (12,960)
Total long-term debt 5 792,040
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At December 31, 2021, future principal payments for debt were as follows (in thousands):

Total
Fiscal year:
2

2025 —
2026 305,000
‘Thereafter 500,000

Interest expense was $14.3 million, $75.8 million, and $43.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The $75.8 million interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2020 includes a loss on extinguishment of $38.0 million
for the redemption of all of its outstanding $650.0 million 6.0% Senior Notes in 2020.
2026 Senior Notes

On October 7, 2021, Consensus issued $305.0 million of senior notes due in 2026 (the “2026 Senior Notes™), in a private placement offering exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933. Consensus received proceeds of $301.2 million,
after deducting the initial purchasers” discounts, commissions and offering expenses. The 2026 6.0% Senior Notes are presented as long-term debt, net of deferred issuance costs, on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2021. The 2026 Senior Notes bear
interest at a rate of 6.0% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and October 15 of each year, commencing on April 15,2022

‘The 2026 Senior Notes mature on October 15, 2026, and are senior unsecured obligations of the Company which are guaranteed, jointly and severally, on an unsecured basis by certain of the Company’s existing and future domestic direct and indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Guarantors™). If Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc. or any of s restricted subsidiarics acquires or creates a domestie restricted subsidiary, other than an Insignificant Subsidiary (as defined in the indenture pursuant to which the 2026 Senior Notes
were issued (the “2026 Indenture™), afier the issue date, o any Insignificant Subsidiary ceases to fit within the definition of Insignificant Subsidiary, such restricted subsidiary is required to unconditionally guarantee, jointly and severally, on an unsecured basis, the
Company’s obligations under the 2026 Senior Notes.

‘The Company may redeem some or all of the 2026 Senior Notes at any time on or after October 15, 2023 at specified redemption prices plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding the redemption date. Before October 15, 2023, and following certain
equity offerings, the Company also may redeem up to 40% of the 2026 Senior Notes at a price equal to 106.0% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding the redemption date. The Company may make such redemption only if, afier
such redemption, at least 50% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2026 Senior Notes remains outstanding. In addition, at any time prior to October 15, 2023, the Company may redeem some or all of the 2026 Senior Notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal
amount, plus acerued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date, plus an applicable “make-whole” premium.

‘The Indenture contains covenants that restrict the Company’s ability to (i) pay dividends or make distributions on the Company’s common stock; (ii) make certain restricted payments: (iii) create liens or enter into sale and leaseback transactions; (iv) enter into
transactions with affiliates; (v) merge or consolidate with another company; and (vi) transfer and sell assets. These covenants contain certain exceptions. Restricted payments are applicable only if Consensus Cloud Solutions, Ine. and subsidiaries designated as restricted
subsidiaries has a net leverage ratio of greater than 3.0 to 1.0. In addition, if such net leverage ratio is in excess of 3.0 to 1.0, the restriction on restricted payments is subject to various exceptions, including the total ageregate amount not to exceed the greater of (A)
$100.0 million and (B) 50.0% of EBITDA for the most recently ended four fiscal quarter period ended immediately prior to such date for which internal financial statements are available. The Company is in compliance with its debt covenants as of December 31, 2021
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As of December 31,2021, the estimated fair value of the 2026 Senior Notes was approximately $316.1 million and was based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes for the 2026 Senior Notes which are Level I inputs in the fair value hierarchy.
‘The following table provides additional information related to our 2026 Senior Notes (in thousands):
2021
Principal amount of 2026 Senior Notes s 305,000
Less: Debt issuance costs @, 582)
Net carrying amount of 2026 Senior Notes

2028 Senior Notes

On October 7, 2021, Consensus issued $500.0 million of 6.5% senior notes due in 2028 (the 2028 Senior Notes™), in a private placement offering exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933. In exchange for the equity interest in the
Company, Consensus issued the 2028 Senior Notes to Ziff Davis (see Note 20 - Related Party Transactions). Ziff Davis then exchanged the 2028 Senior Notes with lenders under its credit agreement (or their affiliates) in exchange for extinguishment of a similar amount
indebtedness under such credit agreement for a total amount of $483.8 million, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discounts, commissions and offering expenses. The 2028 Senior Notes were presented as long-term debt, net of deferred issuance costs, on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2021. The 2028 Senior Notes bear interest at a rate of 6.5% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and October 15 of each year, commencing on April 15, 2022.

‘The 2028 Senior Notes mature on October 15, 2028, and are senior unsecured obligations of the Company which are guaranteed, jointly and severally, on an unsecured basis by certain of the Company’s existing and future domestic direct and indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Guarantors”). If Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc. or any of its restricted subsidiaries acquires or creates a domestic restricted subsidiary, other than an Insignificant Subsidiary (as defined in the indenture pursuant to which the 2028 Senior Notes
were issued (the “2028 Indenture”), after the issue date, or any Insignificant Subsidiary ceases to fit within the definition of Insignificant Subsidiary, such restricted subsidiary is required to unconditionally guarantee, jointly and severally, on an unsecured basis, the
Company’s obligations under the 2028 Senior Notes

‘The Company may redeem some or all of the 2028 Senior Notes at any time on or after October 15, 2026 at specified redemption prices plus acerued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding the redemption date.

The Indenture contains covenants that restrict the Company’s ability to (i) pay dividends or make distributions on the Company’s common stock; (ii) make certain restricted payments; (iii) create liens or enter into sale and leascback transactions; (iv) enter into
transactions with affiliates; (v) merge or consolidate with another company; and (vi) transfer and sell assets . These covenants contain certain exceptions. Restricted payments are applicable only if Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc. and subsidiaries designated as restricted
subsidiaries has a net leverage ratio of greater than 3.0 to 1.0. In addition, if such net leverage ratio is in excess of 3.0 to 1.0, the restriction on restricted payments is subjeet to various exceptions, including the total aggregate amount not to exceed the greater of (A)
$100.0 million and (B) 50.0% of EBITDA for the most recently ended four fiscal quarter period ended immediately prior to such date for which internal financial statements are available. The Company is in compliance with its debt covenants as of December 31, 2021

As of December 31, 2021, the estimated fair value of the 2028 Senior Notes was approximately $521.2 million and was based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes for the 2028 Senior Notes which are Level 1 inputs in the fair value hierarchy.

‘The following table provides additional information related to our 2028 Senior Notes (in thousands):

2021

Principal amount of 2028 Senior Notes
Less: Debt issuance costs

Net carrying amount of 2028 Senior Notes
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2025 Senior Notes

On June 27, 2017, 12 Cloud Services, LLC (*12 Cloud”) and J2 Cloud Co-Obligor, Inc. (the “Co-Issuer” and together with 12 Cloud, the “Issuers”), wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, completed the issuance and sale of $650.0 million aggregate principal
amount of their 6.0% senior notes du in 2025 (the 2025 Senior Notes™) in a private placement offering exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933. The Company received proceeds of $636.5 million, afier deducting the initial purchasers’
discounts, commissions and offering expenses. The 6.0% Senior Notes bore interest at a rate of 6.0% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on January 15 and July 15 of each year.

On October 7, 2020, the Company redeemed all of its outstanding $650.0 million 2025 Senior Notes for $694.6 million, including an carly redemption premium of $29.2 million and accrued and unpaid interest of $15.4 million. The Company recorded a loss on
extinguishment of $38.0 million which is recorded in interest expense, net in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

10.  Leases

Consensus leases certain facilities and equipment under non-cancelable operating and finance leases which expire at various dates through 2031. Office and equipment leases are typically for terms of three to five years and generally provide renewal options for
terms up to an additional five years.

‘The Company recorded total non-cash impairment charges of $7.5 million, zero, and zero during the years ended December 31,2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively. The $7.5 million in impairment charge during 2021 consists of $6.5 million recognized in continuing
operations and $1.0 million recognized in discontinued operations. For the impairment charge recognized in continuing operations, the Company decided to exit and seck subleases for certain leased facilities primarily due to a “partial remote” work model for a significant
number of employees. The Company recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $6.5 million related to operating lease right-of-use assets for the affected facility. The impairment was determined by comparing the fair value of the |mpaclcd right-of-use asset 1o the carrying
value of the asset as of the impairment measurement date, as required under ASC Topic 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment. The fair value of the right-of-use asset was based on the estimated sublease income for the affected facilities taking into consideration the time it will
take to obtain a sublease tenant, the applicable discount rate and the sublease rate which represents Level 3 unobservable inputs. The carrying value of the asset was remeasured to exclude a five year optional lease term that was ongmally included in the initial assessment.
The impairment is presented in general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Income. No impairment was recorded in 2020 or 2019,

‘The components of lease expense, recorded in cost of revenues and general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Income, were as follows for the year ended (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020
Operating lease cost s 2675 S 3.002
Short-term lease cost 875 186
Finance lease cost
Amortization of right-of-use assets 834 160
Interest on lease liabilities — —
S 4384 S 3,348

Total lease cost




Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases was as follows (in thousands):
Lease-Related Assets and Liabilities
Operating lease right-of-use assets

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
B 723§ 25,711
Finance lease right-of-use assets () 2,648 800
Total right-of-use assets s 9881 S 26511
Operating lease liabilities, current s 2421 S 2,578
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent 14,108 25,549
Total operating lease liabilities s 16529 § 28,127
O Included in “Other assets™ in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The full amount of the finance leases were prepaid. Therefore, there is no corresponding lease liability associated with the finance right-of-use assets

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases s 2501 § 1344
Operating cash flows from finance leases 2719
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:
Operating leases s 259 s 356
Finance leases 2719 959
Other supplemental operating lease information consists of the followin
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Operating leases:
Weighted average remaining lease term 8.8 years 14.0 years
Weighted average discount rate 48%

44%

Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2021 were as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year:

Thereafter
Total lease payments
Less: Imputed interest

Present value of operating lease liabilities
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Significant Judgments
Discount Rate

The majority of the Company’s leases are discounted using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate as the rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. Rates are obtained from various large banks to determine the appropriate incremental borrowing rate
each quarter for collateralized loans with a maturity similar o the lease term.

Options

The lease term is generally the minimum noncancelable period of the lease. The Company does not include option periods unless the Company determined it is reasonably certain of exercising the option at inception or when a triggering event occurs.
Facility lease

On October 28, 2021, Ziff Davis (the “Assignor”) and Consensus (the “Assignee”) entered into the Assignment and First Amendment to Office Lease (the “Amendment”) with the NREA-TRC 700 LLC (the “Landlord™), in regards to the lease which was previously
entered into on April 24, 2019 between the Assignor and the Landlord for certain office space located at 700 South Flower Street, Los Angeles, California (the “Lease”), the lease has an expiration date of January 31, 2031. The Amendment granted the Landlord’s consent to
the assignment of the Lease by the Assignor to Assignee.
1. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

From time to time, the Company and its affiliates are involved in litigation and other legal disputes or regulatory inquiries that arise in the ordinary course of business. Any claims or regulatory actions against the Company and its affiliates, whether meritorious or
not, could be time consuming and costly, and could divert significant operational resources. The outcomes of such matters are subject to inherent ncertaintics, carrying the potential for unfavorable rulings that could include monetary damages and injunctive relief.

‘The Company does not believe, based on current knowledge, that any legal proceedings or claims currently exist which, after giving effect to existing acerued liabilities, are likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position,
results of operations, or cash flows. It is the Company’s policy to expense as incurred legal fees related to any litigation.

Non-Income Related Taxes

‘The Company has not historically withheld sales tax in states where it was not able to quantify the appropriate sales tax to be withheld. The Company believes it is probable that sales tax liability exists for its corporate accounts for the periods 2017 through 2021
However, the Company is currently unsble to determine which of thee customers ae cther exempt organizations or resellers and are thus exempt from sales tax. Therefore it cannot estimate the sales tax lability for these corporate customers. The Company is currently
analyzing the pool of corporate customers subjeet to sales fax in order to estimate the liability and will record an accrual when the exposure is estimable. The Company currently cannot estimate the range of sales tax liability for corporate customers.

In the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company determined that a sales tax liability is probable and it developed a methodology to estimate the liability for the sales tax for the SoHo revenue stream during the affected periods 2017 through 2021. Accordingly,
the Company has recorded a sales tax expense in 2021 of $6.7 million for all periods affected, net of federal income tax benefit of $1.9 million of which $4.6 million, net of federal income tax benefit of $1.3 million, is deemed to be an out of period correction that is not
deemed to be material to either the current or any prior periods.
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12 Income Taxes

‘The provision for income tax related to continuing operations consisted of the following (in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Current:
Federal s 2368 S 5831 s 9.079
State 1445 923 3772
Foreign 9.496 17,756 9.944
Total current 33,309 24,510 22,795
Deferred:
Federal (4,902) (151) 99
State 3.575 762 (1.771)
Foreign 7.928 4922 (54.260)
Total deferred 6,601 5,533 (55.932)
s 39910 S 30048 S (G3.137)

Total provision

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate with Consensus’ effective income tax rat
Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Statutory tax rate 21% 2% 21%
State income taxes, net 29 09 05
Foreign rate differential ©.1) 2.8) (5.0)
Foreign income inclusion 49 43 16
Foreign tax credit “0) (35) an
Reserve for uncertain tax positions. 05 0.1 (8.3)
Intra-entity tax benefit - - (L7
Tax credits and incentives o.1) 0.1 09
Executive compensation 02 — —
Return to provision adjustments — 13 —
Other 0.5) (1.4) 16
248% 198% (22.9)%

Effective tax rates

The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2021 differs from the federal statutory rate primarily due to an increase in the net reserve for uncertain tax positions during 2021 driven by an increase in expenses incurred that are not deductible for tax. The
effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2020 differs from the federal statutory rate primarily due to impacts of the jurisdictional mix of income and the disallowance of certain expenses. The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2019 differs from the
federal statutory rate primarily duc to a net tax benefit recognized as a result of an intra-cntity transfer. In December 2019, the Company completed an intra-entity asset transfer between two of it foreign subsidiarics as part of the reorganization of its international operating

structure,
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities result from differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities. Temporary differences and carryforwards which give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows
(in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards. $ 48 s 49
“Tax eredit carryforwards 173 —
Accrued expenses 2,669 2179
Allowance for bad debt 860 609
Share-based compensation expense 25 =
Basis difference in property and equipment 30,887 36,139
Impairment of investments — 48
Deferred revenue — 423
Operating lease 4196
State taxes 135 175
Other 2,674 4773

41887 44,395

Less: valuation allowance @) 45
Total deferred tax assets B 4182 S 44350
Deferred tax liabilities:
Basis difference in property and equipment $ (3304) § (1.869)
ROU asset (1,773) —
Prepaid insurance (12) (203)
Other (638) (3.320)
Total deferred tax liabilities (6.027) (G392
Net deferred tax assets s 35815 S 38.958

‘The Company had approximately $35.8 million and $39.0 million in net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, related primarily to basis difference between tangible and intangible assets. Based on the weight of available evidence, the
Company assesses whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. If necessary, the Company records a valuation allowance sufficient to reduce the deferred tax asset to the amount that is more likely than not to be
realized. The deferred tax assets should be realized through future operating results and the reversal of temporary differences.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company has interest expense limitation carryovers of $4.9 mil

and zero, respectively, which last indefinitely.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had $0.2 million and zero foreign tax credit carryforward, respectively. Tn addition, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had state research and development tax credits of $0.1 million and zero,
respectively, which can be carried forward indefinitely.

‘The Company has not provided deferred taxes on approximately $244.2 million of undistributed eamings from foreign subsidiaries as of December 31, 2021. The Company has not provided any additional deferred taxes with respect to items such as foreign
withholding taxes, state income tax or foreign exchange gain or loss that would be due when cas| ly repatriated to the U.S. because those foreign camings are considered permanently reinvested in the business or may be remitied substantially free of any additional
taxes. Because of the various avenues in which to repatriate the carnings, it is not practicable to determine the amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liability related to the undistributed carnings if eventually remitied.

ctu:

Certain tax payments are prepaid during the year and included within prepaid expenses and other current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Company’s prepaid tax payments were zero and $0.3 million at December 31,2021 and 2020, respectively.
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Income from continuing operations before income taxes included income from domestic operations of $80.7 million, $49.7 million and $81.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and income from foreign operations of $80.4
million, $102.8 million and $64.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Uncertain Income Tax Positions
Tax positions are evaluated in a two-step process. The Company first determines whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination. If a tax position meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, it is then measured to
determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the financial statements. The tax position is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company classifies gross interest and penalties and

unrecognized tax benefits that are not expected to result in payment or receipt of cash within one year as non-current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

As of December 31,2021, the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits was $3.7 million, of which $3.7 million, if recognized, would affect the Company’s effective tax rate. As of December 31, 2020, the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits was $3.1 million,
of which $3.1 million, if recognized, would affect the Company’s effective tax rate. As of December 31, 2019, the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits was $3.0 million, of which $3.0 million, if recognized would affect the Company’s effective tax rate.

‘The aggregate changes in the balance of unrecognized tax benefits, which excludes interest and penalties, for 2021, 2020 and 2019, is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019

Beginning balance 5 3050 S 3015 S 10,429
Decreases related to tax positions taken during a prior year — — (7.441)
Increases related to tax positions taken in the current year 685 35 79
Decreases related to expiration of statute of limitations — — 52)
Ending balance B 3735 S 3.050 S 3015

‘The Company includes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within the provision for income taxes. As of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the total amount of interest and penalties accrued was $1.0 million, $0.9 million and $0.8 million,
respectively, which is classified as a liability for uncertain tax positions on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. In connection with tax maters, the Company recognized interest and penalty expense (benefit) in 2021, 2020 and 2019 of $0.2 million, $0.2 million and S(4.4)
million, respectively.

Uncertain income tax positions are reasonably possible to significantly change during the next 12 months as a result of completion of income tax audits and expiration of statutes of limitations. At this point it is not possible to provide an estimate of the amount, if
any, of significant changes in reserves for uncertain income tax positions as a result of the completion of income tax audits that are reasonably possible to oceur in the next 12 months. In addition, the Company cannot currently estimate the amount of, if any, uncertain income
tax positions which will be released in the next 12 months as a result of expiration of statutes of limitations due to ongoing audits. As a result of ongoing federal, state and foreign income tax audits (discussed below), it is reasonably possible that the Company’s entire reserve
for uncertain income tax positions for the periods under audit will be released. It i also reasonably possible that the Company’s reserves will be inadequate to cover the entire amount of any such income tax liability.

Income Tax Audits:

‘The Company files tax returns in the US, Ireland, Netherlands, France, Canada, Japan and Hong Kong. As of December 31, 2021, the Company is not under audit in any jurisdiction that it operates within. The Company has not filed any tax returns for the post spin
periods, however it does have some international subsidiaries who have previously filed tax returns in their local jurisdictions. In respect to these international subsidiaries, tax returns filed for the years from 2017 onwards are still open to examination by tax authorities
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13.  Stockholders’ Equity

Recapitalization
On ctober 7, 2021, the Formee Parent rnsfredcetain asscts and Titis asocited with s Cloud Fax businssto Comensus,incuding the iy intret in 12 Clowd Seviss, i exchange forapproxinately $250.1 milion incash,an st et the

5500 million aggregate principal amount of the 6.5% Senior Notes due 2028, and the return of the assets and I related to the non-fax business back to Ziff

In connection with the Separation, 19,902,924 shares of common stock were issued to the Former Parent and the historical net parent investment was as share capital and a al-p: capital to reflect the new corporate structure of Consensus,
Additional-paid-n-capital (APIC) was further adjusted to reflect (i) the distribution of cash to the Former Parent in the amount of $290.3 million (5259.1 million base amount plus additional net cash sweeps of $31.2 million), (i) the transfer to the parent of the
$500.0 million aggregate principal amount of the 6.5% Senior Notes due 2028, and (i) the transfer of the net assets of the non-fax business in the amount of $837.3 million back to Ziff Davis. At the time of the separation, the excess of the distributions to the former parent
over the remaining net parent investment (i.c., the negative APIC balance) was reclassified to accumulated deficit.

‘The Separation was achieved when Ziff Davis” distributed 80.1% of the shares of Consensus common stock to holders of Ziff Davis common stock as of the close of business on October 1, 2021, the record date for the distribution. Ziff Davis® stockholders of record
received one share of Consensus common stock for every three shares of Ziff Davis® common stock. Ziff retained a 19.9% investment in Consensus following the Separation.

On March 1, 2022, the Company’s Board of Directors has approved a share buyback program. Under this program, the Company may purchase in the public market or in off-market transactions up to $100.0 million worth of stock through February 2025. The timing
and amounts of purchases will be determined by the Company, depending on market conditions and other factors it deems relevant (see Note 21 - Subsequent Events).

Dividends
‘The Company currently does not issue dividends to Consensus sharcholders. Future dividends are subject to Board approval
Common Stock

Periodically, participants in Consensus 2021 stock plan may surrender to the Company shares of Consensus common stock to satisfy tax withholding obligations arising upon the vesting of restricted stock. During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019
the Company purchased zero shares, respectively, from plan participants for this purpose.

Refer to Note 14 -~ Equity Incentive and Employee Stock Purchase Plan, for shares of common stock issued in relation to the Company’s equity incentive plan
14 Equity Incentive and Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Prior to the Separation from Ziff Davs, the Company recorded share-based compensation expense for share-based awards granted to its employees and non-employees for services provided based on expense that was allocated from the Former Parent to the
Company for each relevant employee on a monthly basis. The Former Parents” plans included their 2015 Stock Plan and the 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

In connection with the Separation, the Former Parent terminated awards that were held by Consensus employees. These were replaced with awards issued under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan. Each award held by a Consensus employee under the Former Parent’s
compensation plans was converted into 2.21 Consensus awards under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, which resulted in 86,460 Ziff Davis awards converted into 191,076 Consensus awards. This modification resulted in no incremental compensation cost

In 2021, the Company recorded a reduction of share-based compensation expense, offset by APIC, of $3.2 million, net of federal income tax expense of $1.0 million, of which $3.0 million, net of federal income tax expense of $0.9 million, is deemed to be an out of
period correction that is not deemed to be material to cither the current or any prior periods.




Consensus Equity Incentive Plans
(a) The 2021 Equity Incentive Plan

In December 2021, Consensus’ Board of Directors adopted the Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan™). The 2021 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock
units, performance shares and share units, and other share-based awards. 4,000,000 shares of common stock are authorized to be used for 2021 Plan purposes.

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

Consensus has awarded restricted stock and restricted stock units to its Board of Directors and senior staff pursuant to the 2021 Plan. Compensation expense resulting from restricted stock and restricted unit grants is measured at fair value on the date of grant and is
recognized as share-based compensation expense over the applicable vesting period. Vesting periods are approximately one year for awards to members of the Company’s Board of Directors, four years for senior staff (excluding market-based awards discussed below) and
five years for the Chief Executive Officer and Chicf Operating Officer. The Company issued 59,175 shares of restricted stock awards (excluding awards with market conditions below), all of which were exchanged in the Separation. The Company granted 510,128 shares of
restricted stock units (excluding units with market conditions below), which includes 91,203 shares exchanged in the Separation, during the year ended December 31,2021

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units with Market Conditions

Consensus has awarded certain key employees market-based restricted stock awards pursuant to the 2021 Plan. The market-based awards have vesting conditions that are based on specified stock price targets of the Company’s common stock. Market conditions
were factored into the grant date fair value using a Monte Carlo valuation model, which utilized multiple input variables to determine the probability of the Company achicving the specified stock price targets with a 20-day and 30-day lookback (trading days). Stock-based
compensation expense related to an award with a market condition will be recognized over the requisite service period using the graded-vesting method unless the market condition has been met and requisite service period has been completed, then the expense will be
accelerated and recognized in period. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company issued 6,060 shares of market-based restricted stock awards, all of which were exchanged in the Separation. The Company granted 503,144 market-based restricted stock units,
which includes 34,638 shares exchanged in the Separation, during the year ended December 31, 2021. The per share weighted-average grant-date fair values of the market-based resiricted stock awards granted during the year ended December 31,2021 was $57.67.

‘The weighted-average fair values of market-based restricted stock awards granted have been estimated utilizing the following assumptions:

December 31, 2021
Underlying stock price at valuation date B 57.06

Expected volatility 35.1%
frec interest rate 13%
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Restricted stock award activity for the year ended December 31, 2021 is set forth below:
Weighted-Average

Number of Shares Fair Value

Nonvested at January 1, 2021 — s —
Exchanged in Separation 65,235 57.77
Granted - -
Vested — —
Canceled — —

Nonvested at December 31, 2021 65235 8 51.77

Restricted stock unit activity for the year ended December 31,2021 is set forth below:

Weighted-Average

Weighted-Average Aggregate
Number of -ant-Dat Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Fair Value Life (in Years) Value
Outstanding at January 1, 2021 — G —
Exchanged in Separation 125,841 63.69
Granted 887,431 2778
Vested — —
Canceled (175) —
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 1013007 S 2936 453 S 58,627,923
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2021 593,369 § 3828 368 S 34,338,282

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had unrecognized share-based compensation cost of $48.6 million associated with these awards. This cost of $1.6 million and $47.0 million is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years for awards
and 5.4 years for units, respectively. The Company recognized $0.2 million of tax benefits related to the restricted stock awards and restricted stock units for the periods ending December 31, 2021 related to the 2021 Plan.

(b) Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”)
In October of 2021, Consensus established the Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Purchase Plan”), which provides the issuance of a maximum of 1,000,000 shares of common stock. Under the Purchase Plan, eligible
employees can have up to 15% of their earnings withheld, up to certain maximums, to be used to purchase shares of Consensus’ common stock at certain plan-defined dates. The purchase price for each offering period is 5% of the lesser of the fair market value of a share of

common stock of the Company (a “Share”) on the beginning o the end of the offering period. with each offering period being six months.

Consens

s performed an analysis of the Purchase Plan terms and determined that a plan provision exists which allows for the more favorable of two exercise prices. commonly referred to as a “look-back” feature. The purchase price discount and the look-back
feature cause the Purchase Plan to be compensatory and the Company to recognize compensation expense. The compensation cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. The Company recognized 0.1 million of compensation expense related
to the Purchase Plan for the year ended December 31, 2021. The Company used the Black-Scholes option pricing model to calculate the estimated fair value of the purchase right issued under the Purchase Plan. The expected volatility is based on historical volatility of the
Company’s common stock. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a term equal to the expected term of the option assumed at the date of grant. The Company uses an annualized dividend yield based upon the per share dividends declared
by its Board of Directors. Estimated forfeiture rates was 10.34% as of December 31, 2021.

‘The compensation expense related to the Purchase Plan has been estimated utilizing the following assumptions:
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December 31, 2021

Risk-free interest rate 0.05%
Expected term (in years) 05

Dividend yield 0.00%
Expected volatility 17.89%
Weighted average volatility 17.89%

During 2021, 10,421 Consensus shares were purchased under the Purchase Plan at $49.67 per share. As of December 31, 2021, there are 989,579 shares available under the Purchase Plan for future issuance.

Historical Cloud Services
(@ The 2015 Stock Option Plan
In May 2015, the Former Paren's Board of Dicctos adoped the Ziff Davs 2015 Sock Opton Flan (the 2015 Flan). The 2015 Plan provided orthe gran ofincentiv sock apions, nonquaifed stk optons, tock appreciaton s, tesuitedstok,resticted
stock units, performance shares, performance share units and other share-based awards. Options under the 2015 Plan may be granted at exercise prices determined by the Former Parent’s Board of Directors, provided that the exercise prices shall not be less than the higher of
The par valut or 100% aF the i market vahue of ZiT Davis” common sock subjctfo the opion on th date the option s ranied.

December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, options to purchxse were zero, 250, and 500 shares, respectively, of common stock that were exercisable under and outside of the 2015 Plan, at weighted average exercise prices of zero, $29.53, and $29.53, respectively. Stock
options g:nerally expire after 10 years and vest over a 5-year period.

Al stock option grants are approved by “outside directors” within the meaning of Internal Revenue Code Section
162(m).
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Stock Options
The stock option activity attributable to Consensus employees for the period ended December, 2021, 2020, and 2019 is summarized as follows:

Weighted-Average Remaining

Number of Shares Weighted-Average Exercise Price Contractual Life (In Years) Intrinsic Value

Options outstanding at January 1, 2019 9710 S 295

Granted — —

Exercised (1,000) $ 2953

Canceled
Options outstanding at December 31, 2019 8710 S 2953

Granted — —

Exercised 250) $ 2953

Canceled
Options outstanding at December 31, 2020 8460 S 2953

Granted —

Exercised (250) 29.53

Canceled

Adjustment due to Separation (8,210)
Options outstanding at December 31, 2021 — s — 00 S —
Exercisable at December 31, 2021 — S . 0.0 $ —
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2021 s — 0.0 $ —

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, the Former Parent granted zero options to Consensus employees, respectively, to purchase shares of common stock pursuant to the 2015 Plan. These stock options vested 20% per year and expired 10 years
from the date of grant

‘The total intrinsic values of options exercised attributable to Consensus employees during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was zero, respectively. The total fair value of options vested during the period prior the Separation was zero for the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.

Cash received by the Former Parent from options exercised under all share-based payment arrangements for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was zero. The actual tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from option exercises under the share-
based payment arrangements totaled zero for the years ended December 31,2021, 2020, 2019.

As of December 31,2021, there was zero of total unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested share-based compensation options granted under the 2015 Plan,
Fair Value Disclosure
Fomer Paent e the Black-Sholes opion pricing model to callat the i valus of each aption gran. Theexpected volflty is bated on historcalvolatly of the Earmee Parent’s comaton stock. The Former Parent etniaenthe expected term based upon

The
the historical xereie behavior of its mployecs. Th ik fvee ineres rate is based on U.S. Treasury 7ero-coupon seues with s term cqual to he expected tenm of the option assumed at the date of zrant. The Former Parent uses an anmualized dividend yield based upon the
per share dividends declared by the Former Parenl 's Board of Directors. Estimated forfeiture rates were 12.4%, 13.0%, and 13.9% as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

d senior staff pursuant to the 2015 Plan. Compensation expense resulting from restricted stock and restricted unit grants is measured at fair value
mately one year for awards to members of the Former Parent’s Board of Directors, five

‘The Former Parent has awarded restricted stock and restricted stock units to the Former Parent’s Board of Directors
on the date of grant and is recognized as share-based compensation expense over the applicable vesting period. Vesting periods are approy




years for senior staff (excluding market-based awards discussed below) and cight years for the Chief Executive Officer. The Former Parent granted 2,207, 2961, and 5,937 shares of restricted stock and restricted units (excluding awards with market conditions below) the
Years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Restricted Stock - Awards with Market Conditions

¢ Former Parent has awarded certain key employees market-based restricted stock awards pursuant to the 2015 Plan. The market-based awards have vesting conditions that are based on specified stock price targets of the Parent’s common stock. Market conditions
were factored into the grant date fair value using a Monte Carlo val ‘model, which utlized multiple input variables to determine the probability of the Former Parent achieving the specified stock price targets with a 20-day and 30-day lookback (trading days). Stoc}
based compensation expense related to an award with a market condition will be recognized over the requisite service period using the graded-vesting method regardless of whether the market condition is satisfied, provided that the requisite service period has been
completed. During the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Parent awarded 73,094, 82,112, and 74,051 market-based restricted stock awards, respectively. The per share weighted average grant-date fai
market-based restricted stock awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were $113.27, $91.17, and $84.58, respectively.

values of the

‘The Former Parent’s weighted-average fair values of market-based restricted stock awards granted have been estimated utilizing the following assumy

December 31, December 31, December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Underlying stock price at valuation s 1327 9117 S 8458
Expected volatility 303% 27.0% 283%
Risk-free interest rate 13% 07% 25%

he total fair value of restricted stock and restricted stock units vested during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $1.3 million, $0.7 million, and $2.0 million, respet

ly. The actual tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from the vesting of
restricted stock awards and units totaled zero, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.
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‘The restricted stock award activity for the years ended December 31,2021, 2020, and 2019 is set forth below:

‘The restricted stock unit activity attributable to Consensus employees for the years ended December 31,2021, 2020, and 2019 is set forth below:

Outstanding at January 1, 2019
Granted
Vested
Canceled
Outstanding at December 31, 2019
Granted
Vested
Canceled
Outstanding at December 31, 2020
Granted
Vested
Canceled
Adjustment due to Separation
Outstanding at December 31, 2021
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2021

Nonvested at January 1, 2019
Granted
Vested
Canceled
Nonvested at December 31, 2019
Granted
Vested
Canceled
Nonvested at December 31,2020
Granted
Vested
Canceled
Adjustment due to Separation
Nonvested at December 31,2021
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Number of Shares

(2.470)
(8.856)

Weighted-Av
Contractual

erage Rer
e G

mainin;
Sears)

Aggregate Intrinsic Value

Weighted-Average Grant-Date
Fair Value

Shares
58987 7477
7,564 82.64
(18,135) 70.08
(10,742) 72.62
37674 § 75.03
(7.785) 7643
(3.020) 7737
26869 S 5721
(6.189) 7452
(6.850) 83.14
(13.830) 53.72
— 3 —




(b) Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”)

In May of 2001, the Former Parent established the 12 Glabal, Inc. 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended (the “Purchase Plan”), which provided for the issuance of a maximum of 2,000,000 shares of common stock. Under the Purchase Plan, eligible
employees can have up to 15% of their carnings withheld, up to certain maximums, to be used to purchase shares of Ziff Davis® common stock at certain plan-defined dates. The price of the common stock purchased under the Purchase Plan for the offering periods is equal to
95% of the fair market value of the common stock at the end of the offering period.

On February 2, 2018, the Former Parent approved an amendment to the Former Parent’s Amended and Restated 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, to be effective May 1, 2018, such that (i) the purchase price for each offering period shall be 85% of the lesser of
the fair market value of a share of common stock of the Parent (a “Share™) on the beginning or the end of the offering period, rather than 95% of the fair market value of a Share at the end of the offering period, and (ii) each offering period will be six months, rather than
three months.

‘The Former Parent performed an analysis of the Amendment terms and determined that a plan provision exists which allows for the more favorable of two exercise prices, commonly referred to as a “look-back feature. The purchase price discount and the look-back
feature cause the Former Parent’s Purchase Plan to be compensatory and the Former Parent to recognize compensation expense. The compensation cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. The Former Parent used the Black-Scholes option
pricing model to calculate the estimated fair value of the purchase right issued under the ESPP. The expected volatility is based on historical volatility of the Former Parent’s common stock. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S, Treasury zero-coupon issues with a term
equal to the expected term of the option assumed at the date of grant. The Former Parent uses an annualized dividend yield based upon the per share dividends declared by the Former Parent’s Board of Directors. Estimated forfeiture rates were 11.15%, 11.15%, 5.80% and as
of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, 503, 1,413, and 1,921 shares, respectively were purchased under the Purchase Plan at price at $72.92 per share during 2021. As of December 31, 2021, zero shares were available under the Purchase Plan
for future issuance,

15, Defined Contribution 401(k) Savings Plan

Consensus has a 401(k) Savings Plan that qualifies under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Eligible employees may contribute a portion of their salary through payroll deductions, subject to certain limitations. The Company may make annual
contributions at its sole discretion o these plans. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the Company made contributions of $0.2 million, $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively, to this 401(k) Savings Plan.
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16, Earnings Per Share

‘The components of basic and diluted carnings per share are as follows (in thousands, except share and per share data):

Years Ended December 31,

2021 2020 20190
Numerator for basic and diluted net income per common share:
Net income from continuing operations attributable to common sharcholders s 2LI74§ 122413 § 178,883
Net income available to participating securities (359) - -
Net income available to common shareholders from continuing operations s 120815 122413 § 178,883
Denominator:
‘Weighted-average outstanding shares of common stock 19,904,237 19.902.924 19,902,924
ilutive cffect of:
Equity incentive plans 71,000 — —
Employee Stock Purchase Plan 11,652 — -
‘Common stock and common stock equivalents 19,986,889 19,902,924 19,902,924
Net income per share from continuing operations:
Basic s 607§ 615§ 899
Diluted $ 604§ 615§ 899

) On October 7, 2021, the separation of Consensus into an independent publicly traded company was completed. The Former Parent distributed 19,902,924 shares of Consensus common stock o holders of J2 Global common stock as of the close of business on October 1,
2021, the record date for the distribution. This share amount was utilized for the computation of basic and diluted camings per share for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively because the number of shares issued simply reflect a recharacterization of the

capital account previously held by the former parent (see Note 1 - The Company).
@) Represents unvested share-based payment awards that contain certain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents (whether paid or unpaid)

For the year ended December 31, 2021, 191,076 anti-dilutive shares were excluded from carnings per share calculation.

17 Segment Information

‘The Company’s businesses are based on the organizational structure used by the chief operating decision maker ("CODM) for making operating and investment decisions and for assessing performance. The CODM views the Company as one business, Cloud Fax.

The Company’s Cloud Fax business is driven primarily by subscription revenues that are relatively higher margin, stable and predictable from quarter to quarter with minor seasonal weakness in the fourth quarter.

The accounting policies of the businesses are the same as those described in Note 2 - Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. The Company evaluates performance based on revenue, gross margin and profit or loss from operations

before income taxes, not including nonrecurring gains and losses and foreign exchange gains and losses.



Consensus maintains operations in the U.S., Canada, Ireland and other countries. Geographic information about the U.S. and all other countries for the reporting periods is presented below. Such information attributes revenues based on markets where revenues are
reported (in thousands).

Years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Revenues:
United States H 274814 $ 256,853 $ 249,429
Canada 45,157 40,303 37.191
Ireland 21913 23514 26,104
All other countries. 10,780 10,498 9,835
Forcign countries 77,850 74315 73,130
Total s 352664 $ 33L168 $ 322,559
December 31, December 31,

2021 2020
Long-lived assets:
United States s 877§ 50,966
Canada 7,128 10,249
Treland 2,625 7,026
All other countries 80 135
Foreign countries 9.833 17.410
Total s 53560 S 68,376

18, Supplemental Cash Flows Information

Cash paid for interest on outstanding debt during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was zero, $54.4 million and $42.3 million, respectively, which is the primary contributor for total cash paid for interest.
Cash paid for income taxes net of refunds received was $3.1 million, $1.7 million and $1.3 million during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, in a non-cash transaction, an asset related to the $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of the 6.5% Senior Notes due 2028 (see Note 9 - Debt) and $837.3 million of non-fax business net assets were transferred to Ziff
Davis with a reduction of additional-paid-in-capita
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19.  Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following table summarizes the changes in accumulated balances of other comprehensive loss, which solely comprises of foreign currency translation adjustments, for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 (in thousands):

Foreign Currency Translation

Balance as of January 1, 2019 B (42.894)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (1.979)
Net current period other comprehensive loss (1.979)
Balance as of December 31, 2019 B (44.873)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (11,093)
Net current period other comprehensive loss (11.093)
Balance as of December 31, 2020 s (55.966)
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications (14.397)
Transfer of non-fax business to Former Parent 53,506
Net current period other comprehensive income 39,109
Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ (16,857)

There were zero ions out of other loss for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019.

20.  Related Party Transactions

In preparation for and in exccuting the Separation, the Company incurred approximately $11.5 million (excluding costs associated with the deferred issuance costs) of transaction-related costs, before reimbursement by Ziff Davis. These transaction costs primarily
relate to professional fees associated with preparation of regulatory filings and transaction exceution and separation activities within finance, tax and legal functions. During the year ended December 31, 2021, Consensus paid approximately $16.1 million to Ziff Davis. These
transaction-related costs were recorded in *General and administrative expenses’ within the Consolidated Statement of Income. The Company also reimbursed Ziff Davis for certain costs associated with the issuance of the 2026 and 2028 Senior Notes totaling $7.9 million
which was recorded as deferred issuance costs. In addition, the Company paid Ziff Davis approximately $8.9 million subsequent to the Separation due to excess cash held at the Separation date net of other related items pursuant to the Separation and Distribution Agreement.

In connection with the Separation, Consensus and Ziff Davis entered into several agreements that govern the relationship of the parties following the Separation, including a separation and distribution agreement, a transition services agreement, a tax matters
agreement, an employee matters agreement, an intellectual property license agreement, and a stockholder and registration rights agreement (the “Agreements”). The transition services agreement governs services including certain information technology services, finance and
accounting services and human resource and employee benefit services. The agreed-upon charges for such services are generally intended to allow the providing company to recover all costs and expenses of prov are expected to terminate no later than
twelve months following the Separation. Further, as noted in Note 10, Ziff Davis assigned its lease of office space in Los Angeles, California to Consensus. Ziff Davis and Consensus will have joint liability under the lease through October 7, 2022, afier which time the
Company will be the sole lessee under the lease. Amounts due to Ziff Davis as of December 31, 2021 was $5.7 million related to these items, as well as reimbursement related to certain transaction related costs, and is included in other current liabilities within the
Consolidated Balance Sheet.

21 Subsequent Event

On February 4, 2022, in a cash transaction, the Company acquired certain assets of Summit Healtheare Services, Inc., a Massachusetts based provider of secure interoperability solutions within the healtheare industry for total consideration of $15.0 million. The
initial accounting for this acquisition s incomplete due to the timing of available information and purchase accounting information is still being compiled and is not available for disclosure.
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On March 1, 2022, the Company’s Board of Directors has approved a share buyback program. Under this program, the Company may purchase in the public market or in off-market transactions up to $100.0 million worth of stock through February 2025. The timing
and amounts of purchases will be determined by the Company, depending on market conditions and other factors it decms relevant

On March 4, 2022, the Company entered into a Credit Agreement with certain lenders from time to time party thereto (collectively, the “Lenders™) and MUFG Union Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, collateral agent and sole lead arranger for the Lenders (the
“Agent”). Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Lenders have provided Consensus with a revolving credit facility of $25.0 million (the “Credit Facility”). The final maturity of the Credit Facility will occur on March 4, 2027.

Item 9. Changes In And Disagreements With Accountants On Accounting And Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
‘The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(c) under the Exchange Act) that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the Company’s reports under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,

summarized and reporied within the time periods speeifed i the Securies and Fxehange Commisson's ules and form, and tha such information s aecumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, ncluding he prinipal executive officer and the principa
financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Underthe supervision and with the participation of o managenent nclding our prncipal exetiv offce and principl inteial offcer, e conducid an evaluation of the effctvencss of our dislosue contols and pocedures 3 of the e ofth year ended
December 31, 2021 as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(¢) under the Exchange Act. Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of
the end ofhe perod covercd by tis report die 0.2 mateia weaknes in micral conrol over fnancil reporting, deseribed below.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in interal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on
a timely basis.

‘The Company did not design and maintain effective internal controls over the accounting for certain elements of the spin-off transaction, a significant unusual transaction, which resulted in a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2021. The control activities were not designed to allow the Company to timely identify and account for the following aspects of the spin-off transaction (i) changes to stockholders” equity and (ii) the completeness and aceuracy of certain amounts classified in
discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. A lack of sufficient resources and technical capabilities in accounting and finance, coupled with the complexities involved in the spin-off transaction were also contributing factors to the
material weakness. Significant additional procedures were required by the Company to mitigate the risks associated with the material weakness.

Although the control defic:

y did not result in any material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements for the periods presented, there is a reasonable possibility that it could lead to a material misstatement of account balances or disclosures.
Accordingly, management h

concluded that the control deficiency constitutes a material weakness.

To remediate the material weakness, our management is enhancing existing controls and procedures over our accounting for significant unusual transactions. These controls relate to the analysis and disclosures and the accounting for significant unusual transactions,
We plan to enhance our approach and procedures by augmenting internal resources and increasing the deployment of both internal and external subject matter experts to assist our management with the evaluation of our accounting for significant unusual transactions.

‘We believe that these actions will remediate the material weakness. The material weakness will not be considered remediated, however, until the applicable controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these
controls are operating effectively.
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(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

‘This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management's assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an attestation report of the company's registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by rules of
the Securities and Exchange Commission for newly public companies.

(©) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Other than the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting described above, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) which oceurred
during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections
Not applicable.

PART

Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

‘The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information to be set forth in our proxy statement (“2022 Proxy Statement”) for the 2022 annual meeting of stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal
year ended December 31,2021

Item 11. Exccutive Compensation

‘The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information to be set forth in our 2022 Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

‘The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information to be set forth in our 2022 Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Tr ions, and Director

‘The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information to be set forth in our 2022 Proxy Statement.

Item 14, Principal Accounting Fees and Services
‘The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information to be set forth in our 2022 Proxy Statement.
PART IV
Item 15, Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(@) 1. Financial Statements.
The following financial statements are filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
(BDO USA, LLP; Los Angeles, California; PCAOB ID #243)
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Income
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Financial Statement Schedule
The following financial statement schedule is filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
Schedule II-Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Al other schedules are omitted because they are not required or the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K or are incorporated herein by reference as indicated below (numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K). We shall furnish copies of exhibits for a reasonable fee (covering the
expense of furnishing copies) upon request.
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Exhibit Number

43
44
45¢
10.1%

211*
23.1%
3L1*
312%

Description
Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated as of October 7, 2021, by and between Ziff Davis. Inc. and Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc. ( by reference to Ex. 2.1 to Consensus Current
Report on Form 8K filed with the Commission on October 8, 2021, File No. 001-40750).
Amended and Restated Certifieate of ion of Consensus Cloud Solutions, In(i by reference to Ex. 3.1 to Consensus’ Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
October 8, 2021, File No. 001-40750).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc by reference to Ex. 3.2 to Consensus’ Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on October 8, 2021, File No.
001-40750).

2026 Notes Indenture, dated as of October 7, 2021, by and between Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc. Wilmington Trust, National Associate, and the Guarantors named therein. (incorporated by reference to
x. 4.1 to Consensus’ Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on October 8, 2021, File No. 001-40750).
2028 Notes Indenture, dated as of October 7, 2021, by and between Cons
X. 4.1 to Consensus’ Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commis
Form of 2026 Note (included in Exhibit 4.1),
luded in Exhibit

nsus Cloud Solutions, Inc, Wilmington Trust, N:
ion on October 8, 2021, File No. 001-40750).

il Associate, and the Guarantors named the;

ncorporated by reference to

Transition Services Agreement, dated as of October 7, 2021, by and between Ziff Davis, Inc. and Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc. by reference to Ex. 10.1 to Consensus’ Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the Commission on October 8, 2021, File No. 001-40750).

Tax Matters Agreement, dated as of October 7.2021, by_ . Ine. and Consensus Cloud Solutions. Inc. (incorporated by reference to Ex. 10.1 to Consensus’ Current Report on Form 8-K.
filed with the Commission on October 8, 2021, File No. 001-40750).

Employee Matters Agreement, dated as of October 7, 2021, by_and between Ziff Davis, Ine. and Consensus Cloud Solutions, Tnc. by reference to Ex. 10.1 to Consensus’ Current Report on
Form 8K filed with the Commission on October 8, 2021, File No. 001-40750).

Intellectual Property License Agreement, dated as of October 7, 2021, by. Inc. and Consensus Cloud Solutions. Inc. (incorporated by reference to Ex. 10.1 to Consensus’ Current
Report on Form 8K filed with the Commission on October 8, 2021, File No. 00140750)

Slutkhulder and jon Rights Agreement, dated as of October 7, 2021, d between Ziff Davis, Inc. and Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Ex. 10.1 to Consensu
rrent Report on Form 8- K Fled with the Commission on October 8. 3021 Fie K. 001407 50).

(umemus Cloud Solutions, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (i by reference to Ex. 10.1 to Consensus’ Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on October 8, 2021, File No. 001-
40750).
Consensus Cloud Solutions, Ine. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan by reference to Ex. 10.1 to Consensus’ Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on October 8, 2021, File

No. 001-40750).

List of subsidiaries of Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc.
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — BDO USA, LLP
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https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-21-294817.html?hash=5720a147f5cfe55401474baa25606206f2758769e76947a3ea4b88caf9dd2b4e&dest=d141499dex103_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-21-294817.html?hash=5720a147f5cfe55401474baa25606206f2758769e76947a3ea4b88caf9dd2b4e&dest=d141499dex104_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-21-294817.html?hash=5720a147f5cfe55401474baa25606206f2758769e76947a3ea4b88caf9dd2b4e&dest=d141499dex105_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-21-294817.html?hash=5720a147f5cfe55401474baa25606206f2758769e76947a3ea4b88caf9dd2b4e&dest=d141499dex106_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-21-294817.html?hash=5720a147f5cfe55401474baa25606206f2758769e76947a3ea4b88caf9dd2b4e&dest=d141499dex107_htm

32.1%
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rewith

** Furnished herewith

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
Item 16, Form 10-K Summary

None.

Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,

The following financial information from Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting
Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31,2021, 2020 and 2019, (iii)
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and
2019, (v) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on April 15, 2022.

Consensus Cloud Services, Inc.

By: /s/ R. SCOTT TURICCHI

R. Scott Turicchi
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated, in each case on April 15, 2022,

Signature Title

s/ _R.SCOTT TURICCHI

R. Seott Turicchi

s/ _JAMES C. MALONE

James C. Malone

/s/_DOUGLAS Y. BECH

Douglas Y. Bech

/s _ELAINE HEALY

Elaine Healy

s/ _STEPHEN ROSS

Stephen Ross

s/ NATE SIMMONS

Nate Simmons

/s/ _PAMELA SUTTON-WALLACE

Pamela Sutton-Wallace
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Chief Executive Officer and a Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director




SCHEDULE I - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS.

(In thousands)

Additions:

Balance at Charged to Deductions: Balance

Beginning Costs and Write-offs at End
Description of Period Expenses and recoveries of Period
[Vear Ended December 31, 2021:
|Allowance for doubtful accounts 410 s 6168 S (5.535) § 4743
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance 45 s $ s (45)
|Vear Ended December 31, 2020:
|Allowance for doubtful accounts 4220 S 8046 S (8.156) § 4110
[Deferred tax asset valuation allowance 5 s — s — 8 3)
|Year Ended December 31, 2019:
|Allowance for doubtful accounts 4053 s 7925 1.758) $ 4220
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance s s s s s

" Represents specific amounts written off that were considered to be uncollectible.
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EXHIBIT 45

CONSENSUS CLOUD SOLUTIONS, INC.
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES

The following is a summary of the rights of the capital stock of Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc. (“Consensus”) and some of the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, and relevant provisions of
Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL"). The descriptions herein are not complete and qualified in their entirety by our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, copies of which have been filed as exhibits to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K. as well as the relevant provisions of the DGCL.

General

Consensus” authorized capital stock consists of 120,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value S0.01 per share. Consensus’ Board of Directors may establish the rights and preferences of the
preferred stock from time to time.

Common Stock
ach holder of Consensus common stock is entitled to one vote for each share on all matters to be voted upon by the holders of Consensus common stock, and there are no cumulative voting rights. Subject to any preferential rights of any outstanding preferred stock.

holders of Consensus common stock are entitled to receive ratably the cash dividends, if any, as may be declared from time to time by its Board of Directors out of funds legally available for that purpose. I there is a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Consensus,
holders of its common stock would be entitled to ratable distribution of its assets remaining after the payment in full of liabilities and any preferential rights of any then-outstanding preferred stock.

Holders of Consensuscommon stk e o prempiv o convesion ights oroer subsripton ights,andthere st notedempion orsinking fund provisions applieable to he common stck. Al utstanding shares of Consensuscommon stock re fully pid and
non-assessable. The rights, preferences and privileges of the holders of Consensus common stock are subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of shares of any series of preferred stock that Consensus may designate and issue in the future.

Preferred Stock

Under the terms of Consensus’ amended and restated certificate of incorporation, its Board of Directors is authorized, subject to limitations prescribed by the DGCL and by its amended and restated certificate of incorporation, to issue preferred stock in one or more
seies without urhe acton by the holdersof it common sock. Consensu’ Boud of Directors il ave th discrton, subject t liatonsprescribod by the DGCLLand by Consensus’amended and restted corifcate of incorporation, o determine he desiations and
the powers, preferences and rights, and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions, including voting rights, dividend rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and liquidation preferences, of each series of preferred stock. Certain the tax mafters
agreement entered into with J2 Global, Ine. (now Ziff Davis, Inc.) in connection with our separation from J2 Global, Inc., which are intended to preserve the intended tax treatment of the separation and certain related transactions, may prevent certain issuances of our stock
for a period of time following the closing of the transactions.

Anti-Takeover Effects of Various Provisions of Delaware Law and Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws

Certain provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws summarized below may be deemed to have an anti-takeover effect and may delay, deter o prevent a tender offer or takeover attempt that a stockholder
might consider to be in its best interests, including attempts that might result in a premium being paid over the market price for the shares held by stockholders. These provisions are intended to enhance the likelihood of continuity and stability in the composition of our
Board of Directors and in the policies formulated by our Board of Directors and to discourage certain types of transactions that may involve an actual or threatened change of control.

Classified Board. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, until the annual stockholder meeting in 2026, our Board of Directors will be divided into three classes, with each class consisting, as nearly as may be possible, of one-third of the
total number of directors. The directors designated as Class I directors have terms expiring at the first annual meeting of stockholders following the separation, which will be held in 2022, and will be up for re-election at that meeting for a three-year term to expire at the 2025
annual meeting of stockholders; the directors designated as Class I directors have terms expiring at the following year s annual meeting of stockholders, which we expect to hold in 2023, and will be up for re-clection at that meeting for a three-year term to expire at the 2026
annual meeting of stockholders; and the directors designated as Class 11 directors will have terms expiring at the following year's annual meeting of stockholders which we expect to hold in 2024, and will be up for re-election at that meeting for a two-year term to expire at
the 2026 annual meeting of




stockholders. Commencing with the 2023 annual meeting of stockholders, directors elected to succeed those directors whose terms then expire will be elected for a term of office to expire at the 2026 annual meeting. Eegmmng at the 2026 annual meeting, all of our directors
will stand for election each year for annual terms, and our Board will thereafter no longer be divided into three classes. While the Board of Directors is divided into classes, these provisions could discourage a third party from initiating a proxy contest, making a tender offer
or otherwise atiempting to control us.

Removal and Vacancies. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that (i) prior to our Board of Directors being declassified as discussed above, our stockholders may remove directors only for cause and (ii) after our Board of Directors has
been fully declassified, our stockholders may remove directors with or without cause. Removal will require the affirmative vote of holders of at least a majority of our outstanding shares entitled to vote on such removal. Vacancies occurring on the Board of Directors,
whether duc to death, resignation, removal, retirement, disqualification or for any other reason, and newly created dircctorships resulting from an increase in the authorized number of directors, shall be filled solely by a majority of the remaining members of the Board of
Directors or by a sole remaining director.

Blank Check Preferred Stock. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes our Board to designate and issue, without any further vote or action by the <mck||nld:m up 10 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock from time to time in one or more
series and, with respect to each such series, to fix the number of shares constituting the series and the designation of the series, the voting powers (if any) of the shares of the series, and the preferences and relative, participating, optional and other rights, if any, and any
ualfcations, Himitationsor resscions, of th sharcs o such srics. The abily o ssué s prefered stock could discourage potentil acduisition roposas ind could delay o prevent a change i contrl

No Stockholder Action by Written Consent. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation expressly excludes the right of our stockholders to act by written consent. Stockholder action must take place at an annual meeting or at a special meeting of our
stockholders.

Stackholder ABily to Call Special Meetngs of Stackholders. Our amended snd esatd bylavs provid tat th Chairan ofth Board, fan,the Vi Chiran of the Bord, ifany. the Cef Excutive Offcer o the Bourd of Directors shal be bl to call a
special meeting of stockholders, and also provides that a special meeting of stockholders may also be called by our Corporate Secretary upon the written request of stockholders who together own of record a majority of the outstanding shares of each class of stock entitled to
ote at such meting, Such request miust b i proper writin form. setfing forth crtain information, 2 reqired by our amanded and restaed bylaws. and signed by cach sockhelder, o a duy autherized agent of uch stockholder, requesting he specil megtng.

Requirements for Advance Notification of Stockholder Nominations and Proposals. Our amended and restated bylaws require stockholders seeking to nominate persons for election as directors at an annual or special meeting of stockholders, or to bring other
business before an annual or special meeting (other than a proposal submitted under Rule 14a-8 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)), to provide timely notice in writing. A stockholder’s notice to our Corporate Secretary must be in
proper written form and must set forth certain information, as required under our amended and restated bylaws, related to the stockholder giving the notice, the beneficial owner (if any) on whose behalf the nomination is made as well as their control persons and information
about the proposal or nominee for election to the Board of Directors.

Exelusive Forum. Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive forum for (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of Consensus, (b) any action asserting
a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former direetor, officer or other employee, agent or stockholder of Consensus to Consensus or its stockholders, (c) any action asserting a claim against Consensus or any current or former dircetor, officer or other
employee of Consensus arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or bylaws o as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or (d) any action asserting a claim
against Consensus or any current or former director, officer or other employee of Consensus governed by the internal affairs doctrine shall, in each case to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or if such court does not have
subject matter jurisdiction, a the federal district court for the District of Delaware. Furthermore, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of
any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act or the rules or regulations thereunder. Our exclusive forum provision does not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder,
and imvetors cannot waive complance it the fdera scurites s and the rles and regulations thereunder. It s possbe hat a cout coud fnd oue exclsie forum provision 0 b inpplicable or unenforceabe. Athough we beleve this provision bnfisus by
providing increased consistency in the application of law in the types of lawsuits to which it applics, the provision may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors and offices

Business Combinations with Interested Stockholder. We are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL, which, subject to certain exceptions, prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any business combination with any interested stockholder for a period of
three years following the date that such stockholder became an interested stockholder.



Limitations on Liability, Indemnification of Officers and Directors and Insurance

Our amended and restated byl generally provide indemnifetion and advancement of expensesfor our dirctrs and offers tothe fullst extent permited by the DGCL In dditon, s permited by Delaware aw, ou amended and restated cerifcte of
incorporaton inludes  provision tht climinats he persoal sty of ur discors for moncary damages from breaches of certain fiduciary duties irector. The effect of n is to restrict our rights and the rights of our stockholders in derivative
it 1 recover monetary damages againt  dirstor for breach of iduciay dutiesas a direetor, excapt that under Delaware I e may not eliminate the personal liability of a director for:

any breach of his duty of loyalty to us or our stockholders;
acts or omissions not in good faith, or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;

unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions as provided in Section 174 of the DGCL; or
any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit; or improper distributions to stockholders.



List of Subsidiaries of
Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc.

Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc.'s principal affiliates as of December 31, 2021, are listed below. All other affiliates, if considered in the aggregate as a single affiliate, would not constitute a significant subsidiary.

Name

Catch Curve, Inc.

Dotcom Limited

12 Cloud Services, LLC

12 Global ANZ Limited

Consensus Cloud Solutions Canada ULC
Consensus Cloud Solutions International Limited
j2 Global Japan Y.K.

12 Global (Netherlands) B.V.

MetroFax, Inc.

Protus IP Solutions (Europe) Limited
RTE Network Services EURL

Delaware, United States
Hong Kong

Delaware, United States
Ireland

Canada

Japan

Netherlands

‘Washington, United States
Ireland

France

State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation

EXHIBIT21.1



EXHIBIT23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Consensus Cloud Solut
Los Angeles, California

. Inc

‘We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-260130) of Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc. of our report dated April 15, 2022, relating to the consolidated financial statements, which appears in this Form 10-

/s/ BDO USA, LLP
Los Angeles, California

April 15, 2022



L R. Scott Tus

Dated:

EXHIBIT31.1

RTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

i, certify that:

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

‘The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(c) and 15d-15(c)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(0) for the registrant and have:

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subs made known

10 us by others within those entties, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

aries,

(b)  Designed such interal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(©  Evaluated the of the registrant’s disclos s and proced: d presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(@ Disclosed in this report any change in the registran’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

‘The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent

functions):

(@ Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affeet the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and
(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ R. SCOTT TURICCHI
Vivek Shah

April 15,2022 Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Exccutive Officer)




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, James C. Malone, certify that:

1 I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc.;

2 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(c)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@ Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
10 us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for exteral purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(@) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrants other certfying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitice of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(@ Al significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affeet the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and
(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

's/ JAMES C. MALONE
James C. Malone
Dated: April 15,2022 Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

ission on the date hereof (the “Report”), R. Scott Turicehi, as Chief Executive

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2021 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Com:
Officer (Principal Executive Officer) of the Company, and James C. Malone, as Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the

best of his knowledge, respectively, that:

) ‘The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

‘The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: April 15,2022 By: s/ R. SCOTT TURICCHI
R. Scott Turicchi

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: April 15,2022 By: /s JAMES C. MALONE
James C. Malone

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Asigned original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to Consensus Cloud Solutions, and will be retained by Consensus Cloud Solutions, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its

staff upon request.



